Cultural Heritage and Contemporary Change Series IIID, Southeast Asian Philosophical Studies, Volume 8

Practical Issues and Social Philosophy in Vietnam Today

by Pham Van Duc

The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy

Copyright © 2018 by The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy

Gibbons Hall B-20 620 Michigan Avenue, NE Washington, D.C. 20064

All rights reserved

Printed in the United States of America

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication

Names: Pham, Van Duc, author.

Title: Practical issues and social philosophy in Vietnam today / Van

Duc Pham.

 $\label{eq:Description: Washington, DC: Council for Research in Values and \\$

Philosophy, 2018. | Series: Cultural heritage and contemporary change.

Series IIID, South East Asia ; Volume 7 \mid Includes bibliographical references

and index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2018014721 | ISBN 9781565183346 (pbk. : alk. paper) Subjects: LCSH: Philosophy, Vietnamese. | Social sciences--Vietnam--

Philosophy.

Classification: LCC B5195 .P43 2018 | DDC 181/.19597--dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2018014721

Table of Contents

Preface John A. Kromkowski	V
Part I. A Philosophical Perspective on the Reality of the So Development in Vietnam	ocial
1. Reflections on Philosophical Research in Vietnam in the Present Globalizing Epoch	3
2. Teaching Philosophy in Vietnam: Achievements and Problems	19
3. Marx's Materialistic Understanding of History and Its Epochal Significance	31
4. The Concept of Good Society: A Perspective from Vietnam	43
5. On the Sustainability of Social Development in Vietnam	63
Part II. Development in Vietnam: Some Socio-Political Issues	
6. Socialist Model: Some Theoretical and Practical Issues	75
7. Socialist Model in Vietnam: Some Concerned Issues	81
8. The Relationship between the Market Economy and Socialism from the Perspective of the Dialectics of the Evolution of History and Some Characteristics of the Socialist-Oriented Market Economy in Vietnam	89
9. The Development of Science and Technology as the Key for Realizing the Fast and Sustainable Development Strategy in Vietnam Today	103

iv Table of Contents

10. Human Development within Vietnam's Strategy of Sustainable Development	115
Part III. Development in Vietnam: Some Socio-Economic Issue	s
11. The Views of Some Economic Theories on the Economic Crisis of Capitalism and Some Lessons for Vietnam	127
12. The Policy on Agricultural Land and Its Impact on Agricultural Production and Peasant's Life in Vietnam Today	133
13. The Role of Human Resources in the Process of Industrialization and Modernization in Vietnam Today	145
14. Corporate Social Responsibility in Vietnam: Some Pressing Theoretical and Practical Issues	155
Part IV. Development in Vietnam: Some Socio-Cultural Issues	
15. Business Ethics: Some Theoretical and Practical Issues in Vietnam	169
16. Social Solidarity as the Foundation for Realization of Democracy in Vietnam	179
17. Promotion of Traditional Cultural Values in the Context of Globalization	195
About the Author Index	207 211

Preface

JOHN A KROMKOWSKI

The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy (RVP) is pleased to add this study, *Practical Issues and Social Philosophy in Vietnam Today* by Pham Van Duc, Vice-President of Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences (VASS), to its publication series of research findings that focuses on cultural traditions, values, and heritage and their role in contemporary change and development.

The theme of practical issues and social philosophy in Vietnam is an important contribution to the studies that comprise the RVP publication series entitled "Cultural Heritage and Contemporary Change." The volumes are not merely accounts or discussions of current issues and crises of the moment, but probes of contemporary affairs in order to reach toward what is both essential and particular to cultural change. This publication series addresses the urgently pressing questions of fundamental values embedded in choices and activities that drive cultural development and shape the meaning of and consequences for societies in our time of intensive global development. From such an angle of observation this publication series engages the search for understanding of underlying problems that have caused the crises of our times. This approach is designed to promote the process of articulating new, specifically applicable directions of change, to foster deeper attention to the particularity of fundamental, underlying issues.

In this study Prof. Pham Van Duc focuses on social development in Vietnam, specifically on human development within the Vietnamese strategy of fast but sustainable development. The author explicates the aims and driving force of socio-economic development held by both the Communist Party and the Government of Vietnam.

"We can say that in Vietnam today, sustainable development aims for no other target than human development, improvement of the quality of human life; in its turn, human development serves as the basis and most solid foundation for the implementation of sustainable development. This is the dialectics of development in modern society."

This account of the Vietnamese reality has four interconnected dimensions or aspects that express the meaning and substance of Vietnam today: 1) philosophical perspectives, especially the Vietnamese concept of a good society; 2) explications of models of the market economy and Vietnamese socialism related to human development, science and technology and sustainable strategies of socio-political developments; 3) interpretations of socio-economic theories of crises and development, eg., China's harmonious society model and the Vietnam's strategy of sustainability, social responsibility, land and agricultural policy; and 4) elaborations of socio-cultural developments related to business ethics, social solidarity and the promotion of traditional cultural values. The outcome is to provide access to the Vietnamese consciousness and the concrete issues Vietnam faces today.

As a professional philosopher, Pham Van Duc pays particular attention to social philosophy, especially the practical issues raised in the current development of Vietnam. Since 'The Cause of National Comprehensive Renovation' initiated in 1986, Vietnam has been gradually perfecting its own socialist model. The overall goal of that model is to build a Vietnam with "wealthy people, strong, democratic, [and a] just and civilized country." Or as Ho Chi Minh stated briefly and plainly "socialism first of all is to liberate the working people from poverty, bring employment, welfare and happiness to the people."

Pham Van Duc's research on social development in Vietnam expresses the close the relationship between socialism and human development in Vietnam within the 'Strategy of Fast and Sustainable Development.' As he points out the standpoint of the Communist Party of Vietnam and the Government of Vietnam is that the rapid and sustainable development should be implemented steadfastly, especially in respect to human development. Human beings have been elevated into the central position, both as the aim and the driving force of the socio-economic development of Vietnam.

¹ Ho Chi Minh, *The Complete Works* (Hanoi: National Political Publishing House, 1995), Vol 8, p.411.

This volume, *Practical Issues and Social Philosophy in Vietnam Today*, can be read in conjunction with other three RVP publications on the philosophic tradition of Vietnam: *Reason, Rationality and Reasonableness* by Tran Van Doan (2001), *The History of Buddhism in Vietnam* Chief editor: Nguyen Tai Thu; Authors: Dinh Minh Chi, Ly Kim Hoa, Ha Thuc Minh, Ha Van Tan, Nguyen Tai Thu (2009) and *Rethinking the Role of Philosophy in the Global Age*, edited by William Sweet and Pham Van Duc (2009). Two other volumes are also recommended: *Cultural Traditions and Contemporary Challenges* edited by Warayuth Sriwarakuel, Manuel B. Dy, J. Haryatomoko, Nguyen Trong Chuan and Chhay Yiheang (2005) and *Hermeneutics for a Global Age: Lectures in Shanghai and Hanoi* by George F. McLean (2004).

Part I A Philosophical Perspective on the Reality of the Social Development in Vietnam

Reflections on Philosophical Research in Vietnam in the Present Globalizing Epoch

Over the last three decades, comprehensive renovation in Vietnam, has brought about various significant and historic achievements. During the period, the number of scholars engaged in research and teaching has increased and both the quantity and quality of philosophy in Vietnam has grown considerably. Many research themes, which have been either ordered or financially supported by the Party and the Government, have been directed towards strategic problems of the development of our country or fundamental problems of philosophy. Looking back to that period, the Vietnamese philosophers ask themselves: What have been their main achievements? and What problems should they focus on in order to strengthen their role in the context of the ongoing globalization?

Major Achievements and Problems for Philosophical Research in Vietnam

The impact of renovation can be seen both in teaching as well as in research in philosophy. Since 1986 the number of published works in all fields of philosophy has increased rapidly. The scope of philosophical research has become more and more diversified: from the history of philosophy to logics, ethics, aesthetics, philosophy of culture, philosophy of science and technology, environmental philosophy, and from ancient philosophy to modern philosophy, from Marxist philosophy to Non-Marxist philosophy, from the major thinkers to the main tendencies in philosophy. There are three causes for such diversity: Firstly, since 1986 Vietnam has launched its Renewal Project (Doi Moi), in which the renovation of thinking has been considered a vital factor. During the process of renovation more and more attention from the Government has been given to theoretical activity in general and philosophical research in particular. Secondly, people engaging in philosophical activities have become more and more mature, many of them have successfully defended their M.A. and Ph.D. dissertations, and some have been awarded professorships. *Thirdly*, in the context of the policy of openness and international economic integration, interactions, exchanges and cooperation in the area of teaching and researching philosophy between Vietnamese scholars and institutions and their counterparts abroad have been established and continuously expanded. Many Vietnamese scholars have participated in various international conferences or received different kinds of scholarships to study abroad. A great number of international scholars have attended conferences or delivered lectures on specific subjects or themes limitedly accessible to scholars in Vietnam.

However, what is noteworthy here, are the ways of doing research and the contributions of our philosophy to the cause of our comprehensive renovation. Prior to 1986 philosophical research in Vietnam had focused mainly on commentaries and propaganda of the Party's policy.

After 1986, along with that task, many philosophical research projects have made valuable suggestions for mapping out and planning the policy for the socio-economic development of the country. For example, in the area of social philosophy many scholars have contributed to the defense of arguments on the decisive role of productive forces in relation to production relations, not the other way round: production relations should be developed in advance in order to pave the way for productive forces to be developed; on the role of multisector, multi-ownership, and socialist-oriented market economy; on the role of human resources and driving forces in general in the process of promotion of social development, especially the role of interests, especially economic interests; on the need of combination of economic growth with social progress and justice in every step of development; on affirmation that culture is the driving force and spiritual foundation for social development etc.. Those arguments have been included in the Party official documents and their correctness has been verified in practice.

Similarly, the problem of democracy in society and the building of a society truly governed by the people, which has been a very sensitive and important problem and has been often mentioned by President Ho Chi Minh² as well as in many philosophical works, has been recognized by the Party and consequently included in the documents of the Party Congresses.

In the course of a comprehensive renovation of our country, including a renovation of thinking, attention has been paid more to researching and teaching non-Marxist philosophy simultaneously with a reconsideration and renewal of the methods of teaching Marxist philosophy. In the past tendencies of non-Marxist philosophy were introduced rarely or mainly for critical purposes. However, since the beginning of the Renovation, in the spirit expressing in a respectful attitude towards all different cultures including philosophical cultures, research on Western philosophy has been oriented not only to criticizing but also to discovering the positive and strong points as well as the real values of non-Marxist philosophical trends and doctrines, especially those of modern Western philosophy.³

Vietnam has steadily built up its professional philosophers engaging in research and teaching of non-Marxist philosophy and many of them have graduated from Western universities and colleges.

Together with researching and teaching Marxist and non-Marxist philosophy, research and teaching of the history of Vietnamese thought have been carried out. The course aims at introducing students to outstanding thoughts of our forebears mainly in the areas of politics, ethics and philosophy. In recent years with the support of the Government the Institute of Philosophy has focused its researches on the history of Vietnamese thought from the period of formation of the nation to the present time. As a result, two volumes have been published. Since 2002 the Institute of Philosophy has concentrated on history of Vietnamese philosophical thought. The authors of the work have completed their draft of the first volume, which has been submitted to a publisher, and continued to work on the second volume. Upon its completion the history of Vietnamese philosophical thought

² Nguyen Trong Chuan, "Retrospective on 55 Years of Researching and Teaching Philosophy in Our Country," in *A Half Century of Researching and Teaching Philosophy in Vietnam*. Edited by Nguyen Trong Chuan (Hanoi: Institute of Philosophy, 2001), p. 23 (in Vietnamese).

³ Nguyen Hao Hai, "The Situation of the Research on Non-Marxist Philosophy (Modern Western Bourgeois Philosophy) in the Last 55 Years," p. 583.

will become a very valuable and useful document for teaching of history of Vietnamese philosophy.

However, we should admit that our research on philosophy has not yet met the demands raised by the practice of our life; many pressing problems of the country's development and its management require answers from philosophers. There have been only a few valuable works researching philosophical problems originating from our practice. Works reflecting the real rhythm of the life have not been as expected both qualitatively and quantitatively. Many research projects, for lack of data collected from practical surveys, have little practical value and exert only modest impact on social practices as well as on the activity of planning policy and providing guidelines for the Party and Government. In quantitative terms, for almost 20 years people engaging in researching and teaching philosophy in our country have produced great number of publications but among them there hardly has been a remarkable work on our society, not to mention on the region or the world, bearing the clear imprint of Vietnamese philosophy.

The Role and Main Research Orientations of Philosophical Research in Vietnam in the Context of Globalization

Philosophy in Vietnam is defined as a system of the most universal points of view on the world and the place of man in this world.⁴ Philosophy often plays a key role in one's worldview and methodology; it is identical with the nuclear of worldview, but not with worldview on the whole. The role of philosophy is to provide man with an interpretation of the world and his place in it. Therefore, philosophy gives us a generalized view on the world and especially on society. Like other theoretical disciplines, philosophy not only performs the function of interpreting the problems of the world in general and of human society in particular; but on the basis of its interpretations orients humans in their actions. Therefore, a good philosophy will

⁴ "National Council for Directing the Compiling of National Textbooks for the Subjects of Marxism-Leninism and Ho Chi Minh's Thoughts," *The Textbooks of Marxism-Leninism* (renewed and revised edition) (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2004), p. 23 (in Vietnamese).

help people act rightly. The history of the development of science has shown that every scientist is implicitly or explicitly under the influence of a certain philosophical worldview or system of certain philosophical views. Based on their correct philosophical views, many scientists have been able to make ingenious forecasts, which have been verified by latter generations. It is difficult to fully specify the worldview and methodological role of philosophy in human social practices. History has shown that many philosophical systems have played the role of a worldview and methodology for revolutions and laid solid foundations for human actions. From the experience of history and practice we can see that philosophy plays an important role in the context of globalization. With a correct philosophical system, a nation will be able to choose for itself a wise course of action and discover the right orientation in order to make use of opportunities and overcome challenges brought by globalization.

The question is: What problems should philosophy focus in order to successfully carry out its worldview and methodological role in the present context? For example, the theme of the 21st World Congress of Philosophy in August 2003 in Istanbul, Turkey, which was philosophy facing world problems, means that the development of the world has brought about many problems, the solutions to which require the joint effort of nation-states worldwide. Philosophy cannot ignore those problems.

First of all, it should state clearly that we all live in a context of globalization. Philosophy faces globalization as a general and necessary tendency, as well as world problems brought about or deepened by globalization. Therefore, the task of philosophy is to contribute to a full awareness of globalization and the problems it has brought.

There have been different views on globalization. Globalization is often known first of all as economic globalization. In these terms, globalization is understood as a gradual growth with an ever-wider expansion of the scope of productive forces transcending the national borders and interdependence of various nation-states in their economic activities. From the perspective of the most important features of present economic relations, economic globalization is known as an expansion of the capitalistic mode of production determined by the USA and other developed capitalistic nations.

Researchers on globalization have worked out various interpretations of the causes and characteristics of globalization, especially that from 1990s to the present. But generally speaking the main features of the interpretations can be stated as follows: *first*, present globalization is closely linked to a knowledge-based economy, especially information technology; *second*, it has created a new world economy and international relations among a diversified series of subjects, *third*, the present globalization has established close economic relationships among various nations through a system of markets and market eco-

nomy, *fourth*, capitalistic nations play decisive role in the present process of globalization. This can be seen from the fact that Western capitalistic countries with their powerful competitive ability have created transnational and supranational corporations. At the same time, they have striven to broaden and expand uninterruptedly their

capitalistic mode of production to all the countries worldwide.

What should be emphasized more is that the concerns of philosophy are not limited to the causes and characteristics of the present process of globalization, but also include its positive and negative relationships, its advantages and disadvantages. Theoretically speaking, contemporary globalization has brought about certain advantages, which can briefly be stated as follows: *firstly*, it optimizes the ability to allocate resources through global means; *secondly*, it creates the capability of facilitating objective economic rules in a global space; *thirdly*, it accelerates and promotes rapid rational adjustments of the industrial structure through global instrumentality; and *finally*, globalization has made it possible to resolve some common problems, which human beings have encountered during the process of economic globalization and social development. Along with these opportunities globalization has also posed very big and serious challenges to people and nations worldwide, especially to the developing nations.

From the social perspective, the demands of the global economy have brought about enormous changes in labor and in the life-style of peoples of all nation-states worldwide. In the present context of the development of the world economy, every country faces such common and very disturbing problems in the development of its national economy, as ecological and environmental pollution, the depletion of natural resources, issues of population and public health, the gap

between rich and poor, social vices and transnational crimes etc. In short, the very process of globalization accelerates strongly and rapidly the impact of the global problems of our age on all nations worldwide. Nowadays, hardly any nation can ignore the quick and broad spread of such pandemics like SARS, bird influenza, or terrorism, and international crimes. If every country in the world, especially the developed countries, are fully aware of the above-mentioned problems and have positive and effective measures to deal with them in the context of economic globalization, then social and economic development will become more comprehensive, harmonic and stable.

From the political perspective, people often mention the serious challenges globalization poses to *national sovereignty* through the impact of the economy on politics. The rate of economic integration will lead to political integration. Following that logic, people discuss the weakening of the nation-state model. In the context of present globalization, people often talk more about interdependence among nation-states, rather than their full independence.

In the context of globalization there is no entirely independent country completely isolated from the world. The danger is that some countries intend to take advantage of globalization to achieve hegemony. These countries exploit some situations to wage war against other weaker nations. The motivation behind such actions is economic interest. The act of waging aggressive war is an obvious violation of the national sovereignty of a nation and disregards international law. The American war against Iraq can serve as a typical illustration for that point. In recent years, facing serious violations of international laws and national sovereignty many philosophers have raised their voice to ask the United Nations to be more resolute in the protection the Charter of the United Nations and international conventions. Many philosophers want the United Nations to guarantee justice and fairness in the present context of globalization. Although the United Nations has not yet fully executed that role, many people assume that its existence is necessary in the present conditions, but the problem is

that the United Nations needs renovation.⁵ Hence, philosophers do not avoid the pressing problems raised by the contemporary world.

Economic globalization is the most important aspect of the process of globalization. Economic globalization impacts strongly on the political field. In turn, political changes exert influence back upon the economy. Philosophical research should focus on the impact of economic and political changes in culture in the context of globalization.

Many scholars, in the course of globalization, have pointed out a tendency to unify all cultures. All developed countries want to impose their cultural values upon every other country in the world. Through globalization some developed Western countries claim that non-Western cultures are not well adapted to or even contradict Western cultures and civilizations. They want the rest of the world not only to succumb economically, politically and militarily to them but also maximally to limit the specific characteristics of non-Western cultures. Huntington's view on the clash of civilizations shows that there cannot be any peace in the present world due to the existence of the clash among civilizations in the conditions of globalization. The West wants to fight for their interests until victory, or, in other words, to force the non-Western world to yield completely.⁶

Even in the field of philosophy Asian people engaged in teaching and research face a similar situation. Almost every Asian country has undergone Western colonial rule. The latter has not only exploited the natural resources of the colonized countries, but also broken the ties of local people to their cultural, intellectual and spiritual heritages; in other words, the sources from which their identity have been created. Most Asian countries, after being liberated from colonial domination and gaining their political independence, have actively mapped out their own plan to develop their economy under the ideological mask of "modernization," which in fact is "Westernization" and "Capitalization." After the collapse of socialism in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe, there has been no counterpoise to the capitalistic super-powers, which allowed them to expand their global strategy. Asian

⁵ Peter Singer, *Human Right, the State and International Order* (Vietnamese translation is available in *Review of Philosophy*, 2003, N°.11).

⁶ Bjaznova, "Globalization and National Values," Research Materials of the Institute of Social Sciences Information, 2005, TN.2005-37, p.7.

countries were lured into the process of globalization. The advantages of Western culture in Asia can also be seen in the field of philosophy.⁷

In practical terms no one can deny that globalization is a necessary process, which has created opportunities for countries with a developing economy to integrate into the world economy in order to accelerate their economic growth and technological renovation. However, it should be emphasized that the opportunities brought about by globalization among different countries and nations are not the same. Generally, more opportunities are given to the more economically developed and richer countries than poor countries. Globalization brings more challenges than chances to poor and developing countries. As Kofi Annan, the former United Nations General Secretary, claims "Globalization has brought us closer together in the sense that we are all affected by each other's actions, but not in the sense that we all share the benefits and the burdens. Instead, we have allowed it to drive us further apart, increasing the disparities in wealth and power both between societies and within them."

As a developing country, apart from great advantages and opportunities, Vietnam also faces considerable challenges in the context of globalization and economic integration. Recently many Vietnamese leaders have pointed out very serious economic, as well as social, political and especially cultural, challenges. What should Vietnamese philosophy do in order to take full advantages and overcome the challenges brought about by globalization in the present international and national context?

Firstly, if international philosophers are focusing research on problems caused by globalization, Vietnamese philosophers should orient their research on the practical problems raised by the cause of building and developing our country in the context of globalization and international economic integration. Vietnam is in the process of continuing its renovation in the context of globalization and international economic integration. Therefore, the problems raised by the

⁷ This was the problem raised in an International Conference "Teaching Philosophy in the Asian Context," which was held in Manila, the Philippines, February, 2004.

⁸ Kofi Annan, "Do We still Have Universal Values?" *Research Materials of the Institute of Social Sciences Information*, 2005, TN.2005-36.

development of Vietnam will be closely linked to regional and international problems from which it cannot be detached in the present context. As an independent country, Vietnam will have to deal with its own problems during its development. On the other hand, world or global problems themselves have different manifestations in various countries. The specific manifestations are determined by local historical conditions. Therefore, despite having common features of world problems, these will also have Vietnamese characteristics. Therefore, there exists a dialectical unity between the universal and the particular in the practical problems faced by philosophers in every country. The main task of philosophy is to research that relationship.

This also means that philosophers must contribute to a philosophy of development for their nation and in the context of globalization and international integration, answer such questions as what is a philosophy of development of their nation? and how to choose the optimal way of development in order for a nation to take full advantages of the opportunities and overcome the challenges brought about by globalization?

History has shown that by taking advantage of the opportunities many underdeveloped countries have been able to shorten their development period and catch up with developed countries. The underdeveloped countries can acquire capital, technology and skills from developed countries to accomplish an abridged development, thereby "reducing suffering." This is an advantage for late-developing countries or the "post-development advantage."

For example, the four so-called "Asian Tigers," which have developed later than such countries like the USA and Germany, have made gigantic progress. They have caught up with and even overtaken such capitalistic countries with a long development as England, France and other western capitalistic nations.

We would add that the distinction between a philosophy of development and philosophizing on development remains relative. The former seems to be on a higher level of generalization than the latter. To develop philosophizing on development is the task not only for people engaged in research and teaching of philosophy, but also for every branch and science. In the thousands-year history of existence and development, our forebears have constantly reviewed and

summarized their philosophizing, which has focused on the relations between humans and the nature, between man and man. In the struggles against foreign aggressors our forebears have generalized strategic guidelines into profound philosophical thoughts, such as philosophizing of all-people totality, quick-fight-and-quick-win or steady-fight-and-steady-win philosophizing, etc. At present, big enterprises also want to implement certain business philosophies. Successful business is closely related to its specific philosophizing. Similarly, every branch, in every period of its development, should work out its particular philosophizing of development.

However, philosophy is on a higher-level generalization than philosophizing. Philosophy is a system of theoretical views on social development in general or on a certain sphere of human action. The task of building such a system is assigned first of all to people engaged in the research and teaching of philosophy.

Secondly, apart from the tasks of reflecting upon and researching problems raised by the practice of development in the world and Vietnam, philosophy has its own logic. No system of philosophy or philosophical view has begun from scratch. On the contrary, philosophy has always been inherited from previous philosophical views and systems, which have served as its premises and ideological materials. Therefore, one of the important tasks for Vietnamese philosophers is to research the philosophical thought of Vietnam. A satisfactory answer to the question about the existence of Vietnamese philosophy has not yet been found. There has never been a philosophy in Vietnam if philosophy is understood as a rigor system of views and categories such as is commonly accepted in the West. However, if philosophy is understood as wisdom or the love to wisdom, as deeply philosophical thoughts directing or orienting human actions, there is no reason to deny the existence of philosophy in Vietnam, a nation with thousands of years of existence and development. The task of Vietnamese philosophers is to reveal and investigate the philosophical thoughts of our nation. In doing so they have not only to reconstruct the philosophical thought and explain the foundations for their formation and development; more importantly, they must find their significance for the present life of our nation and clarify their possible contributions to the

Vietnamese people and their country. Only then can we see clearly which thoughts should be preserved and further developed.

In addition, as mentioned above, the greatest threats and challenges for developing countries are the concerns about losing national identity in the present globalization process. Research on the values of national culture, including those of philosophical culture is of the utmost importance in order to preserve and promote national identity.

Thirdly, one of the no less important tasks for people engaging in research and teaching of philosophy in Vietnam is to investigate the trends and ideas of preeminent world philosophers, both in the East as well as in the West. Due to difficulties in material conditions and the limitations those engaged in teaching and research in philosophy, we concentrate our research primarily on the philosophical tendencies, views and thoughts, which have more influence on Vietnam and can theoretically and methodologically contribute to solution of the problems raised by its development.

First of all, we should focus on rethinking, the proper understanding and developing the basic principles of Marxism-Leninism in the present context of globalization. Within the history of the Vietnamese revolution, the philosophy of Marxism-Leninism has been regarded as the ideological foundation and guideline for the socialist-oriented development of Vietnam. At the present time, those engaged in research and teaching of Marxist-Leninist philosophy constitute the largest majority among our philosophers. However, the Marxist-Leninist philosophy was formed as a result of the generalization of the historical practice of last decades of the 19th Century and the beginning of the 20th Century. Therefore, apart from the theoretical points, which have still preserved their value for orienting our present practical actions, there also exist some points, which are not appropriate for new historical conditions.

The practice of 30 years has shown that the persistence of Marxism-Leninism does not mean implementing it wholly and mechanically, but rather scientifically and creatively in new historical conditions. The success of the cause of renovation in Vietnam has demonstrated that point. Therefore, the rethinking and proper understanding and development of the basic principles of Marxist-Leninist

philosophy is of utmost importance in terms of theoretical and pressing practical significance.

In coming years, our task is to research and clarify (all) the theoretical points in the system of the views of Karl Marx, Friedrich Engels and Vladimir Lenin, which are still correct and preserve their full value as the theoretical foundation and guideline for practical action, and those, which need to be amended and developed further in order to be suitable for new conditions of the age. Simultaneously we also need to specify clearly the theoretical points, which were appropriate in the past, but have been overcome by our practice and are not applicable in the new conditions.

Beside the rethinking and proper understanding and development of the basic principles of Marxist-Leninist philosophy, we also need to continue to concentrate on researching the tendencies of non-Marxist philosophy. Since the beginning of the renovation there have been more attention and new approaches to research on the tendencies of non-Marxist philosophy. However, what has been achieved in this area is still modest.

The challenge our philosophers face in research on non-Marxist philosophy is that only a few scholars have special training in those areas. Most of the literature and resources on the subject are in foreign languages while not so many people can make fluent use of foreign languages in their research. In recent years some research materials in the area of non-Marxist philosophy have been translated into Vietnamese. However, there have been not so many Vietnamese translations of masterpieces of world-famous philosophers.

In the future we must actively train the army of scholars specializing in non-Marxist philosophy or if possible, in particular thinkers. For the time being, due to the shortage of research materials and the limited proficiency of our scholars and teachers in foreign languages, it is of utmost necessity to continue to invest in translating some typical works of outstanding philosophers of the various philosophical schools.

Upon introduction into other countries many foreign doctrines have undergone some variations and modified expressions caused by the specific economic, political, social and cultural conditions of the natives. Thanks to that kind of variation and modification, foreign and imported philosophical doctrines have been able to survive in native countries. In spite of the fact that Confucianism has been born in China, Confucian scholars have striven to find out similarities and differences between Chinese, Japanese, Korean and Vietnamese Confucianism. In addition, there exist different views on the impact of Confucianism on modern society. While many scholars claim the great contributions, Confucianism has made to the growth and modernization of the Asian tigers, some others still insist that for modernization it is necessary to renounce Confucianism. The real role of Confucianism remains a topic for further investigations.

Similarly, in its long history Vietnam has been under the influence of various cultures. During the acculturation of different cultures including philosophical cultures, foreign philosophical views themselves have undergone some variations in order to be adaptable to the conditions of Vietnam. We can say that not only such doctrines as Confucianism, Buddhism, Taoism, which have exerted much influence in Vietnam, or Existentialism and Pragmatism, which have been influential in southern Vietnam under the former Saigon regime, but even Marxist-Leninist philosophy, all have undergone variations and been differently impacted in different periods in our history. Our main task is to investigate and clarify their manifestations and values.

Vietnamese philosophers engaging in researching and teaching philosophy in Vietnam are fully aware of the truth that "a nation that wants to climb the pinnacles of science cannot possibly manage without theoretical thought." "But theoretical thinking is an innate quality only as regards natural capacity. This natural capacity must be developed, improved, and for its improvement there is as yet no other means than the study of previous philosophy."

In the present age of globalization, learning different cultures is necessary to enrich one's own national culture. At the same time, in order to develop every nation must preserve and promote its national cultural identity, including its philosophical culture.

However, in our opinion, regardless of their specific research area and nature (practical problems or world problems or the history of

⁹ Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels, *The Complete Works* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 1994), Vol. 20, pp. 487, 489.

philosophical thoughts in Vietnam or Eastern, Western philosophies etc.), the ultimate point of philosophical research in Vietnam is to develop the country and the people of Vietnam as well as to enhance the thinking abilities of the Vietnamese. For the ultimate goal of all development and progress is human development, progress and happiness in order to help humans achieve the True, the Good and the Beautiful. This is also the goal for which research and teaching in philosophy in Vietnam strives.

Teaching Philosophy in Vietnam: Achievements and Problems

In the history of Vietnam, the August Revolution in 1945 was a milestone signifying the birth of the Democratic Republic of Vietnam, the first ever state representing the union between workers and peasants in South East Asia. Since then the research and propagation of philosophical thoughts have been constantly among the most important tasks of philosophers in Vietnam.

Within the history of a nation or any science, we could not say that 70 years is a long period. However, that duration was full of important events for the Vietnamese philosophy. As a result of establishment of the Democratic Republic regime in Vietnam, philosophers were officially given a chance to form their own institution to research and propagate systematically thousand-year cultural quintessence of human kind presented in different philosophical systems as well as tested and valued masterpieces of human thoughts worldwide.¹⁰

At present there are about 4000 scholars nationwide engaging in researching and teaching philosophy as their principal occupation. Besides the bodies specialized in researching and training the professional philosophers such as the Institute of Philosophy, the Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences (VASS), Departments of philosophy in Ho Chi Minh's National Political Academy and the National Universities there are also various units undertaking philosophical teaching in all establishments of the national education network ranging from high school to university. In other words, philosophy has been a compulsory course for students in all those educational institutions. Moreover, some thoughts of world famous philosophers have been taught in the subject of civic education in high school in Vietnam. In our country the teaching of philosophy has been given enough attention. It is our policy that philosophy is considered as a science aiming at providing world outlook and methodology for

¹⁰ Nguyen Trong Chuan, "A Retrospection into 55 Years of Researching and Teaching Philosophy in Our Country," p. 23.

scientists as well as people engaging in management of practical activities. The number of people involving in researching and teaching philosophy may not be very large for a country like Vietnam with the population of nearly 90 million. But the formation and development of such an army is really a remarkable achievement.

First of all, we must say that, in Vietnam the spreading and criticizing the typical Oriental doctrines like Confucianism, Buddhism, Taoism had been carried out by many Vietnamese intellectuals before the August Revolution in 1945. In some big cities like Hanoi, Saigon, Hue there had been publications introducing some of the western philosophers and philosophical systems like those of Plato, Aristotle, Descartes, Rousseau, Montesquieu, Voltaire, Kant, Hegel, Nietzsche, and even Marxism. Philosophy had been taught at some high schools and colleges. It means that the propagating and teaching philosophy had been taken place before the August Revolution. Claiming the great significance of that task in the period from 1945 to the present does not mean ignoring or giving improper evaluation to the period prior to the August Revolution.

However, in this paper we would like to focus on a brief statement and preliminary evaluation of the situation of teaching philosophy in North Vietnam prior to 1975 and the whole nation since 1975.

Teaching of Philosophy in North Vietnam prior to 1975

Through the period of 30 years, from 1945 to 1975, there had been no single day of peace in Vietnam. The most important task of our nation during that period was to struggle for national independence and regain national unity. Under those conditions the researching and teaching of philosophy could not be carried out systematically. In addition, the content of teaching philosophy was predominated by the propaganda of the principal theories of Marxism, the non-Marxist thoughts was mentioned slightly just enough for criticism and rejection. At that time non-Marxist thoughts were thought as the outlook of a conservative and counter-revolutionary class.

Modern Western philosophy, in particular, at the very beginning has been considered as an ideological foe for Marxism. Therefore, the task of criticizing and eliminating its remnant and influence in Vietnam was among the most important ones in that period. Especially after Geneva's Convention in 1954, when South Vietnam came under the domination of the American Neo-Colonialism, the puppet regime in South Vietnam supported by many western reactionary forces had been constantly on the fierce ideological and cultural offensive to North Vietnam. Under those conditions the struggle to eradicate the remnant and negative influence of western philosophical currents of thought was at the top of the agenda. In 1962 the Institute of Philosophy was established, the department of critique of Western bourgeoisie philosophy was one of the earliest to be institutionalized.¹¹

However, at that time there were not so many publications even on Marxist philosophy. Eminent Professors such as Tran Van Giau, Dang Thai Mai and Tran Duc Thao¹² were among the first scholars who were instrumental in propagating the Marxist philosophy in Vietnam. During the period from the end of the 40s to middle of the 50s they had published a number of works introducing the history of philosophy as well as the Marxist philosophy.¹³ Those very works have played an important role in propagating the basis doctrines of the Marxist philosophy to many generations of cadres of our party and government.

From 1960 to 1964 many popular textbooks and documents on philosophy had been published, particularly the documents and

¹¹ Nguyen Hao Hai, "Situation of Research on non-Marxist Philosophy (Western Modern Bourgeoisie Philosophy) in Vietnam in last 55 Years," in *A Half Century of Researching and Teaching Philosophy in Vietnam*, ed. by Nguyen Trong Chuan (Hanoi: The Institute of philosophy publisher, 2001), pp. 575-576.

¹² All three professors were awardees of Ho Chi Minh Award (the highest award in the field of science in Vietnam). In particular, professor Tran Van Giau has been conferred the honor of the Hero of Labor in the Renovation Period.

¹³ Such as Tran Van Giau's *The World View* (first published in 1948 and reprinted in 1956), *Historical Materialism* (first published in 1949 and reprinted in 1957), *Dialectics* (published in 1955); Dang Thai Mai's *The History of Western Philosophy* (published in 1950); Tran Duc Thao's series of lectures "The History of pre-Marxist Philosophy" and "The History of pre-Marxist Thought." His lectures have been recently collected and published.

textbooks for army colleges.¹⁴ Despite their elementary nature in philosophical content, those publications had contributed actively in propagating the basic principles of the Marxist philosophy to our people. Due to the political instability in USSR the philosophical activities in Vietnam were almost in a restrained development during the years from 1964 to 1970. In the period from 1970 to 1975 the teaching of philosophy had carried out regularly in secondary and tertiary education but there was no department specializing in training of bachelor of philosophy.

In brief, looking back at the period from 1945 to 1975 we should first note that one of the important achievements of propagating and teaching of philosophy is that it has contributed actively to many generations of our cadres and people, both in quantity and in quality of theoretical thinking, scientific outlook and Marxist philosophical methodology More importantly it has been a solid basis for a revolutionary theory to permeate into our cadres and population and to convert the theory into scientific faith and materialistic strength. In doing so the propagating and teaching of philosophy contributed importantly to our great victories over foreign invaders and their puppet regime.

Besides, the teaching philosophy also contributed to revitalize the values of the traditional patriotism existing in the ideological heritage of our ancestors, especially its revolutionary heroism. The very heroism has encouraged timely our spirit of nationalism in our struggle against foreign invaders in frontline as well as in the rear. At the same time during that period, there were researches on the problems of man claiming the decisive role of man, subjective factor but the power of weapon in the war against foreign aggressors.

Teaching of Philosophy in Vietnam since 1975

After country's unification in 1975, the teaching of philosophy has been carried out more methodologically and systematically. For

¹⁴ For example, *The Categories of Dialectical Materialism* (published in 1960). *The Categories of Historical Materialism* (published in 1962) (for the cadres of army regiment and division ranks [field-officers], *Dialectical Materialism* (for primary army officers), etc.

the first time in 1976 the departments of philosophy specialized in training bachelor of philosophy in two universities were established. The curriculums of previously five-year (and presently four-year) undergraduate course in philosophy have been structured deliberately to meet the needs of social practice in Vietnam. In the course, apart from philosophical subjects, students must take other supplementary subjects like those of natural sciences, social sciences and foreign languages. Philosophical subjects include the history of Oriental, Western and pre-Marxist philosophies, Marxist philosophy and some modern western philosophical currents.

By the end of the 70s there were first graduates of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) in Vietnam and universities started to enroll students seeking the degree of the Master of Philosophy in the early 90s. Currently in Vietnam there exist four official institutions specializing in training Ph.D. students and seven others undertaking the training students for Master degree. Since the beginning of the 90s the number of graduates from those institutions has rapidly increased. Particularly the Government of Vietnam established in 2000 its own longterm project sponsoring students to study overseas graduate courses. Every year, there are two or three students preparing to do their Master of Ph.D. degree in philosophy among the holders of that kind of government scholarship. In this way the community of our philosophers is increasing annually with a large number of scholars graduating from various universities in the world.

The increase in number as well as the improvement of qualification of scholars working in the field of researching and teaching philosophy has contributed positively to the teaching activities in all universities and colleges. We have more and more researches and publications with high quality addressing different issues in various fields of philosophy.

Marxist Philosophy is dominant in the curriculum of secondary and tertiary schools. The same situation can be seen in the area of philosophical publications. It can be easily explained because for a long time the majority of graduated students have specialized in Marxist Philosophy.

The period from 1975 to the present can be divided into two smaller ones: the pre-renovation period (1975-1986) and renovation period (since 1986 to the present).

In the pre-renovation period, the content of teaching of philosophy in Vietnam is basically the same of that of the previous years, which had focused mainly on the Marxist philosophy. Apart from it there were also small part of the history of pre-Marxist philosophy (including both Oriental and Western philosophy) and the course of critique of modern western bourgeoisie philosophy.

Even within the Marxist philosophy, teaching philosophy was limited to the formula: teacher explained the classic texts, made examples to illustrate and student only listened to teacher, took notes and learnt what he got by heart. "teaching philosophy had just only repeated classic principles, stated in a simple way some fundamental categories, laws, principles and limited to interpretation, explanation the policy-lines of the Party and Government"15 "...within the limit of pure theoretical issues imbruing with scholasticism."16

So far in that period the main method of teaching philosophy was explanation and propagation of classic principles (of the Marxist philosophy). Such a method reduced the role and significance of philosophy and made philosophy a boring subject. Moreover, it also negatively influenced the way student thinks in philosophy. First it led to the bad habit of bookishness and hackneyed writing, which was a product of metaphysic thinking and dogmatism paying no attention to the constant changes in reality. Second, it also deprived student of the function of critical thinking, one of the important functions of scientific thinking. Third, while considering the practice as something secondary and make-up for "immutable truths" resided in textbooks, it paid no proper attention to research and summation of practice. Finally, it formed a mechanical and stereotyped thinking as well as passiveness for student in encounter with real problems of life.¹⁷

¹⁵ Duong Phu Hiep, "Philosophy and Practice," Journal of Philosophy, N.1. 1989, p. 4.

¹⁶ Nguyen Van Trung, "Some Thoughts on the Relations between Philosophy and Politics," Journal of philosophy, N. 1, p. 57.

¹⁷ Nguyen The Nghia, "A Retrospection into 25 Years of Researching and Teaching Philosophy in Southern Provinces," in A Half Century of Researching

There are many factors causing that situation, but the main reasons are the following:

Firstly, an identification philosophy with politics. "Due to the very identification many researchers and teachers of philosophy had considered themselves as political cadres and propagandists. As a result, they treated their lecture as political discourse or dissemination of policy-line." ¹⁸

Secondly, the quality of textbooks was low: their structure was inappropriate; lecturers had to follow literally the textbooks teaching even many outdated propositions and issues. The majority of our textbooks at that time were heavily based on the textbooks of the former USSR.

Thirdly, there were many irrationalities in selection of students and organization of courses. Classes were often overcrowded and students had the exam papers and questions and even the answers at hand. Therefore, some students without attending lectures could prepare the exam papers at home, learnt them by heart and reproduced them in exam room.¹⁹

In the renovation period, the researching and teaching philosophy gradually affirmed its role in our educational network and achieved great successes. The teaching content has been more and more extended, including Oriental, Western, Marxist philosophies as well as modern bourgeoisie philosophy. Teaching methods have been constantly updated to meet the new contents and the student's needs.

Since the Renovation in 1986 and especially after the collapse of the former USSR, the problems of reconsideration of the Marxist philosophy has been raised. Recently a national scientific-technological program for preparation of textbooks for Marxist-Leninist sciences has been organized under the support of our Government. There is a

-

and Teaching Philosophy in Vietnam, ed. by Nguyen Trong Chuan (Hanoi: The Institute of Philosophy Publisher, 2001), pp. 41-42.

¹⁸ Duong Phu Hiep, op. cit.

¹⁹ Vu Van Gau, "Teaching the Marxist Philosophy in Ho Chi Minh City's University of Social Sciences and Humanities," in *A Half Century of Researching and Teaching Philosophy in Vietnam*, ed. by Nguyen Trong Chuan (Hanoi: The Institute of Philosophy Publisher, 2001), p. 23.

national theme on philosophy among the themes of the program. As a result, a textbook on philosophy at national level has been published. Some of errors and shortcomings that existed in previous textbooks have been overcome in this book because it has been written with the participation of a large number of our leading experts in philosophy.

There have also been many changes in methods of teaching the Marxist philosophy. In the past students could only learn philosophy through their notes taken from lecturers and textbooks, nowadays apart from the notes they can have access to original classics of Marxism translated into Vietnamese. The very direct access to the classics of Marxism gives the students a chance to have deeper understanding of the thoughts of the classics of Marxism and see the evolution and changes of their points of view. In doing so students themselves can value which thoughts are appropriate, which are outdated, which are in need of supplementation and updating to meet the needs of the current historical conditions.

In the field of philosophical research there have been renovations as well. Since 1975, especially the last 15-20 years, apart from textbooks written for various student levels, the number of publications on research works on all specialized fields of philosophy have rapidly increased. The scope of research problems presented in those publications has been more and more diversified: from history of philosophy to logic, ethics, aesthetics, philosophy of culture, philosophy in natural sciences, techniques and philosophical problems of environments; from ancient philosophy to modern philosophy; from Marxist philosophy to non-Marxist philosophy; from philosophical doctrines of some philosophers to philosophy of great schools and systems. The diversity can be explained by the following factors: first, since 1986 Vietnam has started its cause of comprehensive renovation. Within that process the renovation of the way of thinking was considered as a fundamental step: our Government has paid more and more attention to theoretical activities in general and philosophical researches in particular. Second, there has been a significant development of the community of philosophers: the fruits of many years of training courses supported by the Government. Many of them have completed their M.A. or Ph.D. degrees, among those many have been awarded a professorship.

More importantly, we must proudly mention that such changes in the methods of conducting philosophical research and teaching as well as contributions of our philosophers to the comprehensive renovation our country. Prior to 1986 a majority of philosophical researches had been conducted with the aim of interpretation and propagation of party's policy-lines. However, after the start of our Renovation course in 1986, there have been many positive suggestions in many philosophical works and researches as well as opinions which contributed to the Party in preparation of the policy in socio-economic development of our country.

For example, in the field of social philosophy, our philosophers have insisted on the decisive role of production forces in relation to production relations denying the point that production relations should be advanced to pave the way for production forces. The attention also given to the roles of multi-sector economy, the diversity of ownership as well as the market economy with socialist orientation; to the role of human resource, particularly to the driving force of various interests, especially and first of all economic interest in social development. The correctness of those arguments and opinions has been well verified in the real practice of our life.

Similarly, our philosophers have addressed one of the very sensitive and important problem of democracy in society and building of a really democratic society as stated repeatedly by the President Ho Chi Minh.²⁰ This problem has been regularly treated in the works of our philosophers. As a result, our Party has approved it and has officially included them in the documents of many Party Congresses.

Within the process of a comprehensive renovation our country, together with the renovation of the way of thinking and methods of teaching the Marxist philosophy, the research and teaching of non-Marxist philosophy have been paid more attention. Many modern western schools and currents of philosophy, which either have not been introduced or criticized negatively in the past, have been intro-

²⁰ Nguyen Trong Chuan, "A Retrospection into 55 Years of Researching and Teaching Philosophy in Our Country," p. 23.

duced and attentively given proper attention. Their positive aspects are now recognized in the spirit that all different cultures including those of philosophy should be given a proper respect. Philosophers focus not only on the negative aspects but also on positive aspects of non-Marxist philosophies, especially modern western philosophy.

As a result of the Renovation there have been changes in teaching of western philosophy. At present, within the program of teaching philosophy at tertiary level, the course of critique of western bourgeoisie philosophy has been replaced by the course of non-Marxist philosophy, the main content of which consists of modern western bourgeoisie philosophy. In many training institutions, for example in the Institute of Philosophy, the content of the course of non-Marxist philosophy has renovated profoundly: students have a chance to study various modern western bourgeoisie philosophical schools and currents, they can see the diversity of thoughts, both the negative as well as positive aspects and points of these systems and schools. The teaching now is not limited only to negative critique of western bourgeoisie philosophy as it used to be in the past.

At present, we can say that Vietnam has formed gradually a community of scholars specializing in research and teaching non-Marxist philosophy. Their number may be comparatively limited but among them there exist philosophers with a profound expertise.

The difficulty of teaching non-Marxist philosophy consists in the shortage of its literature. Many students cannot access to the primary sources due to their lack of fluency in foreign languages while many famous classics have not been translated into Vietnamese. Therefore, the majority of students still rely on their notes from lectures and available textbooks in Vietnamese.

The problem is that in the coming years we must train intensively a class of students specializing in non-Marxist philosophy, and if possible, in individual authors of western philosophy. At the moment, with the prevalence of shortage of literature and lack of fluency of foreign languages, a priority has been given to the translation into Vietnamese some of typical works of famous philosophers.

Besides teaching the Marxist and non-Marxist philosophy we have also carried out the research and teaching the history of Vietnamese thoughts with the aim of introducing students to typical thoughts of our famous thinkers in the history, especially the thoughts in the areas of politics, ethics and philosophy. In recent years, under the support of the Government, the Institute of Philosophy – Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences of Vietnam, has focused on the study of the history of Vietnamese thoughts, starting from the very beginning of the formation of our country. At present the Institute has published three volumes of the work. Since 2002 the Institute has also started the study on the history of philosophical thoughts in Vietnam. The completion of the study will be a very valuable contribution to teaching the history of Vietnamese philosophy.

Philosophers working in researching and teaching philosophy in Vietnam are well aware that "a nation cannot be steady on the top of development of sciences without its own theoretical thinking." "But theoretical thinking is only one of the potential endowed capabilities of human beings. This capability must be nourished and perfected and until now there is no other way to perfect it than to study the whole philosophical heritage of the past." On the other hand, in the context of the present globalization, the acceptance of various cultures worldwide is necessary to enrich the culture of every nation. At the same time, every nation should preserve and promote its cultural identity including the culture of philosophy.

Looking back into the history of teaching philosophy in Vietnam, we can see that, Vietnam has gradually formed a strong community of professional philosophers working in researching and teaching philosophy. The teaching philosophy in Vietnam has contributed more and more actively to the propagation of great thoughts of our nation and human kind to our people to promote the development of their theoretical thinking. After all, the ultimate aim of any development and progress is for the development and progress of human beings, to help them to reach the True, the Good and the Beautiful. Research and teaching of philosophy in Vietnam desire to achieve nothing more than this end.

²¹ Marx and Engels. The Complete Works, Vol. 20, pp. 489 and 487

Marx's Materialistic Understanding of History and Its Epochal Significance

While evaluating the great contribution of Marx for the development of humanity at Marx's funeral, Engels wrote "Just as Darwin discovered the laws of evolution in organic nature so Marx discovered the law of evolution in human history; he discovered the simple fact, hitherto concealed by an overgrowth of ideology, that mankind must first of all eat and drink, have shelter and clothing, before it can pursue politics, science, religion, art, etc.; and that therefore the means of life, and consequently the degree of economic development attained by a given people or during a given epoch, form the foundation on which the forms of government, the legal conceptions, the art and even the religious ideas of the people concerned have been evolved, and in the light of which these things must therefore be explained, instead of vice versa as has hitherto been the case."

That is not all. Marx also discovered the special law of motion governing the present-day capitalist mode of production and the bourgeois society that this mode of production has created. The discovery of surplus value suddenly threw light on the problem, in trying to solve which all previous investigations, of both bourgeois economists and social critics, had been groping in the dark."²²

Engels claims that the materialistic understanding of history and the theory of surplus are Marx's two great discoveries.²³ Here the issue is what are the contents of the materialistic understanding of history and what is the significance of this discovery for the development of Marx's philosophy in particular and Marxism in general?

Marx's philosophy, as we know, consists of two organic components, namely dialectical materialism and historical materialism (or also known as the materialistic understanding of history). Dialectical materialism is understood as a science of the most general laws of movement and development of nature, society and human thinking.

²² Marx and Engels, Complete Works, Vol. 19, pp. 499-500.

²³ *Ibid.*, Vol. 19, pp. 164-170.

Historical materialism is a science of the laws of movement and development of society as an organic whole. Therefore, while social sciences like economics, law, history, sociology and other disciplines investigate different aspects of social life, historical materialism investigate society as an organic whole. The subjects of historical materialism are laws enacting in all or in many socio-economic formations.

The basic principles of historical materialism have been explained by Marx in different works, especially in the preface of his *Contribution* to the *Critique* of *Political Economy*. These principles can be summarized as follows:

First, it is not the consciousness of men that determines their existence, but their social existence that determines their consciousness.

Second, the mode of production of material life conditions the general process of social, political and intellectual life.

Third, in the social production of their existence, men inevitably enter into definite relations, which are independent of their will, namely relations of production appropriate to a given stage in the development of their material forces of production. The totality of these relations of production constitutes the economic structure of society, the real foundation, on which arises a legal and political superstructure and to which correspond definite forms of social consciousness.

Fourth, at a certain stage of development, the material productive forces of society come into conflict with the existing relations of production or – this merely expresses the same thing in legal terms – with the property relations within the framework of which they have operated hitherto. From forms of development of the productive forces these relations turn into their fetters. Then begins an era of social revolution.

Fifth, the changes in the economic foundation lead sooner or later to the transformation of the whole immense superstructure. In studying such transformations, it is always necessary to distinguish between the material transformation of the economic conditions of production, which can be determined with the precision of natural science, and the legal, political, religious, artistic or philosophic – in short, ideological forms in which men become conscious of this conflict and fight it out.

Sixth, no social order is ever destroyed before all the productive forces for which it is sufficient have been developed, and new superior relations of production never replace older ones before the material conditions for their existence have matured within the framework of the old society.

Seventh, in broad outline, the Asiatic, ancient, feudal and modern bourgeois modes of production may be designated as epochs marking progress in the economic development of society.

Eighth, the bourgeois mode of production is the last antagonistic form of the social process of production – antagonistic not in the sense of individual antagonism but of an antagonism that emanates from the individuals' social conditions of existence – but the productive forces developing within bourgeois society create also the material conditions for a solution of this antagonism. The prehistory of human society accordingly closes with this social formation.²⁴

The birth of historical materialism has brought about a new conception on the history to philosophy, which is both materialistic and dialectic as well as an organic combination between materialism and dialectics. This is one of epochal significances that Marx has contributed to humankind because:

First, according to Lenin's explanation, historical materialism is a thoroughgoing application of the principles of materialism into the research on social phenomena.

The thoroughgoing application can be seen in the fact that historical materialism implements the view of dialectical materialism on the relation between matter and consciousness into the research and explanation of social development. Matter and consciousness in the social realm are understood correspondently as social being and social consciousness.

Social being includes many elements, among which the mode of production is the most important. The latter is the most decisive factor, though geographical condition and population density are also very important. In fact, in the history of philosophy, many thinkers have paid too much attention to geographical factor or the factor of population density for the development of society. In contrast to those

²⁴ Marx and Engels, Complete Works, Vol. 13, pp. 13-17.

theories, historical materialism affirms the decisive role of the mode of production.

Every mode of production in the history of mankind expresses the dialectical unity between production relations and productive forces, in which the latter are the manifestation of the relation between man and nature, the unity between means of production and laborers. The latter use the former to interact with nature to produce material wealth guaranteeing the existence and development of society. The production relations are expressed in three aspects: ownership, organizational management and product distribution. Within the relation between production relations and productive forces, the latter plays decisive role. Therefore, the mode of production is the most important element among the components of social being, the other components play the role of premises and conditions for the development of the mode of production.

Social consciousness is the reflection of social being in two levels: socio-psychological and ideological. At the same time, it also manifests in other basic forms like political, legal, ethical, religious, artistic, scientific and philosophical consciousness.

While dialectical materialism confirms that matter precedes and determines consciousness and consciousness, being the product of the highly organized form of matter – the human brain, can insert positive impacts back into the existence and development of the material world, historical materialism also affirms that social being precedes and determines social consciousness; social consciousness actively reflects social being and has a relative independence and more importantly can impact on social being through the activities of human beings. In this sense, social consciousness can either promote or delay the development of social being.

However, historical materialism is more than an explanation of general principles of the relation between social being and social consciousness: it penetrates deeply into the analysis of the structure of society and investigates dialectical relations between elements of the structure. With the birth of the notion of socio-economic formation, Marx has provided social sciences with a new approach to society.

The replacement of the general notion of society by that of socioeconomic formation allows us to have a clear picture of the components and stages of the development of society as well as the causes of movement and development of society in general. The notion of socioeconomic formation is used to refer to the development of society in a certain historical period with its typical kind of production relations and a superstructure founded on these production relations. Certain production relations are always in accordance and determined by a certain development of productive forces. The development of socioeconomic formations is a natural-historical development.

Within a socio-economic formation, according to the view of historical materialism, the infrastructure (including the totality of production relations) plays a decisive role and determines the superstructure (including ideology, institutions and relations established on the infrastructure). However, the superstructure retains its own relative independence and can exert impact on the infrastructure. It is what Marx means when he states that the change in economic basis leads to the change in superstructure.

Second, with the establishment of historical materialism, the principles of dialectics are also thoroughly applied in the examination and analysis of the development of society.

Every social phenomenon or process, according to historical materialism, is related to thousands of other phenomena and processes of nature, society and human thinking. It is the application of the dialectical principle of universal relations into the examination of society.

Together with the principle of universal relation, the principle of development is also applied by historical materialism in order to investigate social development. While dialectics states that nature is a process and all phenomena and things are always in the process of movement and development, historical materialism affirms that society in general, as well as every social phenomenon, are in the process of constant movement and development. The whole history of humankind is the process of consequent replacement of various socioeconomic formations, in which the following formation has been always more developed than the previous. In general, as Marx stated, the Asiatic, ancient, feudal and modern bourgeois modes of production may be designated as epochs marking progress in the economic development of society.

At the same time, historical materialism also discovers that the struggle of opposing sides within a society is the profound cause of its development. It is the struggle between new productive forces and obsolete production relations and then the struggle between the class representing new productive forces and the class representing old production relations in a class-divided society. The struggle between opposing classes will lead to a social revolution, i.e. the leap in the development of society.

Social revolution has its task of reconstructing profoundly all spheres of social life, first of all the sphere of economy and politics. Within the sphere of economy, social revolution must resolve the conflict between new productive forces and old production relations by the means of replacement the latter by new production relations, which are in accordance with the new productive forces. Within the sphere of politics, social revolution must resolve the conflict between infrastructure and superstructure and replace the old government by a new government. The replacement of the old government by a new one is realized through a violent revolution because a state is a product of irreconcilable class contradictions as well as an instrument for class suppressing.

The result of social revolution is the replacement of one socioeconomic formation by other, which is more developed. Thus, the consequent replacement of socio-economic formations has contributed to the progressive development of human society. However, different socio-economic formations have been temporal stages within the development of human society from lower to higher stages as Engels confirmed.²⁵

In his evaluation of the pre-Marxist socialism, Engels points out that "But the Socialism of earlier days was as incompatible with this materialist conception as the conception of Nature of the French materialists was with dialectics and modern natural science. The Socialism of earlier days certainly criticized the existing capitalistic mode of production and its consequences. It could not explain them, and,

²⁵ In this paper the author uses some materials from Professor Le Huu Tang's lectures "The Fundamental Contents of Marxism-Leninism and Its Methodological Function in the Cognition and Transformation of Practice."

therefore, could not get the mastery over them. It could simply reject them as bad. The more strongly this earlier Socialism denounced the exploitations of the working-class, inevitable under capitalism, the less able was it clearly to show in what this exploitation consisted and how it arose."²⁶

Therefore, according to Engels, the problem is, on the one hand, we need to explain the capitalist mode of production in its historical relations, in the necessity of its formation, development and decay. On the other hand, we also need to reveal the inner and hidden nature of this mode of production. Both aspects can only be accomplished with the help of Marx's materialistic understanding of history and theory of surplus. However, within the limit of the paper we could only concentrate on the significance of the materialistic understanding of history to the formation of scientific socialism.

According to the materialistic understanding of history, production and exchange are the basis of all societies. In all societies product distribution and class division are conditioned by what have been produced and the mode of production and exchange of products and goods. Therefore, it is necessary to "discover the ultimate cause of all social changes and political upsets are not taken place with human brain...but are located in the changes of the mode of production and exchange; the cause should not be to look for in philosophy but in the economy of the corresponding epoch."²⁷

Within historical materialism the theory of socio-economic formation is one of most important theoretical bases of Marx's and Engels's theory of socialism, according to which the movement of the fundamental contradictions of society is originated from the law stating the accordance between production relations and the certain level of productive forces, superstructure and infrastructure. Productive forces are the most dynamic and revolutionary. The development of society is expressed in the development of productive forces, which will sooner or later bring about changes in production relations. It means that any change within production relations is the necessary consequence of the fact that the old production relations are no more

²⁶ Marx and Engels, Complete Works, Vol. 19, p.304.

²⁷ *Ibid.*, Vol. 20, p. 371.

in accordance with the development of new productive forces. This is the foundation and objective law confirming that capitalism will be necessarily replaced by a new, more developed and better society.

Within a class-divided society, the contradiction between productive forces and production relations is expressed in the contradiction between exploiting class and exploited class. The struggle between those classes is the driving force for social development in all class-divided societies. In capitalistic societies the contradiction between productive forces and production relations is expressed in the contradiction between proletariats and bourgeoisies. Therefore, the birth of socialism is a result of the struggle between proletarian class and bourgeois class. This is also a historical necessity.

Thus, the materialistic understanding of history points out objective tendencies and driving forces of the human society, within which capitalism, as a socio-economic formation, is only a stage in the historical development of humankind and will be necessarily replaced by a new and more developed socio-economic formation; moreover, the theory of surplus reveals the mystery of the capitalistic production and points out clearly the historical mission of the proletarian class as the grave-diggers of capitalism. From those two discoveries Marx and Engels have come to the conclusion that: the collapse of the bourgeois class and the victory of the proletarian class are inevitable; by the same logic, capitalism will be replaced by communism.

The conclusion is a scientific one, which constitutes the kernel of the Marxist theory of socialism. It is not accidental that Engels, in his *Anti-During* and *The Development of Socialism from Utopia to Science*, claimed that "These two great discoveries – the materialist conception of history and the revelation of the secret of capitalist production by means of surplus value, we owe to Marx. With these discoveries, socialism became a science, which had in the first place to be developed in all its details and relations."

Thus, while mentioning about the scientific of the Marxist theory of socialism, Engels wanted first of all to talk about its scientific foundation and the key conclusion it comes to – the conclusion about the inevitable replacement of capitalism by communism. The questions of how the communism will be like as well as all its details and relations ...are the subjects of further investigations. The problem is what is the

foundation Marx and Engels's social research on a new society with its details and relations based on?

Since 1843, Marx himself was clearly aware of the fact that "we do not attempt dogmatically to prefigure the future, but want to find the new world only. through criticism of the old...Up to now the philosophers had the solution of all riddles lying in their lectern, and the stupid uninitiated world had only to open its jaws to let the roast partridges of absolute science fly into its mouth...I am speaking of a ruthless criticism of everything existing, ruthless in two senses: The criticism must not be afraid of its own conclusions, nor of conflict with the powers that be."²⁸

In 1917, or after 74 years, Lenin also talked about the foundation for predicting the characteristics of a new society "on which foundation can we pose the question about the future development of communism?...Basing on the fact that communism is forming from capitalism, developing from the history, from capitalism and is the result of the impact of social forces generated by capitalism. In Marx's writings one cannot find any intention to fabricate illusion and predict vaguely the things one cannot foresee. Marx posed the issue of communism in the same way the scholars of natural sciences pose, for example, the issue of evolution of new species with the knowledge of its origin and clear clues of its development and change."²⁹

It is easy to understand because by the time when Marx and Engels passed away, socialism had not yet existed in reality. What they discussed about socialism was a result they got from their research of capitalism – an existing society but not a result they had from their analysis of the events of future society. Therefore, Marx and Engels only affirmed about the features of the future society as possibilities.³⁰

As their predictions were only possibilities, Marx and Engels often corrected their predictions. For example, in their *Communist Manifesto* Marx and Engels mentioned about 10 measures to build

²⁸ Marx and Engels, *The Complete Works*, Vol. 19, p.305.

²⁹ Vladimir I. Lenin, *The Complete Works* (Moscow: The Progress Publishing House, 1976), Vol. 33, p.104.

³⁰ Le Huu Tang (Editor), *Socialism from Theory to Practice: Key Experience Lessons* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2003), pp.30-31.

socialism in the most advanced countries (but not in all countries). However, they also warned that these measures are only optional but not be necessarily applied in all places and all times.

What is the guarantee for scientific and reliability of Marxism's conclusions and predictions about the future society? From the analysis of historical materialism and its significance we can affirm that the guarantee for scientific and reliability of Marx's and Engels's predictions about the future society can be found in their analysis of the development of human society in general and capitalistic society in particular, in their discovery of the laws regulating the movement and development of the contemporary capitalistic society.

However, as the predictions about the future are based on the tendencies of development of things, of what will be in the future, their concrete contents will depend on the circumstances and their changes in the future. Therefore, the truthfulness of these predictions should be verified in practice. Because, after all, practice, according to Marxist philosophy, is the only criterion of truth.

After the collapse of the socialism in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe in the 90s, many people, who believed in Marx and Marxism, started to doubt about the truthfulness of historical materialism, namely the theory of socio-economic formation.

The practice of the end of the 20th century and beginning of the 21th century has not denied the scientific foundation of historical materialism, but on the contrary, has affirmed its scientific foundation and truthfulness. According to basic principles of historical materialism we have mentioned above, the collapse of the socialism in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe was of necessity. It was the collapse of a concrete model of socialism. Instead of establishing a new and more advanced mode of production than that of capitalism, that model contained many defects, which had not been discovered timely to be overcome. The development of capitalism and the ongoing process of globalization are evidences proving the truthfulness of Marx's point about the development of society as a natural-historical process, in which the following stage of development is always more progressive than the previous ones. The principles of historical materialism still remain their significance and capitalism will be necessarily replaced by a more developed and progressive society.

More than that, the success of the cause of renovation and openness in Vietnam and China has supplemented new elements to the ways and measures of building socialism for the countries taking the 'abridged' transition course to socialism. The success also affirms that the consistency of Marxism does not mean to apply it dogmatically and mechanically. Marxism should be applied scientifically and creatively in new historical conditions. The creativity in the application, supplementation and perfection of Marxism to make it appropriate to new historical circumstances is the correct way to defense and follow consistently Marxism. This is also an urgent task for scholars engaging in theoretical research in our country today.

Relating to this task, by the end of 90s of the previous century, in the context of the collapse of the socialism in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe many people mentioned the theory of cultures and civilizations. Some of them suggest that the theory of cultures and civilizations is scientific by nature and can replace Marx's theory of socio-economic formation. To be fair, the theory of cultures and civilizations suggests some interesting points. However, if we investigate more carefully the theory of socio-economic formation, we can see that while paying particular attention to economic factor, Marx did not ignore cultural factor in the development of society. According to Marx's view, the cultural factor is always determined and dependent on material factor. Together with the confirmation that the consequent replacement of socio-economic formations is a nature-historical process, in which the following formation is always more progressive than the previous ones, the theory of socio-economic formation also recognizes the inheritance and development of the civilization of humankind and regards the replacement of socio-economic formations as the replacement of civilizations.

While affirming the truthfulness and significance of the basic principles of historical materialism, the task of scholars engaging in philosophical research is to concretize and investigate more deeply those principles. The most important thing is, in our view, to clarify a series of issues relating to the relationship between the decisive (determining) factors (social being, productive forces, infrastructures ...) and the determined factors (social consciousness, production relations, superstructure.). In his lifetime, Lenin had affirmed that "Natu-

rally, the opposition between matter and consciousness only has an absolute meaning in very limited cases: in this case only within the scope of basic epistemological issues we should recognize what precedes and what follows. Besides those cases, there is no doubt that the opposition is relative."31 Applying the above-mentioned Lenin's idea on the relationship between matter and consciousness, we can pose the question whether the determining factors mentioned above will always be decisive in all circumstances and historical conditions or only decisive in final stages? If the latter is the case then which determined factors could become decisive? Those questions are important in the practical activities in which the role of subjective factors can be put into full play without falling prey to voluntarism and dogmatism. For example, historical materialism affirms that infrastructure determines superstructure and the latter is the reflection of the former and can impact back the former. How the back impact can be understood? Are there any cases, in which superstructure changes the infrastructure or the former is always only the determined factor? The role of culture in the development of society should be analyzed thoroughly. Culture, according to the view of historical materialism, is determined by material conditions of human beings. Therefore, the question is how to analyze the role of culture as the driving force of social development.

All the above-mentioned points affirm the great contributions of Marx for his epoch as well as the epoch we are living in. It is our responsibility to implement and develop creatively Marx's philosophy in order to resolve the problems posed by our era. The success or failure in the practice depends on our generation and we can decide it for ourselves.

³¹ Lenin, Complete Works, Vol. 18, p.173.

The Concept of Good Society: A Perspective from Vietnam³²

Introduction

A good society has been seen as the ultimate goal of the Vietnamese since ancient times. Through their thousands-year history different generations of the Vietnamese have been looking for the ways to achieve this noble aim. The question is what is a good society from the perspective of the Vietnamese? In order to answer the question, we would like to concentrate on the following points in this paper: 1. the concept of good society in Confucianism; 2. the concept of good society in Vietnamese traditional thought; 3. Ho Chi Minh's view on the acquirement of the thoughts of different cultures for the construction of a good society in Vietname.

The Concept of Good Society in Confucianism

As a representative of East Asian philosophy, Confucianism pays particular attention to two ways: the way of Heaven and the way of Man as the "Inner Sage and outer King." While the Inner Sage is an inward way to cultivate the self and establish the virtue of the sage the Outer King is an outward way to use the virtue to rule the country and practice the way of the King in the society. This view was clearly expressed in the *Great Learning* – one of the 'Four Books' of Confucianism. The First chapter of the Great Learning points out three great guidelines including inner Sage and outer King: 1: manifesting virtues, 2: loving the people³⁴ and 3: resting in the highest good or excellence. These three purposes have been concretized from inward to

³² Co-authored with Nguyen Tai Dong, *The Acting Director of the Institute of Philosophy* (Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences).

³³ "Inner Sage and Outer King" appeared for the first time in *Changtzu* and then has been popularly used in Confucian literatures.

³⁴ Or renovating the people, as translated in some other versions.

outward in eight main points or contents including: investigating the things, extending to the utmost one's knowledge, being sincere in one's thought, rectifying one's heart, cultivating one's self, regulating one's family, ordering well the state and pacifying the world. In other words, in order to achieve the state of inner Sage man have to cultivate his personal morality in accordance with the ethical criteria and standards set up by Confucius and his disciples in the form of Five Constants (Wu-ch'ang or Five virtues of human behavior: benevolence, righteousness, proprieties, wisdom and fidelity) and other virtues of courage, truthfulness, humbleness...etc. the practice of King's way consists in ruling the country in accordance with fundamental principles and methods in order to achieve a good society. Then what is a good society and how to achieve it?

A good society, according to Confucianism, is a harmonious society in three dimensions: man to nature, man to man and man to himself. In the relation with nature, Confucianism claims that man originates from nature and therefore, man and all social relationships are part of nature and ought to follow the laws of nature. The concepttion of 'trinity' (Heaven-Earth-Man) pays attention to the reciprocity between man and outer objects as well as affirms the importance and proactiveness of man in his relation to nature. Within the social relations (man to man), apart from addressing the solutions to economic issues and basic needs of people's livelihood such as 'making people wealthy first and then educating them', 'allowing people to have property first and cultivate their minds later', Confucianism focuses on the moral relations between man and man, or more concretely the relations within the state and families. Those relationships manifest in three main bonds: between ruler and minister, father and son, husband and wife, in which the authority of ruler over the minister, the authority of the father over the son and the authority of the husband over the wife are affirmed, or the Five Constant Virtues (righteousness on the part of the father, love on the part of the wife, brotherhood on the part of elder brother, respect on the part of younger brother, and filial piety on the part of son).

In the relation between man and his self, Confucianism focuses on the cultivation of the inner self and perfection of the self. Everyone must learn, not only theoretically but also practically, to cultivate the basic virtues of benevolence, righteousness, proprieties, wisdom and fidelity, among which benevolence (jen) is both as a virtue and the foundation for all other virtues. According to Confucianism, through the cultivation of moral seeds endowed by Heaven, especially the cultivation of benevolence, man can overcome himself and become perfect.

According to Confucianism Li (propriety) and Zhengming (rectification of names) are needed in order to build an ideal society as mentioned above or to practice the King's way.

As one of the cardinal virtues in Confucianism, Li (propriety) is usually understood as the principle of social order and hierarchy. Confucius, the founder of Confucianism, paid particular attention to Li and considered it as both the criterion and measure to construct a harmonious and good society. As Confucius claimed, Li has the following contents: first, Li is to use to regulate human relations in society. You Ruo, a Confucian disciple, said that "Among the functions of propriety (Li) the most valuable is that it establishes harmony. The excellence of the ways of ancient kings consists of this. It is the guiding principle of all things great and small. If things go amiss, and you, understanding harmony, try to achieve it without regulating it by the rules of propriety, they will still go amiss."35 Second, Li is the expression of ethical norms and the scale of values in society. Confucius used to make Jen and Li identical when he said "If a man is not humane (Jen), what has he to do with ceremonies? If he is not humane, what has he to do with music?"36 Third, Li are the norms, rules and rituals to urge man to follow the right way. Confucius said "The superior man extensively studies literature (wen) and restrains himself with the rules of propriety. Thus, he will not violate the Way."37

Confucianism insists that the practice of Zhengming (rectification of names) is necessary in order to bring order, morality and harmony to society. Confucius stressed on the social roles and asked that names (position, role, privilege) must go together with performance (competence, duty and responsibility) and everyone should strive to play

³⁵ Confucius, *The Analects of Confucius*, translated by Burton Watson (New York: Columbia University Press, 2007), 1: 12, p.17.

³⁶ Ibid., 3:3, p.26.

³⁷ *Ibid.*, 6:25, p.45.

his proper role in the social hierarchy "Let the ruler be ruler, the minister be the minister, the father be the father, and the son be the son."38 Therefore, the rectification of names is the foundation for social management. Tzu-lu said, "The ruler of Wei is waiting for you to serve in his administration. What will be your first measure?" Confucius said, "It will certainly concern the rectification of names." Tzu-lu said, "Is that so? You are wide of the mark. Why should there be such a rectification?" Confucius said, "Yu! How uncultivated you are! With regard to what he does not know, the superior man should maintain an attitude of reserve. If names are not rectified, then language will not be in accordance with truth. If language is not in accordance with truth, then things cannot be accomplished. If things cannot be accomplished, then ceremonies and music will not flourish. If ceremonies and music do not flourish, then punishment will not be just. If punishments are not just, then the people will not know how to move hand or foot.

Therefore, the superior man will give only names that can be described in speech and say only what can be carried out in practice. With regard to his speech, the superior man does not take it lightly." To sum up: a good society, according to Confucianism, is the one in which man is highly virtuous and maintains harmonious relationships with other men and nature and Li (propriety) and Zhengming (rectification of names) are needed in order to build an ideal society.

The Concept of Good Society in Vietnamese Traditional Thought

After more than a thousand years Vietnam regained its independence in the beginning of the 10th Century. This important event shows that Vietnam has not only a vehement will to freedom and the spirit of undauntedness but also a solid system of thoughts serving as the foundation for its enduring and heroic struggle against foreign invaders. The Vietnamese have struggled from generations to generations for their national independence and reconstruction of their traditional culture handled by their ancestors from the time of Hung's

³⁸ Ibid., 12:11, p. 82.

³⁹ *Ibid.*, 13:3, p.88.

Kings. As Vietnamese Confucians in the 12th Century remarked on the rebel of Trung's Sisters in "*Thien Nam ngu luc*" "the first thing is to take the national revenge and the second is to restore the Cause of Hung's Kings."⁴⁰ The Cause of Hung's Kings is the cultural foundation of the Vietnamese and the inner vitality of the nation.

The system of thoughts of the Vietnamese at that time manifested, first of all, in the reflections of the Vietnamese on themselves and their responsibility towards the nation and country. The sense of community, the awareness of a common origin of the Viet and their national sovereignty are expressed clearly in the tale of "One Hundred Eggs" associated with the King Lac Long Quan, a descendant of dragons, who marries the fairy Au Co. Apart from the affirmation of the national spirit, the tale also expresses the humane nature of the Viet society, which is not a kind of simple aggregate of separate individuals but an organic community bound by blood ties and holy relationships. Here in this tale 'compatriot' means the descendants from the same original womb.

After regaining the independence, especially after the 'upheaval of twelve' the need for a unified society became more pressing for the Vietnamese. The influence of Chinese culture was not quite symmetrical with the period of more than 1,000 years of the Chinese domination. However, when the Viet regained their sovereignty, they actively acquired some outstanding achievements of Han's culture in order to safeguard their national independence and construct their social life. The Viet not only actively acquired Chinese political institutions, social structures and education system but also approached, transformed and developed some fundamental concepts of Chinese philosophy to make them appropriate to the conditions of Vietnam. The Chinese philosophy was known by the Viet mainly through the teachings of Chinese Confucianism, Taoism and Buddhism. Basing on the foundation of the traditional thoughts and culture of Vietnam some outstanding Vietnamese Confucian scholars like Chu Van An, Nguyen Trai, Le Thanh Tong, Nguyen Binh Khiem, Nguyen Du, Phung Khac Khoan, Le Quy Don, Le Huu Trac, Ngo Thi Nham...

⁴⁰ *The History of Vietnam* (Hanoi: The Tertiary Education Publishing House, 1993).

acculturated Chinese Confucianism in order to address and find solutions to the problems raised by the reality of Vietnam. The Viet were able to form their own form of Buddhism by the end of the 13th Century through their acculturation of Indian and Chinese Buddhism. In following the teaching of the Buddha, this Vietnamese sect of Buddhism, known as Truc Lam's Zen Buddhism, has actively engaged with the problems and issues of the real life-world of the Viet.

The intellectuals of Vietnam in the past, regardless of their ideological stances and differences in interpretation of the world and human values, were united at the point on the importance and necessity of national independence, which serves as the most important premise for construction of a good and happy society. The nation as a whole recognizes clearly that only by being an independent, sovereign, free, and united, Vietnam could gain stability, development and felicity. The yearning for freedom, peace and self-reliance has been constantly manifested in the traditional thoughts of Vietnam. In his reply to the question raised by the King about the national affairs, Phap Tthuan, a Vietnamese Zen Master, said:

Like woven canes the nation's destiny stands Peace now adorns the Southern sky If mindful wisdom tends the Palace All warring stops, all strife withers.⁴¹

Or in a famous poem "Nam Quoc Son Ha," which is considered as the first Declaration of Independence of Vietnam, Ly Thuong Kiet affirmed the truth that:

Over Mountains and Rivers of the South, reigns the Emperor of the South

As it stands written forever in the Book of Heaven How dare those barbarians invade our land? Your armies, without pity, will be annihilated.⁴²

⁴¹ *Thien Uyen Tap Anh* (A Collection of Outstanding Figures of the Zen Community).

⁴² Ly-Tran Literature and Poetry (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 1977), Vol. 1, p.321.

Many other basic concepts relating to the theme of national independence, freedom and peace were also addressed in the works of famous Vietnamese Buddhist monks and Confucian scholars during that period of national construction.

Apart from the thought on national independence, the thoughts of benevolence and righteousness are among the most important ideas of the Vietnamese traditional thought relating to the concept of good society. An ideal society is the one, which is not only independent, unified, socially in order but also righteous and benevolent. The thought of benevolence and righteousness has been a guiding threat for Vietnamese Confucianism in the history. As Nguyen Trai affirmed "The benevolent uses weakness to control the powerful, and the just uses the few to fight against the many"43 and "Uphold great justice to overcome barbarity, and uphold perfect humanity to challenge brute force."44 The thought of benevolence and righteousness acts not only as a policy guideline like 'rule of virtue' or 'rule of Li' in Chinese Confucianism, but also as the goal for the cause of national independence, and more than that, as the foundation for ethics and criteria in human life. Thanks to the thought of benevolence and righteousness, Nguyen Trai in particular and other Confucians and leaders of Vietnam in general, were able to eradicate hatred and intolerance and practice the Way of Heaven. In Ngyen Trai the thought of benevolence and righteousness was also demonstrated in the amnesty given to surrendering troops to eradicate the source of future wars, and to leave an eternally kind image in their mind.

The thought of benevolence and righteousness was concretized in social relationships as the authentic way of being human. According to Nguyen Trai, to be human means first of all to have the virtues of benevolence, wisdom and courage. However, unlike traditional Confucians, Nguyen Trai insisted that those virtues are not theoretical but should be implemented in human life and embodied in human actions to help man to renounce all kind of evil. Nguyen Trai's thought of benevolence and righteousness became the life orientation, and basic code of conduct for Vietnamese Confucians in later periods.

⁴³ Nguyen Trai, Letter in Reply to General Phwong Chinh.

⁴⁴ Nguyen Trai, Binh Ngo Dai Cao (Great Declaration).

King Le Thanh Tong, who was fond of Confucianism, said "eradication of brutality is King's benevolence." Ngo Sy Lien, a famous historian, claimed that benevolence is the most revered virtue "to renounce the life in order to follow righteousness is better than to live. To live in indignity is not what a great man wants." Though Mencius affirmed that human life is worth living but if he has to choose between life and righteousness he could sacrifice his life to choose righteousness. So, did Ngo Sy Lien, who regarded righteousness is more important than life. Life without righteousness is only mere physiological existence. It is righteousness that makes human life meaningful and authentic.

Ho Chi Minh's View on the Acquirement of the Thought of Different Cultures for the Construction of a Good Society in Vietnam

President Ho Chi Minh, a great leader of the Vietnamese Revolution, has been recognized by UNESCO as a hero of national liberation and great man of culture. Throughout his life Ho Chi Minh devoted himself to the cause of national liberation and the struggle for people's happiness. He knew how to absorb the quintessence of different cultures both in the East and the West. As a Vietnamese, he grew and educated within the Vietnam's tradition of ardent patriotism, admiration for heroes of national liberation, and earnest aspiration for freedom of the nation.

Ho Chi Minh wrote that "the doctrine of Confucius has its strong point in personal moral cultivation. The religion of Jesus has its strong point in noble humanity. Marxism has its strong point in dialectical method. The doctrine of Sun Yat-sen has its strong point in the fact that its policy is suitable to Vietnamese conditions. Undoubtedly, Confucius, Jesus, Marx and Sun Yat-sen share the common good point. They all pursue to bring about happiness for mankind and society. I believe that if they had remained alive in the world, they

⁴⁵ Dai Viet Su Ky Toan Thu (Complete History Record of Great Viet), Vol. 1, p.123.

⁴⁶ Mencius Gaozi, "I like life, and I also like righteousness. If I cannot keep the two together, I will let life go, and choose righteousness."

would have lived in complete concord as the closest friends. I strive to be their humble pupil."⁴⁷

In fact, Ho Chi Minh has absorbed selectively valuable thoughts and quintessence of different doctrines to pursue the "felicity for humanity." He acquired not only Confucian, Christian and Marxist thoughts but also those of Buddhism and Bourgeois ideology. He praised French and American Revolutions, he approached to A. Lincoln's ideas and appreciated the patriotism in Caodaism and Hoahaoism. For example, he remarked on Buddhism that "The Lord Buddha is the most merciful and most pitiful, who want to liberate people from suffering. He sacrificed himself in the struggle against evil forces... We follow Sakyamuni Buddha's great mercifulness and great pity."⁴⁸

Ho Chi Minh did not stop at absorbing valuable thoughts from various doctrines but he developed it further and applied them creatively to the historical conditions of Vietnam. Therefore, we can affirm that, Ho Chi Minh acquired the values from both the cultural tradition of Vietnam and the cultures of progress of humanity and further developed them to a new level with distinctive features. It can be seen in the way he creatively absorbed the thoughts of Confucius, Jesus, Marx, Sun Yat-sen, etc.

Ho Chi Minh realized between Christianity, Confucianism and Buddhism that there existed a commonality in pressing on ethics, compassion and love. Such elements should be inherited and acquired. As he said, the doctrine of Confucius has its strong point in personal moral cultivation. Christianity has its strong point in noble humanity etc. Jesus asked his followers to "Love your enemies, bless them who curse you, do good to them who hate you, and pray for them who despitefully use you." He also taught them not to be greedy, but to lead a pure life and be ready to give when be asked. Ho Chi Minh stressed that "we all inspired by a spirit. Confucian philosophy and Western philosophy both praise the same ethical principle that 'What you do not want done to yourself, do not do to others." "Jesus

⁴⁷ Stories about the Ho Chi Minh's Revolution Life (Tam Lien Publishing House, 1949).

⁴⁸ Ho Chi Minh, *The Complete Works*, p.197.

⁴⁹ Ho Chi Minh, *The Complete Works*, Vol. 4, p.267.

said that morality is philanthropy. Buddha taught that morality is mercifulness and pity. Confucius said and taught that morality is benevolence and righteousness."⁵⁰

Ho Chi Minh not only acquired the rational elements of Confucianism, Christianity and Buddhism but also pointed out the drawbacks of these teachings. As early as in 1927 he wrote "Confucianism relies on three kinds of obedience: ruler and minister, father and son, husband and wife and five cardinal virtues of benevolence, righteousness, proprieties, wisdom and fidelity. Confucius wrote The Book of Spring-Autumn in order to criticize 'rebellious subjects' and 'bad children' but he did not write any work to condemn the evil deeds and crimes of 'wicked fathers' and 'mean princes... Thus, he spoke for the exploiters and against the oppressed,...if Confucius had been alive now he would have been a counter-revolutionary element."⁵¹

He used many Confucian concepts but added quite new contents to them to make them familiar and applicable to the conditions of Vietnam. In this way he renovated and transformed many Confucian concepts by bringing them revolutionary and modern contents.

The fundamental difference between Ho Chi Minh's thought and some religious teachings consists in the fact that Ho Chi Minh not only acquires the humane elements of all religious teachings but also concerns more about what to do and how to act in order to liberate people from their real sufferings. He always takes care about how to liberate the nation, society and the people. His biggest concern and greatest yearning is to make the nation completely independent, the people completely free and bring well-being and education to all people. Ho Chi Minh came to Marxism-Leninism and highly valued Sun Yat-sen's three principles of people because he found in them the way to liberate the nation and the people of Vietnam.

Ho Chi Minh found in Marxism its dialectical method. He affirmed that Marxist dialectical method is a scientific worldview and revolutionary weapon that could bring felicity for humanity. The method helped him to apply universal principles in concrete conditions and circumstances. All kinds of dogma and mechanism are alien to

⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, Vol. 6, p.225.

⁵¹ *Ibid.*, Vol. 2, pp.453-454.

the dialectical method. He pointed out that "Marx built his teachings on the foundation of a certain philosophy of history, but which history? The European history. What is Europe? It is not the whole humanity."⁵²

Thanks to the dialectical method of Marxism, Ho Chi Minh was able to deal skillfully the relationship between the particular and the universal, nation and humanity, tradition and modernity, individuals and society, theory and practice in the process of development. He realized the unity between theory and practice as the basic principle of Marxist dialectical method. Ho Chi Minh wrote "while emphasizing the importance of theory, comrade Lenin repeatedly mentioned that revolutionary theory is not a dogma but the lodestar guiding revolutionary actions; theory is not something fixed and rigid but fully creative; theory must be constantly added by the new conclusions drawn from the living practice... we should concretize Marxism-Leninism to make it appropriate to every concrete circumstance and condition."53 He pointed out that "to learn about Marxism-Leninism is to learn about its spirit to deal with all works, all peoples and one's own self...learning is needed for acting. Theory should go together with practice. Learning should not be for the sake of rote learning or decoration."54

We must affirm that Ho Chi Minh's thought on socialism is a direct result from his appropriation of the view of Marxism-Leninism on socialism. However, during the process of appropriation of Marxism-Leninism, Ho Chi Minh was able to implement it creatively into the concrete conditions of Vietnam, a country having a time-honored Eastern culture. We can see it concretely in many of his arguments, where he talked about the application of Marxism-Leninism and foreign experiences into the concrete circumstances of Vietnam.

Ho Chi Minh criticized two erroneous tendencies in the mechanical application of Marxism-Leninism: dogmatic tendency that ignores practice and the tendency that overvalues experience and consequently defies theory. Ho Chi Minh wrote "Some comrades are not willing to investigate the practice of Vietnam revolution. They do not

⁵² *Ibid.*, Vol. 1, pp.464-465.

⁵³ *Ibid.*, Vol. 6, p.496.

⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, Vol. 9, p.292.

understand that Marxism-Leninism is the lodestar for action but not the Bible. Therefore, what they do is to learn by heart some sayings of Marx and Lenin to bluff people. There are also some comrades, who insist only in individual experiences. They do not understand that theory is very important for the cause of revolution...Both tendencies are erroneous. The most erroneous is the dogmatic tendency because it deceives people by using the sayings of Marx and Lenin."55

Ho Chi Minh always reminded new generations to supplement and develop creatively Marxism in order to make it appropriate to the characteristic features and historical conditions of every nation, especially those in the East. He wrote "Anyway, it is not possible to prohibit supplementing historical bases by adding to them the materials, which Marx could not be able to obtain in his time" and it is necessary "to rethink Marxism in terms of its historical bases and consolidate them by Eastern ethnography." 56 Ho Chi Minh claimed that if we want to lead the revolution to victory, we need to avoid errors and grope our way, we need to learn the experiences from brother countries and apply them creatively.⁵⁷ At the same time, we need to promote the cultivation and education on Marxism-Leninism in order to apply the standpoints, views and methods of Marxism-Leninism to summarize the specific features of our country. In doing so we can gradually grasp the laws of development of Vietnamese revolution and map out concrete guidelines and steps for the socialistic revolution, which is appropriate to the situation in our country. Thus, it is necessary to learn theory and promote the common theoretical level of the Party, first of all that of Party's key cadres.⁵⁸

Ho Chi Minh always paid attention to the universality of Marxism-Leninism, but he also asked for the creative application of Marxism-Leninism. This very creativity will lead the cause of construction of socialism to victory and avoid the failure caused by dogmatism and mechanism. Ho Chi Minh wrote "at the moment we have abundant experiences of construction of socialism from brother countries but we cannot apply them mechanically because our country has its own

⁵⁵ Ibid., Vol. 6, p.247.

⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, Vol. 1, p.465.

⁵⁷ Ibid., Vol. 5, p.494.

⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, Vol. 8, p.494-495.

specific features."⁵⁹ The experience of the Soviet Union in construction of socialism was valuable but Ho Chi Minh reminded that we may have other way to socialism than that of the Soviet Union. He wrote "we cannot do the same as the Soviet Union does because the Soviet Union has its distinctive practice, custom, history and geography…we may have other path to socialism."⁶⁰

Together with Marxism-Leninism, Sun Yat-sen's thoughts were also highly valued by Ho Chi Minh and were creatively applied to the conditions of Vietnam. As we mentioned above, Ho Chi Minh found that Sun Yat sen's policy was appropriate to Vietnam.

Sun Yat-sen was a well-known revolutionary in Asia. He is especially popular in Japan, China and Vietnam with his famous three principles of the people (People's Nationalism, People's Sovereignty, People's Livelihood).

Etymologically speaking, Sun Yat-sen suggests that People's Livelihood includes the livelihood of the people, the existence of society, the welfare of the nation and the life of the masses. Therefore, People's Livelihood is considered as the core of Sun Yat-sen's three principles of the people. The purpose and the meaning of People's Nationalism, People's Sovereignty are to find solutions to the problems raised by People's livelihood. We can say that People's Nationalism, People's Sovereignty serve as the means for finding solutions raised by people's livelihood, the existence of society, national welfare and the life of the masses. Moreover, Sun also affirms that the problems of people's livelihood are the law of the development of society and the driving force of social progress. Sun Yat-sen wrote that "human endeavors for survival constitute the law of social evolution and the center of history. What is "human endeavors for survival"? it is problems of the livelihood of the people. Therefore, the principle of the livelihood of the people is the very driving force of social evolution."61 Sun Yat-sen claimed that the principle of people's livelihood is socialism and communism. According to him, the problems of people's livelihood are "social problems, therefore principle of people's lively-

⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, Vol. 8, p.449.

⁶⁰ Ibid., Vol. 8, p.227.

⁶¹ Sun Yat-sen, *The Three Principles of the People* (Hanoi: Institute of Social Sciences Information, 1995), p. 336.

hood is socialism, also known as communism, and that is the doctrine of Tai-tung (great harmony)."⁶² After all, the goal of socialism and communism is to deal with the problems of people's livelihood. It is the point where Sun Yat-sen shared with Marxism: they all claimed socialism and communism, as the necessary development states of the history of humanity, are higher than capitalism. The goal of socialism and communism is human beings and their livelihood. Sun Yat-sen believed that communism is the ideal of the principle of people's livelihood and the latter is the practice of the former. Therefore, the difference between Sun Yat-sen and Marx is only the difference in method.

While Marx, believed that class struggle was the driving force of social development, Sun Yat sen claimed that the problems of the livelihood of the people are the original driving forces of history. He intended to promote the problems of the livelihood of the people into the center of political, economic and social considerations and made people's livelihood the center of social history.⁶³

Sun Yat-sen did not share the view that the dictatorship of proletariat can be used to deal with economic issues. He believed that revolutionary methods can be applied to solve political but not economic problems.

For the Chinese case, Sun Yat-sen thought that the principle of people's livelihood cannot be implemented without investigating the conditions and historical circumstances of China. Methods can be mapped not theoretically but only through the research of concrete conditions and materials. Sun Yat-sen proposed two guidelines for the implementation of the principle of people's livelihood: equalization of land ownership and regulation of capital. While with the equalization of land ownership peasants have access to land and more than that people feel secure and concentrate on agricultural production, with regulation of capital state capitalism can be developed.

To sum up: if communism is the future of the three principles of the people, the immediate task is to answer adequately people's four basic needs: food, shelter, cloth and transportation. Sun Yat-sen wrote

⁶² Ibid., p. 313.

⁶³ Ibid., p. 344.

that "the ideal of the three principles of the people is that "the people have (property), the people rule and people benefit." ⁶⁴

Ho Chi Minh valued highly Sun Yat-sen's three principles of the people, especially the principle of people's livelihood. Moreover, Ho Chi Minh also applied creatively Sun's thoughts to the conditions of Vietnam, first and foremost, in his conception of socialism.

It should be noted that Ho Chi Minh's thought of socialism is the direct result of the acceptance of Marxism-Leninism. However, during the process of acquiring Marxism-Leninism, Ho Chi Minh applied it creatively to meet the concrete conditions of Vietnam, a country with its time-honored Eastern culture. All that can be seen clearly in his arguments on the implementation of Marxism-Leninism and foreign experiences in the concrete conditions of Vietnam.

Ho Chi Minh repeatedly criticized two erroneous tendencies in mechanical application of Marxism Leninism: the tendency of dogmatism, which disregards practice and the tendency of paying too much attention to experience that leads to neglecting of theory. He wrote "some comrades refuse to investigate the practical experience of Vietnam's revolution. They do not understand that Marxism – Leninism is the lodestar for action but not the Bible. Therefore, they learn by heart some sayings of Marx, Lenin in order to deceive people. Some other comrades are stick-in-the-mud followers of scattered experiences. They do not understand that theory is very important for practicing revolution. Both those tendencies are erroneous, especially that of dogmatism, because it deceives the people in the name of Marxism-Leninism."

Ho Chi Minh always reminded the following generations to supplement constantly and develop creatively Marxism to make it suitable for the historical conditions of their nation, especially Eastern nations "it is not prohibited, anyway, to supplement Marxism with new data, which were not available in Marx's time, it is necessary to re-investigate the historical base of Marxism and reinforce it with the knowledge of Eastern ethnology."⁶⁶

⁶⁴ Sun Yat-sen, The Three Principles of the People, p. 369.

⁶⁵ Ho Chi Minh, The Complete Work, Vol. 6, p. 247.

⁶⁶ Ibid., Vol. 1, p. 465.

Therefore, Ho Chi Minh claims that we need to learn from the experiences of brother countries and implement them creatively in order to lead revolution to victory without wasting time and committing errors.⁶⁷ At the same time, we should promote the cultivation of Marxism-Leninism in order to use the standpoint, view and method of Marxism-Leninism to generalize the characteristics of our country. Only in doing so we can gradually comprehend the laws of development of Vietnam's revolution and then map out concrete policies, guide-lines and steps for the socialist revolution that is suitable for the conditions of our country. Therefore, we need to acquire theory and promote the general theoretical level of the Party, first of all, the core cadres of the Party.⁶⁸

Ho Chi Minh always emphasized the universality of Marxism-Leninism but he also asked our cadres to be creative in the implementation of the universal truth of Marxism-Leninism. The very creativity in implementing Marxism-Leninism will contribute to the success of the cause of building socialism and avoid the failures caused by dogmatism and mechanical application of Marxism-Leninism. Ho Chi Minh wrote "Regarding the cause of building of socialism, we have plentiful of experiences from brother-countries, but we cannot implement those experiences mechanically because our country has its own characteristics. ⁶⁹ The experiences of the Soviet Union are valuable, but Ho Chi Minh reminded that "We cannot be like the Soviet Union, because the Soviet Union has different customs, different historical and geographical conditions... we can have other way to process to socialism." ⁷⁰

Thus, we can see that Ho Chi Minh had his own way of articulation of the essence of socialism, which is imbued with the specific feature of Eastern nations emphasizing mainly on the problem of people's livelihood, or as in Sun Yat-sen's term: that of livelihood of the people, the existence of society, the welfare of the nation and the life of the masses. While Sun Yat-sen claimed that the principle of people's livelihood is socialism and communism, Ho Chi Minh thought that

⁶⁷ Ibid., Vol. 5, p. 494.

⁶⁸ Ho Chi Minh, The Complete Works, Vol. 8, pp. 494-495.

⁶⁹ Ibid., p.499.

⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, p.227.

the goal of socialism is to resolve the problems of people's livelihood, bring welfare, freedom and happiness to the people.

Ho Chi Minh said that people are the root of revolution. He often reminded the cadres "to remember that people are the masters. People are water, we [cadres] are the fish. All our power and strength are relied on people." ⁷¹ "The government is people's servant. What government does is to achieve the only goal of bringing freedom and happiness to the people. Therefore, people's government must always give the highest priority to people's interests. We should do what is beneficial for the people and avoid what is harmful for the people." ⁷² The rights the Vietnamese gained are the right to live, the right to be happy and free. His only desire is "how to bring full freedom and independence to the people. And such kind of freedom and independence should be enjoyed by all the people like the way all creatures enjoy the light of the Sun." ⁷³

He affirmed, "I have only one desire, a most earnest desire – to achieve complete independence for our country, complete freedom for our people, and opportunities for all our countrymen to have adequate food and clothing and education. On my part, I need only a humble shelter, where there is green mountains and a river to fish and grow flowers so I can all day long befriend with old woodsmen and children and be far away from fame and wealth."⁷⁴

However, among the rights the people can enjoy, Ho Chi Minh paid particular attention to the right to live and the way to improve people's living standards. To the question "what is socialism?" Ho Chi Minh wrote "the goal of socialism is to improve constantly people's living standards." The policy of the Party and Government is to take utmost care of people's life "If the people suffer from hunger, the Party and Government are guilty; if the people do not have enough clothes, the Party and Government are guilty, if the people cannot have access to education the Party and Government are guilty, if the people are

⁷¹ Ho Chi Minh, *The Complete Works*, Vol. 4, p.101.

⁷² *Ibid.*, p.22.

⁷³ *Ibic.*, 4, p.45.

⁷⁴ *Ibid.*, Vol. 4, pp.161-162.

⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, Vol. 10, p.31.

sick, the Party and Government are guilty"⁷⁶ "What the Party struggles for? For people to have adequate food, shelter and be free. What every Party's member struggles for? For people to have food, shelter and be free too. What is socialism? People can have food, shelter, be happy and free."⁷⁷

Thus, socialism for Ho Chi Minh is first of all to deal with the problems of people's livelihood, or how to deal with the necessary needs of the people. Without proper solutions to those needs the construction of socialism is meaningless and the people will not care about socialism. As Ho Chi Minh said to the cadres "with an empty stomach people pay no attention to what you say, regardless of how attractively you may speak." The goal of socialism is to bring welfare, education and happiness to the people "Briefly and plainly speaking, socialism first of all is to liberate the working people from poverty, bring employment, welfare and happiness to the people."

While talking of socialism, Ho Chi Minh always stressed, first of all, the need to improve people's living standards and provide all people with adequate foods, shelter and education "To sum up, particular attention should be paid to the works that can promote material and spiritual life of the people." Ho Chi Minh affirmed that "we have gained independence and freedom but independence and freedom have no significance at all if our people still suffer from hunger and shortage. The people understand clearly the value of freedom and independence only when they are provided with adequate food and shelter."

Those thoughts of Ho Chi Minh have been inherited and further developed by the Communist Party of Vietnam, especially during the cause of country's renovation oriented towards the goal of "wealthy people, strong country and a just, democratic and civilized society."

From the above analysis we can affirm that Ho Chi Minh's thought is the selective acquirement and new development of many

⁷⁶ Ibid., Vol. 7, p.572.

⁷⁷ Ibid., Vol. 8, p.396.

⁷⁸ *Ibid.*, Vol. 8, p.411.

⁷⁹ *Ibid.*, Vol. 10, p.17.

⁸⁰ Ibid., Vol. 8, p.396.

⁸¹ Ibid.

heritages of thought in the culture of humanity. It was a specific process of acculturation contributing to form the originality in Ho Chi Minh's thought. We can track back in it the traditional values of our nation, which are patriotism, the spirit of tolerance, the sense of self-reliance and the spirit of solidarity. In comparison with many other thinkers in the national history, Ho Chi Minh also overcame narrow nationalism, acquired rational elements in the ethical teaching of Confucianism, Christ's altruism, the dialectical method of Marxism and Sun Yat-sen's Three Principles of the People.

Thanks to the acculturation different trends of thought in the spiritual heritage of humanity, Ho Chi Minh's thought has been the lodestar guiding Vietnam to gain national independence, unify the whole country and bring the life of freedom, well-being and happiness to the people. it also contributes to stabilize the world, develop friendship among nations and bring about social progress and common development for humanity.

Conclusion

The concept of good society in Vietnam today expresses the inheritance and development of the thoughts on good society in the history. It is a long process of acculturation done by different historical figures. The thought on good society from a Vietnamese perspective is expressed concisely in the goal of building a Vietnam with "wealthy people, strong country and a democratic, just, and civilized society" that the Vietnamese are striving for now. In order to achieve the goal, we need a strategy for sustainable development, which bases on the harmonious relations between different spheres, areas and elements of the social life.

On the Sustainability of Social Development in Vietnam

Today sustainable development has become one of theoretical and practical issues well-known to scholars and experts, and, at the same time, the much-discussed topic in various national and international conferences. Sustainable development also attracts much attention among different social strata. Sustainable development has become a prioritized aim and primary development strategy for most countries in the world.

Originally, the term 'sustainable development' came into existence in seventies of the last century and attracted the attention of international researchers working on the issues of environment and international development resulted in the work titled World Conservation Strategy (1980).82 Afterwards, the idea of sustainable development was addressed in the series of works including World Commission on Environment and Development. Our Common Future and Caring for the Earth: A Strategy for Sustainable Living.83 While mentioning about sustainable development people often use two definitions articulated in the above-mentioned books. In the book Our Common Future, sustainable development is defined as a development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. In the book Caring for the earth sustainable development is understood as improving the quality of human life while living within the carrying capacity of supporting eco-systems. Generally speaking, both these definitions place sustainable development within the rational utility of natural resources and protection of the environment in a way that guarantee the development of today's generation without the impact to the future of following generations.

⁸² IUCN, World Conservation Strategy: Living Resource Conservation for Sustainable Development (Gland, Switzerland: 1980).

⁸³ World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future (Oxford and New York: Oxford University Press, 1987); IUCN/UNEP/WWF, Caring for the Earth: A Strategy for Sustainable Living (Gland, Switzerland: 1991).

Thus, etymologically speaking, sustainable development is the development that guarantees economic growth on the basis of rational utilization of natural resources and environment protection in order to meet the need of the present generation without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their need. The essence of sustainable development is to give solution to the relation between economic growth and protection of natural environment as well as to guarantee justice between generations in utilization of natural resources and environmental protection. Therefore, the very notion of sustainable development implies harmony, the harmony between economic growth and environmental protection, the harmony between generations in utilization of natural resources and protection of the living environment. The contents of sustainable development are to reflect the relationships between man and nature, between man and man. This point can be seen as follows:

First, in order to develop its economy man has to exploit nature and utilize natural materials to satisfy his needs and those of the society. In the history of philosophy, there have existed two famous doctrines: The *Doctrine of Man Dominating, Mastering over Nature* (the main doctrine of Western philosophy) and the *Doctrine of Man Living in Dependence and Harmony with Nature* (the key doctrine of Eastern philosophy). Both doctrines contain positive values, and, at the same time, are not without some negative elements.

In fact, man can never dominate nature completely, and, at the same time, man cannot exist, not to mention develop, without exploiting and mastering the nature. In the first case, as Marx pointed out in his *Economic and Philosophical Manuscripts of 1844* that "Nature is man's inorganic body – nature, that is, insofar as it is not itself human body. Man lives on nature – means that nature is his body, with which he must remain in continuous interchange if he is not to die. That man's physical and spiritual life is linked to nature means simply that nature is linked to itself, for man is a part of nature." While recognizing and affirming the great power of man over nature, but with his dialectical materialist point of view and beyond-age vision Engels admitted that we cannot dominate nature like the way aggressors dominate a nation

⁸⁴ Marx and Engels, The Complete works, Vol. 42, p.135.

or a man who lives apart from nature. At the same time, he warned us that man should not be too proud over his victory over nature because every man's conquest of nature would in some near future bring about completely reverse results and unpredictable consequences. ⁸⁵ The development of history of humankind since the beginning of the industrial era has proved the correctness and scientific foundations of the founders of Marxism on that issue.

In the second case, unless man exploits and transforms nature, he can neither exist nor be able to escape from animal's world to become human in true sense. As we know, in front of the threat of depletion of natural resources and the crisis of the living environment, instead of looking for wiser resolutions to secure development, protect natural resources and improve the living environment, in recent years in some country around the world some groups of men wanted to restore the concepts of historical naturalism in extreme forms of primitive and wild forms of life. In essence, those were negative reactions of those who wanted to drive the history back to the dark era of humankind. The reactions reflect the impasse in conceptions and ways of life of some people encountering the situation of environmental degradation and devastation.

A correct and scientific view on development should be an integration of values, rational resolutions of drawbacks and contradictions of those two above-mentioned doctrines. The conception of sustainable development meets those pressing demands. In accordance with the conception of sustainable development, in order to exist and develop, man, from an economic point of view, has to exploit nature, but he/she should not do so arbitrarily and irresponsibly, instead he/ she should exploit nature rationally and responsibly in order to preserve nature from being destroyed. Nature should exist and develop together with the development of man and human society. In other words, sustainable development expresses a qualitatively new type of development present both in man's understanding and action. This is the exact type of development that is formed consciously on the basis of the grasp of objective and necessary laws of nature, in which man and human society are inseparable parts.

⁸⁵ Ibid., Vol. 42, p.654.

Second, sustainable development resolves harmonically relationships between man and man (the relationship between the present and future generations). According to the view of the sustainable development, the present generation could exploit nature in order to satisfy its needs. However, the present generation should exploit nature in such a way that natural resources should not be exhausted and could be re-generated so that future generations could continue to exploit nature to meet their own needs. The point expresses, on the on hand, the fairness between generations and responsibility of the present generation to future generations, and, on the other hand, the cultural and ethical attitude of the present generation towards future generations.

The above-mentioned contents express different relationships, the relationship between man and nature, and the relationship between man and man. However, they share the common point of expressing man's responsibility towards the environment – the common house and responsibility of every man towards humankind. This is the cultural content of sustainable development.

Thanks to its timely awareness of the significance and importance of sustainable development, Vietnam has talked about sustainable development since the eighties of the last century and sustainable development has become the strategic objective in Vietnam. The contents of the concept of sustainable development have been changed, supplemented and renovated.

Vietnam has intended to build and implement the strategy of fast and sustainable development, which should be suitable for the concrete conditions of Vietnam. The strategy of fast and sustainable development has been affirmed officially in the Documents of the Party's 9th Congress and supplemented and further developed in the Documents of the Party's 10th and 11th Congress.

While addressing the view of development, the Party 9th Congress pointed out clearly that the goal of the development is to reach "a fast, effective and sustainable development, economic growth should go hand in hand with progress, social justice and environmental protection "economic growth should be accompanied with the development of culture, the comprehensive development of man, gradual improvement of the spiritual and material life of the people, the

implementation of social progress and social justice, protection and improvement of the environment; socio-economic development should be combined with the enhancement of national defense and security."86

We can see that in the Documents of the Party's 9th Congress, apart from the idea that economic growth and environment protection should go hand in hand, the concept of sustainable development was supplemented with a new content: the combination between economic growth and the development of culture, the gradual improvement of the spiritual and material life of the people, the implementation of social progress and social justice, protection and improvement of the environment; the combination between socio-economic development and the enhancement of national defense and security. If in its original, "classic" meaning, the concept of sustainable development addresses mainly about the relationship between man and nature, and the relationship between man and man, in the Documents of the 9th National Congress of the Communist Party of Vietnam, apart from the relationship between man and nature, and the relationship between man and man, other social relationships like the relationship between economic and social sector, the relationship between culture and national defense and security.

Based on the summarization of the practice of national socio-economic development, the point has been further developed in the Party 10th Congress. The Communist Party of Vietnam pointed out five valuable lessons, among which the most important one was the lesson of sustainable development. The main contents of the lesson include the following key points:

Firstly, fast development should be accompanied with sustainability both in microcosmic and macrocosmic levels, short-term and long-term levels.

Secondly, quantitative growth should go hand in hand with qualitative improvement, the effectiveness and competitiveness of the economy.

⁸⁶ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 9th Party's Congress* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2001), pp.162,89.

Thirdly, the development should be wide in scope and deep in content; knowledge-based economy should be developed.

Fourthly, economic growth should be accompanied with the development of culture, the comprehensive development of man, realization of democracy, social progress and justice, creation of employment opportunities, improvement of the quality of life, encouragement of legally getting rich with reduction of poverty.

Fifthly, attention should be paid to the protection and improvement of the living environment in every step of development.

Sixthly, economic growth should be parallel to the guarantee of socio-political stability, which is the premise, condition for fast and sustainable development.⁸⁷

Together with the promotion of the national cause of industrialization and modernization, fast and sustainable development is a thorough view in the socio-economic development strategy of Vietnam at the present. The Party's 11th Congress, which was held in January 2011, stated clearly the point of view on national development for a new period, in which the Party affirmed that fast development in combination with sustainable development is the content of primary importance "sustainable development is the foundation for fast development, fast development is to create resources necessary for sustainable development. Fast development and sustainable development should be closely connected to the plans and policies of socio-economic development. Attention should be paid particularly to sociopolitical stability, national defense and security, steadfast protection of national independence, sovereignty, national unity and territorial integrity in order to secure the fast and sustainable development of the country."88

In the socio-economic development strategy for 2011-2020 adopted by the Party's 11th Congress the view on sustainable development continued to be concretized. The Party affirmed that the focus should be on the realization of the following tasks:

⁸⁷ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 10th Party's Congress*. (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2006), pp.178-179.

⁸⁸ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 11th Party's Congress* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2011), p.99.

First, it is steadfast to safeguard national independence, sovereignty, territorial integrity as well as guarantee political security and social order and safety, be active and proactive in international integration, and create peaceful and favorable conditions for the national development. This is the *most prerequisite condition* for the fast and sustainable development.

Second, it is necessary to secure the stability of the macro economy and the big balances of the economy, firmly ensure food security, energy and the secure and effective activity of financial institutions.

Third, all resources should be mobilized and utilized effectively in order to secure high growth rate as well as improve the quality of the growth.

Fourth, it is necessary to develop harmonically the cultural, social and economic sectors, constantly improve the spiritual and material life of the people, realize social progress and social justice in every step and every development policy. Social security and social welfare should be guaranteed gradually, equal opportunity in enjoyment of the achievements of the development, especially basic services and social welfare, should be created for all the people.

Fifth, the people's right of collective mastership should be constantly brought into play, democracy, especially direct democracy should be implemented, a consensus, open and solidary society should be built.

Sixth, economic growth should go hand in hand with the protection and improvement of the environment.

It could be said that the above-mentioned are basic contents in the fast and sustainable development strategy of Vietnam. This strategy expresses clearly the combination of the traditional and classic view with the new and specific view of Vietnam on development. Within the fast and sustainable development strategy of Vietnam we can see the following points:

First, the elements of socio-political stability, steadfast safeguard of national independence and territorial integrity, guarantee of political security, social order and safety, active and proactive international integration, the creation of peaceful and favorable conditions for the national development are most prerequisite condition for the fast and sustainable development. The political changes in some countries in

the world today show that we cannot talk about development, not to mention sustainable development, without socio-political stability, steadfast safeguard of national independence and maintenance of territorial integrity.

Second, the strategy of fast and sustainable development focuses on the enhancement of the quality of development, the combination between economic growth and the comprehensive development of man, realization of democracy, social progress and justice, creation of employment opportunities, improvement of the quality of life, encouragement of legally getting rich with reduction of poverty, the attention to the protection and improvement of environment in every step of development. In other words, the strategy of fast and sustainable development is oriented simultaneously to three aims of economic development, social development and protection of natural resources and the environment.

Third, the strategy of sustainable development of Vietnam addresses pretty comprehensively different aspects of development, including the noticeably harmonious solutions to relationship between fast and sustainable development, quantitative growth and qualitative improvement, development in scope and development in content; the harmony between economic development and dealing with social issues, economic growth and environmental protection. Harmony is, therefore, one of important contents of the strategy of sustainable development.

Fourth, the central issue, the key goal of the strategy of sustainable development is the issue of people's livelihood, which is expressed in the strategy we just mentioned above. The strategy of fast and sustainable development pays attention on the quality of economic development, orients to the comprehensive development of man, the realization of democracy, social progress and social justice, the creation of employment opportunities, improvement of the quality of life, encouragement of legally getting rich with reduction of poverty, the attention to the protection and improvement of environment in every step of development. Clearly, that goal, after all, is to solve better and better the issue of people's livelihood, guarantee a comfortable and happy life for the whole population. In the practice of Vietnam, the strategy of fast and sustainable development is the effective way to

guarantee country's socialistic-oriented development aiming at the goal of "wealthy people, strong country, just, democratic and civilized society."

In the Party's socio-economic development strategy for 2011-2020 the key aims on sustainability-oriented economic, cultural, social development as well as environmental protection were clearly mapped out. Thus, in the sphere of economy: the goal is to achieve the average GDP growth rate of 7-8% per year. The GDP of the year of 2020 will be 2.2 times to that of 2010. The average GDP per capita will be around 3,000 USD. The value of products of high technologies and the products of the implementation of high technologies will be around 45% in the total GDP. The reduction in energy consumption in GDP will be 2.5 to 3% per year. The economical utility of all resources, especially natural resources should be practiced. *In the sphere of culture and society:* a democratic, ordered, consensus, just and civilized society should be built. By the year of 2020 the human development index (HDI) of Vietnam will be that of the above-average group in the world, the population growth rate will be about 1% per year, life expectancy will be 75 on average; health insurance will be implemented for all people; the rate of trained laborers will be above 70%; the number of skilled workers will be 55% of the total labor force; the rate of poor households will be reduced by 1.5 to 2% per year; social welfare, social security and public health are guaranteed. Education and training, science and technology will be developed to meet the demands of the national cause of industrialization and modernization. An advanced culture imbued with national character will be built; happy, healthy and progressive family life is to be built; man will be given the chance to develop fully his intellectual, moral and physical potentials as well as his sense of citizenship and law compliance. In the sphere of environmental protection: the quality of the environment is to be improved. By the year of 2020 most of the population will have access to clean and sanitary water; newly established enterprises and production businesses must use clean technology or have environment friendly devices; over 80% of production and business enterprises will meet the required environmental standards. Heavy populated areas should be improved and renovated. Natural disasters are to be reduced. We should be proactive in dealing with the consequences of

climate change, especially the rising of sea water.⁸⁹ Those are concrete tasks to be accomplished in order to gradual implementation of the strategy of sustainable development in the beginning decades of the 21st century.

In a new context, in order to implement effectively the strategy of fast and sustainable development, we need to continue to create strong and sustainable changes in awareness, renovate strongly development thinking, grasp thoroughly all policies, plans, projects and action programs. It is necessary to implement in wide scope and at every level with the participation of all branches and levels, the consensus participation of the whole political system, communities of economic actors and all citizen.

⁸⁹ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 11th Party's Congress*, pp.103-106.

Part II Development in Vietnam: Some Socio-Political Issues

Socialist Model: Some Theoretical and Practical Issues

Implementing a Memorandum of Understanding signed on May 2008 in Hanoi between the Institute of Philosophy, Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences and the Marxism Academy, China Academy of Social Sciences and with the permission of the President of Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences, two of our Institutions organized the first Scientific Forum on Marxism "New Theoretical Contributions from Two Parties and Two Countries" in Beijing, China in 2009. In that conference, the scholars from Vietnam and China contributed to clarifying theoretical achievements of the cause of Reformation and Openness in China and the cause of Renovation in Vietnam. Scholars affirmed that the historically significant achievements of the cause of Reformation and Openness in China and the cause of Renovation in Vietnam are the results of the creative implementation of Marxism in concrete historical circumstances of each country by the two Parties and two countries. In order to achieve more success in the cause of reformation, openness and renovation, it is necessary to continue to supplement and develop further the principles of Marxism – Leninism. All kinds of mechanistic imitation and dogmatism are alien to the scientific and revolutionary essence of Marxism-Leninism.

While inheriting that spirit, as in accordance with the agreement reached by our two institutes, today in the beautiful beach of Doson, Haiphong Province, we will together continue to discuss and exchange our views on the issues raised and discussed two years ago. Today's Conference on the Models of Socialism: some theoretical and practical issues could be called the second Vietnam-China Scientific Forum on Marxism.

First of all, I would like to affirm that the topic of socialistic models had not been alien to the scholars of our two countries in the pre-reformation or pre-renovation period. In the past many scholars of our two countries had discussed much on different models of socialism. When the old model of socialism collapsed in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe, many scholars claimed that this was the

collapse of a concrete model of socialism but not the collapse of a scientific theoretical model of socialism nor even the collapse of the scientific theory of socialism.

The process of reformation, openness and renovation is the process of seeking a new model of socialism. Within that process, in the past only few people talked about socialistic models. However, in recent years, together with the great achievements of the cause of reformation, openness and renovation in the two countries, many scholars raise the issue of researching on a socialist model in each country. Some scholars mentioned about the development pattern of China (Is it the model and method of development?) in the previous conference and claimed that every country has its own pattern of development and Vietnam cannot learn anything from the development pattern of China.

It shows that the topic of today's conference – Socialist models: some theoretical and practical issues – is really a pressing and attractive topic, which contains many complicated theoretical issues, new aspects. Thus, this conference is really the continuation of the discussion of issues raised in the first forum in China. Within the scope of a scientific conference, we surely cannot resolve all the raised issues. Therefore, this conference should be seen as a starting point for a long-term research and collaboration program between our two institutes as well as with other partners in the future. In this spirit, in our view, we should concentrate on the following issues in this conference:

First, theoretical and methodological issues of the research on socialist model. Within this part we will discuss together the questions relating to the development model of socialism, different types of socialist models, the differences and similarities between theoretical and practical models of socialism, the types of socialist models in the past.

Second, the main contents of the general model of socialism that Vietnam and China have been building.

In recent years, while talking about Vietnam's socialist model, some scholars affirm that the socialist model was described in the platform for national construction in the transition period towards socialism and was adopted in the 7th National Congress in 1991. This model was supplemented and developed further in the 8th, 9th, 10th and

11th National Congresses of the Communist Party of Vietnam. In the platform for national construction in the transition period towards socialism (supplemented and developed in 2011) the socialist model was generalized with either most basic and core features. According to that model, a socialist society that the Vietnamese are building is a society:

- 1. Of wealthy people, a strong country, democratic, just and civilized society.
 - 2. In which the people are masters.
- 3. With a highly developed economy based on modern productive forces and adequate and progressive production relations.
- 4. With an advanced culture imbued deeply with national identity.
- 5. In which man has a happy, free and well-off life and can have chance to develop comprehensively.
- 6. In which nationalities of Vietnamese community are equal, unified, respectful and helpful to one another to co-develop.
- 7. With a socialist rule-of-law state of the people, by the people and for the people under the leadership of the Communist Party.
- 8. To have relationship and cooperation with other countries in the world. 90

The question is: Is it a general model of socialism that the Vietnamese will build? If we reduce the model of socialism to above-mentioned features, will there be other characteristics (beside the above-mentioned)? As the features of the socialism in Vietnam have been changed and supplemented many times, what are the issues that should be further discussed?

In the China case, after 30 of reformation and openness, the Communist Party of China affirms that China is realizing China's policy of Sinicization of Marxism. Within that policy, China will build a socialism with Chinese characteristics. Thus, is the socialism with Chinese characteristics the socialist model of China? What are its main

⁹⁰ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the Party 11th National Congress*, p.70.

features? What are the creative innovations of the Communist Party of China in comparison with Marxism in its designing the socialism with Chinese characteristics? We would like Chinese scholars to focus on and clarify those important theoretical issues.

Third, the model of development in concrete areas. Society, in a generalized sense, consists of different areas, such as economic, political, cultural, social. The question is: apart from a general model of socialism, are there development models in every concrete area? We would raise that question because in recent years in Vietnam many scholars raise the question of researching political model, economic model, social model and cultural model for Vietnam. If that way of approaching makes sense, what are the concrete contents of development models in every area?

Fourth, in recent years, within the course of renovation, under the leadership of the Lao People's Revolutionary Party, Lao People's Democratic Republic has achieved great successes. The Lao People's Revolutionary Party affirms that the development path of Laos is to build a people's democratic regime and prepare necessary premises to advance towards socialism. Thus, what are the contents of the model of a people's democratic regime? and what is the relationship between a people's democratic regime and socialism? Those are theoretical and practical issues of concern in this Conference.

In the case of Vietnam, the cause of comprehensive renovation and socialist-oriented national development has been continuously and extensively being carried out. While looking back into the cause of renovation in the recent past, the 11th National Congress of the Communist Party of Vietnam confirms "The achievements of the last 20 years are of great and historical significance. We have realized successfully the first period of the cause of renovation, pulled the country out of its state of underdevelopment, brought many positive changes in the life of the people, strengthened comprehensively national power, reinforced our national independence, sovereignty and socialist regime, improved significantly the status and authority of Vietnam in the world arena and created premises for the country to continue to develop stronger and more sustainable in a new period. However, our country still faces many serious and complicated challenges, which

cannot be ignored."⁹¹ Therefore, it is of great importance and necessity to research to clarify theoretical and practical issues of socialism and the way to socialism, the improvement of the socialist model that we have been building. As the researchers engaging in theoretical research, we should contribute actively and concretely to the common cause of the all-Party and the all-people in order to construct successfully a Vietnam with "wealthy people, strong, democratic, just and civilized country."

⁹¹ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the Party 11th National Congress*, p.9.

Socialist Model in Vietnam: Some Concerned Issues

In the years of the pre-renovation period people in Vietnam and other socialist countries often mentioned about the concept of socialist model. At that time the socialist model of the Soviet Union and Eastern European countries became an ideal model for developing nations to admire and strive for. However, at the beginning of the 1990s, after the collapse of the Soviet Unions and socialist countries in Eastern Europe, Marxist theorists in Vietnam analysed the objective and subjective causes of the collapse and came to conclusion that that was the collapse of a concrete model of socialism but not the collapse of the scientific theory of socialism. For a period of about 20 years, people talked less about socialist model. However, in recent years with the successes of the Cause of Renovation, Marxist scholars in Vietnam have been reposing the question of socialist model. So what are the characteristics of the Vietnamese socialist model?

First of all, in order to understand about socialist model, we need to clarify the concept of social development model.

Social development model is a concept to indicate the subjects of social activities, that use methods and resources in order to achieve development goals in the practice of social development. It is a most general concept on the goal and the way or method to realize the process of transformation and change a society from a low level of development to a high level of development.

Generally speaking, social development model includes the following main aspects: First, from the aspect of essence, social development model is the unity between development goal and the way of its realization; Second, from the aspect of content, social development model is an organic whole of development models in concrete spheres of the social life, such as economic development model, political development model, social development model and cultural development model; Third, from the formal aspect, social development model varies in its manifestation depending on political, economic, social and cultural conditions of specific nations states.

In reality, the world has evidenced two most typical social development models, which had realized and come into being parallelly: the capitalist model and the socialist model. However, within each model there exist different concrete types. For example, within the capitalist model, apart from the most general characteristics distinguishing it from the socialist model, we can list some concrete types of that model as follows:

First, the capitalist model of the traditional Europe. It is the model of some developed nations in Western Europe with the goal of attaching social development to the development of productive forces. The basic feature of that model consists in: The development of social market economy, the attention to the importance on the vision and the regulation of the state towards economic development, the healthy and stable operation of the economy, emphasis on just market, priority on construction of social welfare.

Second, the American model of free market economy. The foundation of that model is the priority given to the regularization of market but with the acceptance of macro regulation, including the interferance of the state and regulation of the government. The characteristic feature of that model is to emphasise on the proactiveness and interest in protection of private business, and therefore the subjects of that model are under the control and influence of private sectors, sometimes is manipulated by the private, at the same time the state has the duty to serve the development of private economy.

Third, the goverment-led model in Japan. The specific feature of that model is to take market regulation as a premise, on the basis of which emphasis is put on the role of the goverment on leadership and guideline of the economy. The distinction of that model in comparision with that of other developed countries can be seen in the two following points: First, the goverment plays an important role in the operation of the economy; Second, the democratic character of decision-makings can be seen in that all decisions are made publicly with the consideration of public opinions and guarantee of the interests of all concerned parties. Basically all decisions are made with the consideration of the interests of the nation, state and democracy.

Fourth, the East Asian model. In economic terms, this model is to give priority to the view on economic development in order to build the country to the path of economic prioritization, utilize exportoriented strategy; at the same time to maintain market economy under the leadership of the state. In political terms, this model uses the political regime based on authoritarianism and at the same time uses the method of governance through the talented people and laws, promotes the gradual process of democratization. The executive branch plays a leading role in the relation between executive and judicial branches of those countries following that model. In fact, the executive branch even plays decisive role in legislation and judicial processes.

Socialist model; Socialist mode; Socialist pattern is the concept to indicate the various types and forms of socialism practised in different countries in the world. It means that those countries, in their course of constructing socialism, have their own forms, methods and ways. Due to economic, political, social and cultural differences as well as differences in population, natural conditions, there exist different socialist models in different countries and even within a country there have been different forms with various characteristics of socialism in different period of its development. Based on its concrete practical conditions each socialist country proposes its specific goals and methods of development in different concrete periods of its development.

Socialist model can be understood both in a broad and narrow sense. In a broad sense, socialist model includes a whole of thoughts, concepts on goals, methods and ways towards socialism in general. In a narrow sense, socialist model includes a whole of theories, views on goals, methods and ways towards socialism within a period, a concrete historical circumstance of a country.

In recent years there have existed various socialist models which could be generalized into two typical forms as follows:

First, the socialist model of the Soviet Union (the reprerentative of the countries of Eastern Europe). In this socialist model we can see two distinctive periods: Lenin's period and Stalin's period. The Lenin's socialist model contains following features: First, the state, in the name of the society, directly owns and utilizes means of production; Second, the state decides development plans, controls the process of production and distribution of pruducts of the whole society, all working people work together, share and enjoy common labor's criteria and conditions; Third, the cause of national construction is

converted into a top-down managerment mechanism. Before the emergence of the Soviet Union all socialist models proposed by the utopists of the 16 century or the scientific socialism of Marx and Engels had not yet been realized. The Soviet socialist model was the socialist model, which had been realized for the first time.

The Stalin's highly centralized socialist model (or highly centralized model) includes following typical features: First, the implementation of unitary common ownership and elimination of all other sectors; Second, the construction of a barter economy but not market economy, the highly centralized model was used in order to manage the economy; Third, the dictatorship of the proletariat was implemented in the political life with the view that the driving force of the socialist society was the struggle between the proletariat and bourgeoisie class. This socialist model contained the characteristics of war's time, which was based on the theoretical principle and ideal of revolution.

Second, the Chinese socialist model. The Chinese socialist model can also be divided into two periods: the Mao Tse Tung period and the period of reformation and openness. First, the Mao Tse Tung socialist model is the socialist model of highly centralized planning and administrative regime. That model was able to create some specific features of socialism with Chinese color but it was under some influence of the old Soviet Union socialist model and could not overcome the framework of the old Soviet Union socialist model, especially in terms of economic development. Second, the current socialist model with Chinese characteristics is the model of social development closely attached to Deng Xiao Ping theory of three represents the view on scientific development. The focus of that model is the strong renovation in thought, concentration of resources for economic growth, or as Chinese scholars call, the development of productive forces. One of the most important theoretical breakthroughs of Deng Xiao Ping was the establisment of the theory of socialist market economy. That establishment was a breakthrough not only in the theory of traditional planning economy, the very theory that denies good-exchange relation, money and the role of market economy, but also a breakthrough in the theory of traditional market economy that regards market regulation is the matter within private ownership. After Deng Xiao

Ping theory and Jang Zemin thought of three represents, the Hu Jin Tao thought on harmonious society is considered as a new development in the awarness of socialism and the way toward socialism in China.

The basic contents of the view on a harmonious society can be seen in four following features: First, "the harmonious society is the essential attribute of the Socialism with Chinese characteristics, the most important guarantee of the country's prosperity, national rejuvenation and the people's happiness; Second, the harmonious society is the continuous aim of the Communist Party of China and all its people; Third, the construction of the harmonious society is the uninterrupted process of harmonization of social contradictions; Fourth, a socialist harmonious society is a harmonious society constructed by all the people together and be enjoyed by all the people together. The current socialist model with Chinese characteristics has achieved great successes and is recognized by the world.

Apart from the two above-mentioned models, there exists a model of the "third way" in the context of economic globalization, which attracts much attention. The model of the "third way" contains the following key contents: First, the balance between the influence of market and the regulation of the state is the principle for constructing a new economy; Second, the balance between rights and duties is the principle for building a new welfare system; Third, the balance between economic efficiency and social justice is the principle to propose new policies; Fourth, the balance between nationalism and internationalism is the principle for implementing foreign policies.

At the moment, there has yet not been a rigorous theoretical system on the model of the "third way." The "third way" emerges due to the practical conditions of capitalism during the process of globalization, left parties in the West have to propose solutions to deal with actual problems of capitalism. It reflects the phenomenon and left-oriented tendencies of the form of political consciousness of the countries in the West. In its essence, it is a political compromise between liberal capitalism and democratic socialism, an ideological movement of capitalism going beyond both the right and the left in the context of globalization in order to overcome its inner problems. Though that model contains some new features and contents, but in its essence, it

bases on the premise of protection of capitalism, focuses on the adjustment of the method of management and governance of the country.

As far as Vietnam is concerned, in the past we often talked about the socialist model we would like to build, which was similar to the socialist model of the Soviet Union and the countries of Eastern Europe. This was the socialist model based on characteristics proposed by Marx and Engels and implemented by Stalin. However, after the collapse of the real socialism in the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe, Vietnam has proactively carried out the cause of national comprehensive renovation and has been gradually perfecting a new socialist model with certain goals and means to achieve these goals. Based on the Documents of the Communist Party of Vietnam, especially the Documents of the11th National Congress of the Communist Party of Vietnam, we can outline the Vietnamese socialist model with following main contents:

First, the overall goal, which expresses the essence of the socialist society the Vietnamese are building, is to build a Vietnam with "weal-thy people, strong, democratic, just and civilized country."

Second, this goal is concretized through a series of basic features in all spheres of the social life. This is a society:

- 1. In which the people are masters.
- 2. With a highly developed economy based on modern productive forces and adequate and progressive production relations.
- 3. With an advanced culture imbued deeply with national identity.
- 4. In which man has a happy, free and well-off life and can have chance to develop comprehensively.
- 5. In which nationalities of Vietnam community are equal, unified, respectful and helpful to one another to co-develop.
- 6. With a socialist rule-of-law state of the people, by the people and for the people under the leadership of the Communist Party.
- 7. To have relationship and cooperation with countries in the world.

Those specific features express comprehensively the basic characteristics of various spheres of a society: From political to economic,

cultural, social and sphere of international affairs. Those features are the inheritance and continuation of the view of the Party stated in the 10^{th} Party's Congress and at the same time with supplementations and new developments to make them appropriate to a new practice.

However, in our view, there are two points which are expressed more concrete and better in the Documents of the 10th Congress than in that of the 11th Congress:

First, while talking about economic characteristic, the 11th Congress affirms "a highly developed economy based on modern productive forces and progressive and appropriate production relations" in comparison with the 10th Congress the adjective progressive was added.⁹² It is necessary to explain further what progressive production relations are.

Second, on the characteristics man, the 11th Congress clearly indicates that the society we are building is the one in which man has a happy, free and well-off life and can have chance to develop comprehensively. In comparison with the 10th Congress the clause (man) "is liberated from unjust oppression" was left out. This way of expression may be shortened but seems not to be logical with the indication about the shortcomings of capitalism mentioned in the Platform for national construction in the transition period towards socialism (supplemented and developed in 2011). When evaluating on capitalism, the Platform writes: The capitalism has potentials for further development, but in its essence, it remains a regime based on exploitation, oppression and injustice. 93 Capitalism will certainly be replaced and humanity will certainly advance to Socialism. Thus, a new society replacing capitalism will necessarily be better than capitalism, i.e. in which there will be no more exploitation, oppression and injustice. Therefore, the clause (man) "is liberated from unjust oppression" is necessary and appropriate to the evaluation mentioned in the Platform.

⁹² The 10th Congress stated, "A highly developed economy based on modern productive forces and production relations appropriate to the level of development of productive forces. In our view, that is clear and precise."

⁹³ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 11th National Congress*, p. 68.

The question is: Is it a general model of socialism the Vietnamese will build? If we reduce the model of socialism to the above-mentioned features, will there be other characteristics (beside the above-mentioned)? As the features of the socialism in Vietnam have been changed and supplemented many times, what are issues that should be further discussed?

Third, Society, in a generalized sense, consists of different areas, such as economic, political, cultural, social. The question is: Apart from a general model of socialism, are there development models in every concrete area? We would raise that question because in recent years in Vietnam many scholars raise the question of researching political model, economic model, social model and cultural model for Vietnam. For example, many economists confirm that a general economic model in the transitional period in Vietnam is a socialist-oriented market economy. If that way of approach makes sense, what are concrete contents of development models in every area? Can we talk that the Vietnamese socialist model is the model that combines growth with gradual solution to the problems relating to social progress and social justice, the issues of social welfare.

In our view, those issues and problems should be theoretically and practically explored and clarified further. This is a quite normal thing because cognition is a process. The very finding of new issues and problems and adequate solutions to deal with them will contribute importantly to shape more precisely the socialist model in Vietnam and then to orient successfully the cause of building of socialism in Vietnam.

The Relationship between the Market Economy and Socialism from the Perspective of the Dialectics of the Evolution of History and Some Characteristics of the Socialist-Oriented Market Economy in Vietnam

1. According to Marx, the evolution of history is a natural historical process, in conformation to objective and natural laws. The development of human society has undergone five socio-economic formations in which a high socio-economic formation is the inheritance and development of a lower socio-economic formation. Thus, the development of human society progresses from low to high, from lesser to higher perfection. So far, humanity has witnessed the birth and reciprocal replacement of four socio-economic formations: Primitive communism, slavery, feudalism, capitalism, and the birth of a new socio-economic formation, communism whose early stage is socialism as a formation that inherits the essence of capitalism and has higher development than capitalist society.

The historical development of human society has witnessed socio-economic formations which produce no commodities and have no market economy. The development of commodity economy and market economy is also a process following rules of development from low to high, from lesser to higher perfection, associated with the development of socio-economic formations. In such logic of history, market economy is an achievement of the mankind, which has reached high and perfect level in capitalism. The market economy has fostered the replacement of feudal socio-economic formation with capitalist socio-economic formation. Considering capitalist socio-economic formation, the market economy has also experienced the development process from low to high, from lesser to higher perfection. Market economy forms are also diversified, with such forms as free market economy, social market economy, etc.

Considering the dialectical aspect of historical development, market economy and socio-economic formations are parallel, of the same direction and meet each other in capitalism. Both capitalism and market economy are the objective products of history, and the achievements of human civilization. Marx once said that, humanity was suffering because of capitalism, but rather humanity would suffer more if there were no capitalism. Market economy promotes capitalism, but also makes it reveal contradictions to resolve, in order to continue growing. In fact, capitalism has constantly self-adjusted to adapt to, and fit the new historical conditions.

Theoretically, according to Marx's view, socialism is a continuance of capitalism, which is of higher level than capitalism. Capitalism has made full facilities preparation for socialism. Socialism and capitalism have no difference in terms of material facilities and economic base. The difference between socialism and capitalism is expressed only in the *superstructure*. The market economy has a positive contribution to constructing and developing material facilities for capitalism and thus, also contributing to preparing facilities for socialism. With such a logic, it can be asserted that, without market economy, there would be no capitalism and accordingly, no socialism, a society born later and having higher development than capitalism. The question is whether market economy exists in socialism?

Theoretically, two different perspectives revolve around this issue. In Engel's view, as there is no private ownership of means of production in socialism, there would be no production of commodity and thus, no market economy. Contrary to Engel's views, production of goods still exists in socialism. So far, no socialism has been born from a highly developed capitalist country, so it is difficult to assert with certainty and persuasion whether socialism contains production of commodity or not.

In fact, in developed capitalist countries, the working class represented by its vanguard Party has not won the government. The working class has taken power and held social leadership in pre-capitalist countries, or a bit higher than that, in average capitalist countries. After seizing power, these countries do not use, but ignore market economy, which results from human civilization, and serves as one of effective measures to develop productive forces. As a consequence,

good ideas about a future society just remain ideals which cannot be realized in practice due to too weak economic base. Such desirable social policies of the humanity cannot come to real life. In addition, the fierce ideological struggle between two factions, the socialist camp and the capitalist camp, plus the misconception that regards socialism a society totally different from capitalism, that sees everything belonging to capitalism or used by capitalism cannot be used in socialism, have resulted in the fact that the idea of using market economy cannot exist in the countries following socialism for decades.

Even Lenin, who soon realized the defects of the central planning bureaucracy mechanism, as well as the important role of market economy, was somewhat subjective, impatient when predicting that Russia could be developed after several years without the use of a market economy. It is noteworthy that, decades after Lenin's mistakes in Communism-in-war policy, his changes in New Economic Policies (NEP) were not recognized by socialist countries. Only after the collapse of socialism in the USSR and Eastern Europe, could market economy have its position and confirm its role in a number of countries following socialism, such as Vietnam and China.

The development practices and classic theories of Marx all confirm the necessity and popularity of market economy in the development of every nation and country. Therefore, for countries that have not experienced market economy, to solve development problems, they must first develop a market economy in the true sense; create favorable conditions to promote the potentials of the market for the development, so as to achieve maximum economic efficiency. Only on this basis, considering strategic objectives, can they escape backwardness, and have physical, spiritual conditions to meet social and humane objectives.

From the logical reasoning and historical practices in the past years, it can be asserted that, the market economy has been identified as an essential step, so it has popularity. The development of market economy is an inevitable mode to build socialism, especially for countries on the path to socialism but not undergoing capitalist development stage, such as Vietnam and China. The question in Vietnam today is not whether to develop market economy, but what features this market economy should have.

2. When referring to a market economy, people often mention its basic elements, including: 1/ The existence of independent owners; 2/ Markets existing in sync with the corresponding institutions; 3/ A pricing system decided by the supply-demand relationship of the market; 4/ Free competition that works as the basic principle of market economy; 5/ The State having an important role.

However, the ways of development of market economy are much diversified, not following a uniform pattern. The reality has shown that plans and patterns of economic development are particular, depending on the historical conditions and specific circumstances of each country and nation. A country going after others should not rigidly and dogmatically apply theoretical principles of market economy; nor apply a stereotyped economic model available somewhere in the market, though that model may be effective in a particular country, to solve peculiar development problems of that country.

The existence and development history of world's market economy models has confirmed that, market economy models are always adjusted in this direction: 1/ Social-human objectives receive increaseing emphasis; 2/ The State's role in directing, organizing and regulating development is acknowledged.

Until the late 70s of the twentieth century, the market economy only existed in capitalism with two main forms: Free market economy model and social-market economy model. Currently, in addition to these two major forms, there are socialist-oriented market economy (in Vietnam) and socialist market economy (in China).

Although socialist-oriented market economy was born just nearly a quarter of a century ago, the appearance of this model has proven its vitality as an objective necessity of the time; simultaneously, it also affirms the necessity and popularity of market economy as a compulsory stage in the historical development of all economies.

However, socialist-oriented market economy, which was established not long ago, is still in the process of testing, shaping the structure and nature. As a result, no solid factual basis is available for a theoretical system of socialist-oriented market economy with complete and rigorous logical content.

The concept of "socialist-oriented market economy" was confirmed in the Congress IX of the Communist Party of Vietnam in 2001.

This is the result of 15 years of innovative thinking and practices in our country, summed up on the basis of review, evaluation and lessons drawing at Party Congresses, and continually developed through Congress X and Congress XI of the Party. At Party Congress XI, the Party declared: "Continuing to improve the institution of socialist-oriented market economy is an important prerequisite for accelerating the process of restructuring the economy, renovating growth model, stabilizing macro-economy; is one of three strategic breakthroughs in the next 10 years." ⁹⁴

In the documents of the Party, the basic characteristics of socialist-oriented market economy in Vietnam are presented relatively specifically. Speaking broadly, a socialist-oriented market economy is characterized, "that is a multi-sector economy, operating according to the market mechanism involved the management of the State, under the leadership of the Communist Party; it both follows the rules of a market economy, and is led, governed by the principles and essence of socialism." It is expressed specifically in the following points:

First, market economy is the economic basis for the society to proceed on the path to socialism in Vietnam. Practices of the world and Vietnam in recent years have demonstrated that no economy other than market economy can take the role as the economic basis for social development generally and socialism building particularly. That also confirms, by real practices in Vietnam, the classic tenet of Marx on the role of market economy in human evolution as presented above.

Second, the socialist orientation in socio-economic development requires that the development of market economy in our country is for building a society with "rich people, strong country, democratic, just and civilized society; owned by the people; highly developed economy based on modern productive forces and progressive, appropriate production relations." The goal of "rich people, a strong country" can only be achieved when the productive forces are developed. The development of market economy is the basis and prerequisite for productive forces development, and economic growth. However, the

⁹⁴ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *Documents of National Party Congress XI* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2011), p.34.

⁹⁵ Ibid.

⁹⁶ *Ibid.*, p.70.

socialist orientation is shown not only in the goal of developing productive forces in response to the need of economic growth, but also in the goal of tackling social problems, first and foremost in promoting social progress and justice. Economic growth and assurance of social progress and justice are two contents of rapid, efficient, stable growth of our country. Socialist orientation requires the assurance of economic growth, of social progress and justice; as well as the unity and organic combination of economic growth with social progress and justice at all development stages of market economy in our country. Economic growth and social, cultural, educational development, for the objective of cultivating humans, are the constituent contents of the rapid, efficient, modern, stable development during the transition into socialist-oriented market economy in Vietnam.

Third, one of the basic elements of a market economy, as discussed above, is the existence of independent owners in various economic sectors and forms of ownership. Similarly, the socialist-oriented market economy in Vietnam is a mixed economy, which includes various economic sectors and forms of ownership coexisting in a unified whole. Forms of ownership in the socialist-oriented market economy are based on two major forms: Public ownership (public property) and private ownership (private property). Mixed ownership, which is formed based on the mixture of different types of ownership, results from the cooperation, joint venture between different owners, namely the State, collectives (groups) and private owners. The fact that public ownership has increasingly become solid foundation, while other types of ownership have been in a strong, unrestricted, interwoven development, abiding by the laws, should be considered as the basic type of economy during the socialist-oriented development stage of our country.

Previously, as per traditional views, the forms of ownership were unique: State-owned, collective or private. After over 25 years' innovation, a mixed economy has gradually been formed and is thriving; equitization is gradually becoming a major organizational form of public ownership economy. Therefore, public property includes not only unique state ownership and collective ownership, but also the part of state ownership and collective ownership in the mixed economy. Likewise, private ownership includes not only unique private

ownership, but also private ownership in the mixed economy. In the process of developing socialist-oriented market economy in our country, the unique form of public ownership tends to decrease but the fundamental meaning of public ownership is increasingly being fortified and strengthened in key areas, as indicated in:

- The capital of the publicly owned economy (including state economy, collective economy and the part of public ownership in the mixed economy) still plays an important role in the total social investment.
 - State economy holds key positions in the economy.

An objective requirement of the market and the market economy is to confirm and define ownership as monetary forms over assets, capital, intellect contributed to business, in order to quantify the ownership of each owner. There is no general, derelict ownership, nor equal ownership for everyone in the socialist-oriented market economy.

Fourth, regarding the equality between economic sectors. It can be said that, the clarification of the nature and economic model of the country during the transitional period to socialism, and no formal affirmation of the leading role of state economy are regarded innovative points of the Draft amendments to the 1992 Constitution compared with the 1992 Constitution. Based on the Platform for national construction in the transitional period to socialism (supplemented and developed in 2011), Article 54 in the Draft amendments to the 1992 Constitution states: "1/ Vietnam's economy is a socialist-oriented market economy with various types of ownership and many economic sectors. 2/ Economic sectors are all important components of the national economy, with longterm development, equal and competitive cooperation under the laws."

Meanwhile, Article 19 in the 1992 Constitution highlights, the state economy, which has been strengthened and developed especially in key sectors, plays a main role, and along with collective economy, becomes the solid foundation of the national economy. While in the 1992 Constitution, the state economy was determined to keep the leading role, the Draft Amendments of the 1992 Constitution does

not mention the key role of the state economy. Specifically, Section 2, Article 54 of the Draft Amendments of the 1992 Constitution states: Economic sectors are all important components of the national economy, with longterm development, equal and competitive cooperation under the laws. Compared with the 1992 Constitution, this is a new point, confirming different economic sectors all have equal roles, and are important components of the national economy; no economic sector is presumed to play the key, fundamental role in the national economy.

The reality of many past years shows that a series of state corporations, despite enjoying more favorable conditions than those in other economic sectors, have suffered deterioration, stagnation, even on the verge of bankruptcy due to corruption, wastefulness, poor management. Some ideas consider the state economy as a giant who can only rely on the state budget, but without effectiveness. On the contrary, despite facing great difficulties, many enterprises from other economic sectors have been struggling to survive the regional and global economic and financial crises.

Therefore, it can be said that, the confirmation that our national economy consists of various forms of ownership, without voluntarily identifying which one is the mainstream, fundamental component economy in the national economy, in our opinion, is correct. That is because this first shows the equality between economic sectors. All economic sectors are under the control of the socialist Government, and all aim at developing the national economy; therefore, they should be treated equally. The private sector in a socialist-oriented market economy is different from the private sector in a capitalist market economy in its goals and direction of development. If any economic sector in a multi-sector economy is defined to play a key role, or mainstay role, then there can be no equality among economic sectors. In other words, the stipulation on equality is then merely formalism. In fact, in the past years, despite receiving numerous incentives, the state economy has proved less efficient. Meanwhile, the private sector and other economic sectors, which have been growing strongly, and making great contributions to the economy, have not yet received adequate attention. Therefore, the stipulation on equality among economic sectors within the same legal framework will create better changes in the country's economy, producing more material wealth, employment, contribution to the budget. Our goal now, economically, is to liberate productive forces, promote economic growth, as well as rapid and sustainable development. Therefore, it is necessary to create a levelled playing field for all economic sectors to reveal their intrinsic capacities, and thereby contributing more to the society.

When questioned whether the state economy holds a major role or not, Le Dang Doanh says, only Vietnam views that the state economy plays a major role. He says that state-owned enterprises should have fair competition, as indulged children are more likely to become spoiled, that trees living in glass houses cannot withstand hurricanes. Only when they are left to live in a normal environment, subject to the winds of competition, and striving for the better, can state-owned businesses operate more effectively. Nevertheless, the process of support reduction should be scheduled carefully, as they cannot stand immediate cut-off. The weaning to a child cannot occur overnight; likewise, the reduction should be done gradually to have a more competitive environment.

There are also ideas that, if the state economy is not confirmed to hold the key role, our country's development towards socialism cannot be ensured. In our opinion, the assurance for the country's development towards socialism does not rely on the stipulation that the state economy plays a key role, but on its effectiveness. Just like before, right in the period of central planning bureaucratic economy, when there existed only two forms of ownership, state ownership and collective ownership, we had no socialism and stayed at an even farther distance from the socialist goals than we are now today. Consequently, despite being labeled "to have a key role" but always remaining in weakness, sluggishness, unsteady development, or operating inefficiently, the state economy is unlikely to ensure the country's socialist-oriented development. Moreover, if we do not change our mindset, the view that "state economy keeping the leading role" will be no different from the misleading viewpoint some time

⁹⁷ In fact, in the Documents of the Communist Party of China, the state economy is still holding the leading role; but many Chinese economists supporting this view argue that they are not certain how long this view will be maintained in the Documents of the Communist Party of China.

ago that "relations of production can go ahead, paving the way for the development of productive forces," and it is very likely that subjective, voluntarist mistakes are repeated.

The question now is how to promote the controlling and managing role of the State through a regulatory system of policies and legislation. *Fifth,* promoting economic growth as well as ensuring justice. Social justice is a historical economic, political, ethical, legal category that reflects the relations between individuals, between individuals and communities, between a community with other communities to ensure the living conditions, development opportunities; in the implementation of obligations and enjoyment of benefits at a level corresponding to certain social development.

Among the factors affecting social justice, economic development has a special role. As the basis of society, the economy regulates social justice in the sense that, after all, a certain economic development level defines a certain level of social justice. Naturally, in reality, an affluent society will not be able to eliminate injustice, exploitation absolutely; but in a poor, less developed society, injustice and exploitation will surely occur sooner or later. As a consequence, economic development and high total social product are conditions for the implementation of social justice. In turn, social justice can act as a condition for economic growth. As the implementation of social justice attaches the laborer's interests with the social production system, their activeness will, thereby, be aroused during their labor and production activities.

The transformation into market economy acknowledges the existence of various forms of ownership and different economic sectors. However, the coexistence of private ownership and other types of ownership surely results in conflicts. If private ownership receives the same treatment as to public ownership and collective ownership, there are healthy economic relations, and uncomplicated administrative procedures so as to avoid monopoly and privileges, economic sectors are all equal, then the mutual interaction and support between economic sectors will motivate economic development.

The question put forward is economic growth must aim at social justice. Otherwise, not only socialist orientation for the country's development cannot be realized, economic growth will also not be steady. At the same time, social justice must also facilitate economic

development. The dialectical relationship between economic growth and social justice, as the Party Congress X points out, requires "the implementation of social progress and justice must be done right in each step and in each development policy; economic growth must go hand in hand with the development of culture, health care, education; all social problems must be solved for the goal of human development. The distribution is done primarily according to labor, economic efficiency, capital contribution and other resources through social welfare."

Sixth, income distribution is done primarily according to business efficiency and labor productivity; distribution can also be based on capital, property, intellect contribution, and social welfare.

Labor is the main source of material and spiritual wealth for the society, thus creating the country's wealth. To implement justice, on the one hand, distribution based on production and business efficiency must be defined as the primary type of distribution. Laborers with high productivity, quality and efficiency must have higher incomes. On the other hand, a favorable environment should be created for everyone to get rich with their own labor. Therefore, expanding everyone's opportunities for self-development and increasing their capacity of choosing opportunities so as for them gradually to live well both materially and spiritually, are a goal, a natural feature of the socialist-oriented market economy development in our country today.

Incomes gained from capital, property and intellect contribution to production and business are the distribution forms acknowledged by law. Only on this, it can encourage people to get rich justifiably. Increasing the number of rich people, reducing the number of poor people, eliminating famine, decreasing the rich-poor gap, are the key objectives in both the income distribution and redistribution policies of the Government in the development of socialist-oriented market economy in Vietnam.

Seventh, the State's role in the socialist-oriented market economy. Two factors determining the operating mechanism of the market economy are the State and the market. For this reason, in the discussion of the effectiveness of the market economy, it is essential to clearly define the status of this relationship. As soon as capitalism began, economists mentioned the need to combine the invisible hand of the

market and the visible hand of civil society. In fact, whether following a free market economy model or a social market model, the state has always played a very important role. The main question is how the state can intervene effectively. A loosely controlled management by the state will let the dark side of the market negatively impact on the social life; in contrast, the state's deep intervention will cause economic stagnation and poor development. To determine the reasonable intervention in the market by the state is a scientific issue, which reflects the art of management.

For a socialist-oriented market economy, the State has an extremely significant role. If we cannot clarify the operation mechanism of the economy, what the State does, what and how the market does, we cannot have an effectively operating market economy.

Unlike the State of many other market economies in the world, our country has a socialist rule-of-law State of the people, by the people, and for the people under the leadership of the Communist Party of Vietnam, who has enough bravery and self-renewal ability to sustain the socialist orientation in developing a modern market economy. That difference is the conditions and prerequisites for the difference in quality of the market economy model intended by our country, compared with other market economy models. To fulfill the mission entrusted by the history and people of Vietnam, the Party and State have to renovate their way of leadership and management of the country and society in the context of market economy, industrialization, modernization, proactive integration into world economy under the impact of globalization.

In fact, Vietnam is still a developing country. It is necessary to implement strategic objectives at the same time, such as ensuring economic growth, implementing social progress and justice, as well as protecting the ecological environment, which do not always go in the same direction. However, these goals must be attained and thus, the State has a particularly important role. Obviously, there must be the State's intervention and regulation in the economy to ensure economic growth on a large scale, the natural and social environment protected and developed. Particularly, the State should intervene in distribution relations to ensure resources distribution, first distribution and re-

distribution in such a way that attaches economic growth with social progress and justice.

Above mentioned are some basic characteristics of the socialistoriented market economy in Vietnam. These characteristics reflect both the popularity and the peculiarities in the development model adopted by Vietnam.

The Development of Science and Technology as the Key for Realizing the Fast and Sustainable Development Strategy in Vietnam Today⁹⁸

In the process of leading the cause of building and safeguarding a Vietnamese Socialist Homeland, especially since the start of a comprehensive reform of the country, the Communist Party of Vietnam (CPV) has grasped steadfastly and deeply the position and role of science and technology for the socio-economic development, concurrently always attaches much importance to and creates the favourable conditions for developing the country's science and technology. When being still alive, President Ho Chi Minh ever emphasized that we must advance socialism, build and develop a national economy with modern industry and agriculture based on a state of the art science and technology.

The viewpoint to consider science and technology as the foremost national policy, the key role in the cause of building and safeguarding Homeland, and the foundation and motivation for industrialization, modernization, fast and sustainable development was expressed, asserted, and grasped thoroughly in many documents of the Central Committee's, and in the Party's ones of renovation period as well. The reality has shown that before the Resolution on "The strategical Orientation of developing science and technology by the year 2020 and the task by the year 2000" to be promulgated, CPV had issued some resolutions about science and technology such as Resolution 37 of Politburo (4th term), Resolution 26 of Politburo (6th term), Resolution 01 of Politburo and Central Resolution (7th term).

In the 7th National Party Congress, CPV set forth an important line about implementing industrialization, modernization for devel-

⁹⁸ Co-authored with Nguyen Dinh Hoa, the Vice Chief Editor in charge of the Journal *Philosophy*, the Institute of Philosophy, Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences

oping the country's socio-economy. The core of industrialization and modernization, according to the Party's viewpoint, is the process of changing radically and comprehensively the production, business, service, socio-economic management from using mainly manual labor into using widely skilled labor, state of the art technology, and the modern methods to create a highly social labor productivity. The development experiences of countries on the world as well as Vietnam proved that science and technology is one of the indispensable resources of the socio-economic development process, especially for the developing countries like Vietnam. The very important role of science and technology, from aspect of economic development, exposes on some essential following aspects: rapidly to develop production forces for economic growth fast and sustainably; to intensify the process of changing economic structure towards the modern industrialization and social labor restructure; to enhance the knowledge content and the competitive capacity of products in the context of a developing market economy and international economic integration.

Basing on summarizing the reality, examining situation of scientific-technological development, pointing out the strengths as well as the weaknesses in sciences and technology after 10 years implementing the Party's renovation policy, the 2nd Conference of Party's Central Committee (8th term) in 1996 issued the Resolution on: "The strategical Orientation of developing science and technology by the year 2020 and the task by the year 2000." This was the first time Central Committee of CPV issued a resolution for developing sciences and technologies only, which created a new motivation and momentum encouraging all Party and people to move on science and technology.

The 2nd Resolution of Party's Central Committee (8th term) clarified three essential directions, that is: *First*, creatively applying and developing Marxism-Leninism, Ho Chi Minh's thought, inheriting the nation's traditional cultural values, acquiring the intellectual quintessence of humankind, building, developing, and improving system of theories about the road to socialism of Vietnam; providing the scientific grounds for supplementing, perfecting guidelines and policies of the Party and Government to build successfully and to defend firmly a socialist Vietnam. *Second*, it must speed up researching and applying the scientific-technological achievements in all indus-

tries, such as production, business, service, management, and security-defense, to improve technological levels of nation. Rapidly. Treasuring theoretical researches, mastering and improving the imported technologies, going up creating more new technologies in the decisive phase of the development of the country in the 21st century. Third, enhancing the endogenous ability; building and developing potential of the country's science and technology: Training, cultivating, using the class of scientific research workers, for the gradual promotion of a modern science and technology of Vietnam which has ability enough to solve most of the key issues emerging in the process of industrialization and modernization. Concurrently, the 2nd Resolution of Party's Central Committee (8th term) also defined duties of science and technology including social sciences and humanities, natural sciences, technical sciences and technologies; especially, having defined the goals and the duties of scientific-technological development by the 2000. It can be asserted that the 2nd Resolution of the Party's Central Committee (8th term) oriented and made out an important foundation for the movement and development of Vietnam's science and technology, gradually raising the motive role of science and technology for the socio-economic development in the period of speeding up industrialization and modernization.

After realizing the 2nd resolution of the Party in 16 years, science and technology of Vietnam have attained some important achievements, contributing practically to the socio-economic development, ensuring the national defense and security, improving social security and quality of life of the people, taking Vietnam from a less developed nation into the average-income ones.

The socio-economic structure of Vietnam, in general, has contributed significantly in promotion of socio-economic development through transferring, developing and applying scientific technology in earlier stage of development. The proportion of industry and service sector has increased while the proportion of agriculture had decreased gradually in ratio in the total economy. Further, some high and advanced level technological industries have been established step by step. This is the change suitable to the goals of the industrialization and modernization process, as well as the development tendency of the modern economy. The acquirement and application of

the state of the art technologies to the important economic field such as the oil and gas exploration, information and communication technology, construction, shipbuilding and other sectors have contributed remarkably in the improvement of the country's economy; from there having made a strong foundation to the process of industrialization and modernization, concurrently enhancing the quality of socioeconomic development, improving the people's living standard. Another important achievement is the transferring and applying of the science and the state of the art technology of the world helped us to exploit and use natural resources more effectively and economically, while improving the working environment, the level and skills of labor forces in many industries, as well as the management level of executives, to promote the scientific-technological research activities in domestic arena.

In last 25 years Vietnam attained miraculous achievements in almost every sphere and the credit for which goes to the policy of renovation in general, and science and technology in particular. Due to mastering the advanced technology and science, it not only achieved around development but also went up to the level of various leading countries. We may cite the ship building industry as an example. Further, thanks to making new varieties through bio-technology, the cultivating process also improved and as a result Vietnam became one of the largest exporters of rice, cashew nuts, coffee etc.

However, while reviewing the defined goals and objects as compared with international level, we find that the development of science and technology as the first national policy is not adequate enough and is yet to become a driving force in promoting the process of industrialization and modernization. Though there a large number of researchers the quality of their work is not up to the mark. Comparing with the development level of many countries in the world and in the same region, Vietnam's scientific-technological level is still low and backward. The number of Vietnam's scientific technological research works published in the international scientific reviews, is still very few. The number of the inventions and solutions which are certificated protection, is very few; the number of works, which have great significance for the socio-economic development, is very few as well. The rate of advanced technologies and equipment is

very low; the mechanizing and automating level of the economy is still limited; the level of consuming natural resources such as energy, raw materials etc. is rather high. According to the appreciation of many scientists, the devices and technologies of Vietnam is outdated from 2 to 5 generations in comparison with the international level.

Many concrete guidelines, viewpoints of the Party about science and technology mentioned in the Central Conferences and Party's documents are too slowly institutionalized by Government, and not realized seriously and effectively yet. Some economic policies viz. the policies of taxation, finance, export and import, managing finance mechanism in scientific research activities are not really adequate and do not encourage or provide favorable conditions for the investments of the corporations and organizations towards development of science and technology. There still lacks a healthy environment for the scientific-technological investment and competition. Education and training needs qualitative change drastically, especially in building and cultivating the high quality human resource. There still remain many shortcomings in the governmental management for technoscientific activities. The policies that support and favor people engaged in science and technology are unsatisfactory and their creativity lies unutilized properly. All the above-mentioned reasons have been the barriers for the development of science and technology in Vietnam.

The first scientific-technological achievements after 16 years of implementing the 2nd Resolution of Party's Central Committee (8th term) should be raised to a new level. The shortcomings in perceiving, steering, guiding, and realizing and managing earlier scientific activities should be solved urgently through drastic and feasible solutions.

History of industrialization in second half of 20th century proved that "by and on science and technology," only after some decades, a less-developed country with the average income of 200-300USD per capita rapidly became a developed one with the average income 20.000-30.000USD per capita. It can be said that, the scientific and technological revolution in the context of globalization and international integration has made extremely favorable conditions especially for the developing countries to step up the process of industrialization and modernization, rapidly to minimize the gap from the developed ones.

According to the scientists' forecast, in the coming years, the strong development prospective will belong to the nations that are applying well the science and technology potentials.

Earlier, owing to valuing successes and exploring effectively the achievements of techno-scientific revolution, the advantages of technology transfer have enabled many developing areas to considerably lessened the time involved for industrialization and modernization. The historical reality related to this showed that, in terms of the duration, England/ United Kingdom - the first country of the world, took 120 years to finish industrialization; USA/America and the Western Europe had taken 60 years. Meanwhile, by taking the advantage of the following the countries' industrialization, and using thoroughly the achievements of the modern techno-scientific revolution, the Asian dragons (South Korea, Singapore, Thailand, etc.) have become industrialized modern nations only a shorter time of around 30 years. With current fast pace and the widely influencing scale, hopefully the techno-scientific revolution can help many countries to cut down the time for industrialization and modernization. This is really an extremely important opportunity, which if any nation grabs it may have a great development.

The development reality of Vietnam during the earlier days has exposed that the growth model based-on capital growth, cheap labor, and unrenewable natural resources is no longer appropriate and firm enough to lead the economy in the new context. During the last over 25 years' renovation, Vietnam has attained the great achievements, especially in economic development. The economic growth rate of Vietnam is higher than any of the previous times and to be sorted into the group of economies which have the highest annual growth rate during the past 25 years of renovation. According to per capita GDP, Vietnam passed the poverty rate in order to get into the group of lower middle-income countries. Vietnam's poverty-alleviation achievements are considered rather impressively. These achievements are partly because of Vietnam's selected growth model suitable to the context and the real conditions. However, after effectuating renovation policy, in a span of twenty-five years, with the changes in internal and external conditions, some weak points of this growth model have been revealed hindering the growth. Reviewing the economic development

of the country during past years, it can be seen clearly that Vietnam's economic growth currently still depends heavily on the investment capital. In this case, if it wants to retain a high growth rate, it must continually increase the capital which comes from the accumulated capital or borrowed from other countries. However, Vietnam still is a poor country with a low accumulative reserve for the expanded reproduction and a low saving, so it is difficult to increase capital from the domestic resources. If it wants to increase capital resource, Vietnam must rely on the foreign capital resources more. But in the context of the international economic crisis currently, especially the financial and public-debt crisis, both the FDI capital and others are limited and sustainable (because of being borrowed), at the same time implicating the unsafe factors and risks, besides Vietnam's economic growth does not rely much on knowledge, techno-sciences. The knowledge-economy index is still very low, does not reach the world's middle level. According to the World Bank's estimating method, Vietnam's knowledge economy Index is 3.02 in 2008, ranked 102nd among 133 nations. The index of Vietnam is higher than one of the low-income group of countries but is much lower than one of the lower-middle-income group of countries. In comparison to the countries in the region, the Vietnam's knowledge-economy index is not equal to one-half of the index of NIC's group (South Korea, Singapore, Taiwan, Hong Kong), and much lower than that of Malaysia, Thailand, China, and Philippines.

Moreover, the situation of high inflation, high interest rate, and high surplus of imports over exports, causes the stable level of macroeconomy to be less firm, the trust of investors in bussiness environment, and the trust of society in value of currency also declines. Although Vietnam's labour productivity has increased considerably, on an average it is 4.8% per one year. But while comparing to some countries in the region, with level of the current labour productivity, Vietnam still lags behind. (the current China's labour productivity is higher 2.6 times, and Thailand is 4.3 times). In recent sessions of the Party Congresses, while appreciating and evaluating the economic development quality, CPV clarified that Vietnam's economy has reached a good growth level but in totality, it *is not really sustainable and its competitive power is still low.* The economic growth is only in width, but

does not develop the comparative-edge. The effective use of invested capital, especially the state capital is very low. The renewing technological speed of industries is much slower than the countries in the region and in the world; the scientific content in each product unit is quite low.

Thus, in order to avoid the risk of backward and to escape "middle-income trap," at the same time to reach the level of developed countries, Vietnam should not purchase the growth models which are old, less developed, less effective, and unsustainable. In other words, it is the time when Vietnam has to regulate its growth model fitting to the new context, namely the fast and sustainable economic development. The present growth model of many developed countries is closely connected to sustainable growth to the renovation of economic structure, especially the renovation in depth. Factually, many nations are turning towords developing the industries, fields which produce the high technological content products, save energy and natural resource, friendly to environment, develop services and a high qualitative human resource.

In order possibly to renovate the growth model, to restructure economy towards the quality, effectivity, and to enhance the competitive capacity for the fast and sustainable development, there is no way but by and on science and technology, high qualitative human resource, and developing knowledge economy. Reviewing 25 years of renovation, 20 years of realizing the 1991 Platform, and 10 years of implementing the socio-economic development strategy (2001-2010), it can be seen that growth and development during recent years firstly and mainly based-on the "untiedness," breaking down the barriers, releasing productive forces, reforming mechanism. In other words, we concentrated solving all the difficulties needed to be solved, and the growth as the result of these endevours also reached its threshold. It means that it is the time we have to make the breakthrough in scientific and technological dvelopment. If this can not be realized, it is very difficult to carry out an economic development "fast and sustainably," even it can be lagged and declined considerably. Thus, only basing on science and advanced technology we can get an in depth economic growth to ensure the fast and sustainable development of the country.

It is essential to have suitable measures to effectively promote activities in research, implementation and application of science and technology, specially the top national policy of science and technology. In other words, for science and technology to develop properly, to act as a driving force for the industrialization and modernization of the country by shortening the way, to contribute to the construction and protection of socialist Viet Nam, we need to develop science and technology as one of the important internal forces. Besides, we also need a sound direction for the development of science and technology in accordance with the modern science and technological revolution, globalization, and international integration in order to narrow the gap step by step not only in the region but also in the field between our country and others in the world.

The Congress XI of Communist Party set the objective of "turning our country into a modern, industrialized one by 2020." There is not much time left to meet the deadline for this objective, as well as for the requirement of adopting a new growth model, and reconstructing the economy. In the Documents of the National Party Congress XI, the important position and role of science and technology in the construction and development of the country was once again emphasized. The Party clearly indicated: "Strongly developing the productive forces to match the increasingly advanced science and technology level"99 is one of 5 development points in Socio-economic development Strategy 2011-2020; to consider "...a tight combination between human resource development and science-technology development and application"100 is a vital part in the content of 3 strategic break through. Regarding the major directional points of development, from the aspect of science and technology, the Communist Party of Viet Nam asserted: "Science and technology holds a key role in expanding modern productive forces, protecting natural resources and environment, increasing productivity, quality, effectiveness, and developing speed and competitiveness of the economy. Science and technological development is aimed at boosting the industrialization and modernization of a country, promoting knowledge-based economy, to catch

⁹⁹ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 11th Party's Congress*, p.30.

¹⁰⁰ *Ibid.*, p.32.

up with the world's advanced level. Comprehensive development of science and technology must be attached with the development of culture and rise of people's intellectual standards. There should be more and effective use of science and technological potentials of the country, effective study and application of scientific achievements and modern technologies in the world. Simultaneously we also need to focus on establishing approaches and policies that encourage creativity, employ talents, and enhance the application of science and technology."¹⁰¹

In the intermediate future, to make science and technology a key driving force for the rapid and firm development, Congress XI affirmed: "Focusing Science and technological activities on contributing to the industrialization and modernization, and in-depth development. Quick increase of science and technological capacity with focus on the encouragement of strong innovations, comprehensive development of the organization and management schemes for science and technology. Promote the role and effectiveness of major science and technological organizations in the implementation of key science and technological tasks... Expand science and technological companies, technology innovating funds, and venture capital funds. Establish training policies, attract and well treat science-technology talents. Apply democratic rules, respect and encourage intellectual's freedom of thinking in researching. Boost up the research, implementation and application of technology; properly and comprehensively develop social sciences, natural sciences, technical and technological sciences..."102 These are the Party's strategic guidelines, which provide orientations for science and technological development in the upcoming period.

Development "based on science and technology" in our country is completely new a development mode, with little practical experience. However, in the present context, only science and technology can force Vietnam to have a leap forward. To overcome this challenge, a brainpower mobilization of the Central Committee of the Communist Party is needed to establish and issue a *new thematic resolution* on

¹⁰¹ Ibid., p.78

¹⁰² *Ibid.*, pp.132-135.

science and technological development in the context of market economy and international integration, as well as the contribution of the whole political system, the committed support and participation of officers, Party members, people of all class throughout the country, especially of the science and technological class.

Our goal, as pointed out by the Communist Party of Vietnam, is to lead the country to socialism despite a long time under great challenges, to build Vietnam with "rich people, strong nation, democratic, fair, civilized society." Once the goal is determined, the task is to decide the method and its arrangement to realize it. Science and technological development is the way, method, measure to boost the rapid, firm development directed towards the above overall goal asserted by the Communist Party of Vietnam. The release of a new Central Resolution on science and technological development will be the starting step, which forms the basis and direction for the development of science and technology – the key to performing the quick, firm development strategy of our country currently.

Human Development within Vietnam's Strategy of Sustainable Development

In order to overcome paradoxes, shortcomings and negative outcomes of development based on an outdated concept, which identified development with pure economic growth, today most of the countries in the world choose sustainable development as their way of growth They use planning and implementations strategies that are attentive to sustainable development based on their concrete historical conditions. Within that general trend, Vietnam has affirmed and gradually implemented its own strategy of sustainable development. We can say that the sustainable development in Vietnam is ultimately human development – the very development of man, for man and by man.

The concept of *sustainable development* came into existence in early years of 1980s and became popular in 1987. Thus, sustainable development is generally defined as development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. ¹⁰³ This is the development that guarantees the close and harmonious combination between three aspects of development: economic development, social development and environmental protection.

For the last two decades, throughout the world the issue of sustainable development has received special attention and became a global development demand. Sustainable development has become one of the much-discussed topics in different national and international conferences at all levels.

In Vietnam the view on sustainable development was perceived and expressed very early in the official documents and resolutions of the Communist Party of Vietnam, especially since the beginning of the cause of Renovation in Vietnam. As early as in 1991 the Communist Party of Vietnam emphasized in the *Socio-Economic Development Stra-*

 $^{^{\}rm 103}$ Brundtland Report by World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED).

tegy for 1991-2000 adopted at the 7th Party's Congress that economic growth should be accompanied with social justice, social progress, cultural development and environmental protection. The 8th Party's Congress (1996) highlighted the lesson that "economic growth closely links with social justice, social progress, the preservation and development of national culture and the protection of the environment. In the Socio-Economic Development Strategy for 1991-2000 adopted at the 9th Party's Congress in 2001 the Communist Party of Vietnam affirmed "to develop rapidly, effectively and sustainably, economic growth associates with social justice, social progress and the protection of the environment." The 10th Party's Congress in 2006 continued to emphasize the lesson of rapid and sustainable development. In addition to contents on socio-economic development and environment, it also added the requirements for comprehensive human development and practicing democracy. Besides, the Congress defined the general objective of the 2006-2010 five-year plan as "Further promoting both rapid, quality and sustainable economic development and human development."

We can see that during its 11th Party's Congress the Communist Party of Vietnam stated clearly in the *Socio-Economic Development Strategy for 2011-2020* that "rapid development must be closely attached to sustainable development, which is the throughout demand of the Strategy." This demand encompasses such key factors as "developing sustainably the economy... Economic growth must harmoniously associate with social justice and progress, constantly improving the quality of people's life. Socio-economic development goes hand in hand with environment protection and improvement." Among those contents of sustainable development outlined by the Party, there are two important points related directly to human development:

First, the economic development must harmoniously associate with cultural and social development, the constant improvement of the quality of people's life, the realization of social progress and social justice in every step and every guideline of development. Culture is considered as the spiritual foundation of the society, the constituting factor of stable and long-lasting value and particular national character of a nation. Culture operates as a mighty social driving force and penetrates into development process. The development of each era in

each nation is imbued with cultural character. Based on cultural foundation, human not only handles the relations with fellow-creatures and natural environment in the present life, but also solves the relations with future generations in the course of development. In this sense, culture is both the result of rapid and sustainable development and the solid foundation for rapid and sustainable development. Cultural development should be put into equal-footing to and harmonious relationship with economic development. Efforts should be spared for developing healthy life, lifestyle and cultural environment. Promoting all cultural aspects so as to enhance good values of the nation and absorb cultural quintessence of mankind and make it both the spiritual foundation of society and driving force of development.

Practicing social justice and social progress is an important content of sustainable development. It is also the norm reflecting the nature of our regime. Serious inequity and polarization create social conflicts in a number of countries in the world and erode the growth. The Vietnam intends to realize social justice and social progress in each policy and stage of development. Vietnam has been focusing on poverty reduction, diversifying resources and mode of implementation so as to sustainably reduce poverty. People are encouraged to get rich legally, and at the same time the polarization is limited through income distribution policies and the development of open and effective social security and social welfare systems. Vietnam continues to streamline the mechanism of distribution at business entities and salary and wage policy in order to ensure equity of interests which, in turn, acts as the driving force for socio-economic development.

Additionally, Vietnam pays particular attention to the cause of development of education and training, especially tertiary and vocational training, in order to turn out an appropriate structure of quality labor force in response to the need of the restructuring of the economy and transformation of growth model, strongly enhancing medical services and promoting health care activities directing resolutely and comprehensively, and mobilizing the strength of entire political system to attain solid and apparent changes in the fight against corruption, social evils and traffic accidents.

Second, the mastership of the people is to be brought into full play, democracy, especially direct democracy, is to be practiced widely, an open and consensus society is to be fostered.

Practicing democracy is a constituent of sustainable development, and was stated clearly by the Party at the 10th Party Congress. Practicing democracy is to multiply the contents of sustainable development. It is stemming from a very important stance which considers human is both aim and subject of the development. Human resources are a longterm competitive advantage and decisive factor to the development of a nation. Widely practicing democracy will promote the creativity of individuals which contributes to the rapid and sustainable development of our country. Thus, this higher type of democracy with the deeper social consensus and the great national unity is further fortified.

In order to bring democracy into full play and make it become resources for development, two conditions should be satisfied: first, creating equal opportunity for everybody to learn and build a learning society in order to raise people's knowledge; second, practicing mastership of the people through institutional settings necessary for insuring democracy in all facets of social life and expanding direct democracy. Democracy is closely linked with discipline and laws.

Thus, the standpoint on sustainable development with concrete contents has been perceived and reflected very early by the Party and Government. Sustainable development has become a consistent policy in the leadership and governance of the process of national development in recent decades. Both within international and national level, the Government of Vietnam has strongly committed to implement sustainable development as well as to link sustainable development with all-round development of man and consider human development is both the aim and driving force of the socio-economic development.¹⁰⁴

¹⁰⁴ Goverment's decision number 153 in 2004 on The Orientation of the Strategy of Sustainable Development in Vietnam, the Establishiment of the National Coucil for Sustainable Development, The Project on Implementation of the 21 Agenda, The Goals of Minennium, and other offical documents.

The issue is why does Vietnam pay special attention to the role of man and the policy of human development in the Strategy of sustainable development?

In the history of economics, some pre-Marxist bourgeois economists, for example Adam Smith, regarded labor as the source of all wealth. In his *Dialectics of Nature*, Engels affirmed that labor could be the source of wealth but labor alone cannot be sufficient for the generation of all wealth. Labor in combination with the nature, which supplies materials for labor, could generate all wealth. ¹⁰⁵ Therefore, the statement that man has a decisive role in creation of wealth does not mean to isolate man from natural and other resources. On the contrary, man should be put into relationships with all available resources. Thus, man plays his role both as the subject as well as the object of socio-economic processes.

In his relations to natural and other resources man acts as the subject of exploitation and utilization. Natural and other resources themselves cannot take part in socio-economic processes; therefore, cannot be the driving forces for socio-economic development. The role of driving force always belongs to man. Man itself with his strength and intellect is the decisive factor for the effectiveness of exploitation and utilization of natural and other resources. This is the very dialects between man and resources.

The reality shows that thanks to advantages of geographical conditions, richness of natural resources as well as the right way to explore those advantages, some countries in the region and in the world have become rich nations with high-growth rate economies. On the contrary, as examples we can list many cases, in which man faces serious and unpredictable environmental and ecological disasters due to his irrational and unaware exploitation of natural resources for the sake of pure economic benefits.

Man, not only plays a decisive role in the effective exploitation and utilization of natural and other resources but also contributes to regenerate new resources. This relates to the inheritance between different generations in the course of development of human societies.

¹⁰⁵ Marx and Engels, *The Complete Works*, Vol. 20, p.641.

Each generation inherits resources left by previous generations and at the same time creates new resources for future generations.

Today, almost all countries in the world are well aware and declare war against the negative results brought about by the development based on the old view on growth. However, fine intentions are not the real mechanism to prevent futureless growth. The complexities of the current globalization process, the interference and manipulation of the rich nations, the lack of many kinds of resources prevalent in slow-developed economies, the prevalent situation of corruption in some countries always cause serious threats for economies oriented towards sustainable development. Being well aware of that point, the Communist Party of Vietnam affirms that "the building and development of the economy must have a cultural aim and orient toward a just and civilized society and man's comprehensive development. Culture is the result of economic development and, at the same time, a driving force of economic development. All components should be closely linked to the life and activity of the society in all spheres of politics, economy, laws, disciplines in order to become the most important inner resources of development."

As a subject, man not only decides the efficiency of the exploitation and utilization of presently, available natural and other resources but also contributes importantly to sustainable development in the future.

As an object, man becomes the object of exploitation, utilization, investment and development. While talking about the role of human resources as the object of exploitation and utilization, people often mention the inexhaustible character of human resources. In recent decades scientists and policy-makers in all countries worldwide have come to realize that natural resources, regardless of how rich they may be, will be exhausted under the exploitation of human beings and only human resources are unlimited and non-exhaustible.

While discussing about human resources, scholars often talk about their qualitative and quantitative aspects. The quantity of human resources is labor force and labor force availability for socio-economic development. Indexes of the quantity of human resources of a nation are its population, population growth rate, average life expectancy, population structure such as the proportion of working-

age population and number of non-working population etc. The quantity of human resources plays an important role in socio-economic development. The non-correlation between the quantity of human resources and development will impact negatively on socio-economic development. Some countries, especially the developing ones, suffer from the excess of labor forces and therefore in those countries employment becomes a pressing issue. Unemployment brings many negative effects and becomes one of the causes of crimes in some societies. By contrast, in some countries with high growth rate of development, there is high demand for labor force, especially seasonal labor force, low-skilled labor force or labor force in those industries that local workers decline to take. Those countries have to import labor forces from other nations, especially from developing ones. The import of labor force helps the imported countries to deal with the demand for labor force but on the other hand, it creates some changes in their social life.

However, the most important element in human resources is not quantity but quality of human resources. The latter is a decisive factor for socio-economic development as well as the cause of industrialization and modernization. Quality of human resources means the intellectual component of human resources or "laborers with high intelligence, high skills, good moral qualities, who have been educated and promoted by an advanced education linked closely to modern science and technology." The limitless and exhaustible character of human resources means the intellectual component of human resources. Alvin Toffler, an American futurist, claims that while all-natural resources may be exploited to exhaustion, human intelligence will never be exhausted and "knowledge can be endlessly taken."

Because of the importance of intelligence and knowledge, most countries in the world today strive to enhance the intellectual content of their labor forces. Education and training play very important role in enhancing the knowledge component within labor forces. Historical experiences have shown that no country or nation in the world can become rich and have a high economic growth rate without universalizing general school education. Newly-industrialized countries like Singapore and South Korea, who reached a high economic growth

rate in 1970s and 1980s, had universalized general school education before their economic take-off.

On the other hand, empirical researches in recent years have shown that capital investment plays only small role in economic growth. The quality of labor force plays a decisive role in the value of surplus products. Moreover, in the era of scientific and technological revolutions, information and knowledge become the core components of the whole modern system.

Vietnam at the moment is classified into the group of developing countries. If we take the time when countries have started the period of industrialization as starting point for comparison, there is a fact that natural resources of developing countries are poorer than that of the developed countries. Vietnam is just within that common case. While being not really rich in natural resources and also affected heavily by wars as well as mistakes of the old mechanism, in order to carry out the strategy of rapid and sustainable development, Vietnam has no other choice than to uphold and utilize properly the role of human resources. This is the very way to bring into full play the country's inner resources in order to accomplish successfully the national strategy of fast and sustainable development.

Over the last 10 years of implementing the strategy of fast and sustainable development, Vietnam has achieved very important and impressive outcomes in human development.

The average economic growth was about 7.3%/year¹⁰⁶ which was one of those highest growth rates of countries in the region. Average GDP per capita in 2010 is about USD 1,200 which surpasses threshold of low income developing countries. Material and spiritual life of people has considerably improved. Real average income per capita has increased about 2.3-fold over the last 10 years. Poverty reduction has attained outstanding outcomes which is highly appreciated by the international community. The income gap between urban and rural areas decreased from 2.3 times in 1999 to 2 times in 2008. Children have been given due care and protection. The percentage of malnourished children under 5 years old decreased from 33.8% to less than 18%. Average life-span of the people increased from 67 to 72-year-old. Lower secondary education has been universalized across

_

¹⁰⁶ In 2010 GDP was 6.5% while the average GDP for 2001-2010 was 7.2%.

the country. Our human development index (HDI) has unceasingly increased. Its 2008 index was 0.733 which fell into the upper average nations in the world. The level of cultural appreciation and access to information by the people has apparently increased. Social security and social welfare have been given prior importance and gradually expanded. Besides great results in socializing the development of social sectors, state budget financing for these sectors has constantly increased. Medical insurance coverage has been expanded from 13.4% in 2000 up to 62% in 2010. Gender equity posted various progress, the ratio of women holding position of parliament members and important responsibility in the political system has increased. In 2008, Vietnam accomplished most of millennium goals set forth for the year of 2015.

Democracy in the society has continuously expanded, the society becomes more open and consensus; the defense and security are stably maintained; our political and social life remain stable. There have been more positive changes in the face of the country; the position and status of Vietnam in the international arena have improved and heightened; many positive premises for fast and sustainable development have been created for improving the quality of the people.

Besides the aforesaid results, however, there exists a number of weaknesses and mismatch. Achievement attained do not match with potentiality. In the area of culture and society, there are a number of pending matters and pressing issues that prolong in some aspects. Social evils tend to increase. Traffic jam and accidents are at a serious level. Corruption is yet pushed back. Quality of education and training, especially at tertiary education and vocational training are poor and need to be improved. Hospitals are too crowded with low quality medical services. The above-mentioned limitation and weaknesses partly stem from objective reasons while subjective factors act as the main cause, such sustainable development has not been fully perceived and accordingly specified consistently in policies, programming, planning and regulatory tools. In management and operation, it is biased on growth rate without giving due consideration to quality and sustainability of the development. Drastic changes are not seen in resolution of pressing social problems. The process of programming

and planning, the formulation of socio-economic development projects and construction thereof, the implementation of environment protection policy have not been closely incorporated and coordinated. There has been no apparent and effective mechanism of management and supervision of sustainable development. The mastership of the people, especially the direct democracy, has not been brought into full play.

The national cause of socialistic-oriented renovation, building and development in Vietnam under the leadership of the Communist Party of Vietnam has undergone the path of more than a quarter of a century. Since then Vietnam has made many great and historically significant achievements in all areas of the social life. The standpoint of rapid and sustainable development has been implemented steadfastly, especially in respect to human development. Man has been posited into the central position, both as the aim and the driving force of the socio-economic development. We can say that in Vietnam today, sustainable development aims for no other target than human development, improvement of the quality of human life; in its turn, human development serves as the basis and most solid foundation for the implementation of sustainable development. This is the dialectics of development in the modern society.

Part III Development in Vietnam: Some Socio-Economic Issues

The Views of Some Economic Theories on the Economic Crisis of Capitalism and Some Lessons for Vietnam¹⁰⁷

The recent world economic crisis, which is widely recognized as the worst economic downturn since the 1930s and one of the greatest assaults on global economic stability, makes people rethink about the mechanism of capitalistic market economy in particular and the nature of capitalism and its legitimacy in general. Neo-liberalism as an ideology based on economic liberalism has been seriously challenged. People are questioning the real nature of capitalism, whether the project of global capitalism is realistic and whether capitalism is the only system (model) of sustainable development. In order to address those questions in this article we would like to focus on the brief analysis of the views presented in the economic theories of Neo-liberalism, Keynes and Marx on the economic crisis of capitalism as well as the solutions suggested by those theories. We also would like to point out some methodological recommendations for the development of socialistic-oriented market economy in Vietnam.

Neo-liberalism, Keynes and Marx on the Economic Crisis of Capitalism

We know that Neo-liberalism is a school of thought closely related to the ideas of economic liberalism. Using neo-classical theories of economics, Neo-liberalists advocate economic policies that intend to minimize the role of state and maximize the private business sector. And consequently, government activity will be replaced by market forces in order to give more freedom to individuals to pursue their self-interests and all income distribution mediated through free market should be regarded as natural and just. Neo-liberal economic philosophy can be tracked back to the theories of Hayek and Von

¹⁰⁷ Co-authored with Tran Tuan Phong, Vice Director of the Institute of Philosophy, Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences.

Mises, who believed that society should be characterized by the "spontaneous order" which emerges when individuals pursue their own ends within a framework set by law and tradition.

According to the logic of the unrestrained free market advocated by Neo-liberalism, economic crisis and failures – including high rate of inflation and low economic growth and stagnation - are exclusively the result of excessive government intervention in the market. As the market manages to rationalize self-adjustment, all deviations from market efficiency must be attributable to external causes only: economic and final bubbles and other disruptions are caused by governments and other "imperfections," not by markets themselves. Thus, in the 1980s, the governments in the USA and Britain showed strong support for neo-liberal movement of anti-tax, de-regulation and other conservative measures to reduce government interference in the market. All those kinds of policies and measures are implemented in order to give maximal freedom and maximal space to private market in economy. In the form of a minimal state or night watchman state, government's duty is only to enforce contracts and protect the allocation of property rights. All other economic functions should be left to what R. Reagan call 'the magic of market'. Hayek referred to the market as 'a game', 'a contest played according to the rules and decided by superior skill, strength or good fortune'. 108 In Hayek's order, 'the game' is the only proper determinant of the allocation of resources.

While Neo-liberalism tries to prove that the causes of economic crisis and failure of market economy are external or due to the interference of governments and other non-market forces, Keynes sees the causes of crisis within the mechanism of capitalistic free market. Keynes argues that though capitalist economies contain forces that are capable to restore full employment but these forces (sometimes) are too weak or do not always react timely to the changes in the market. Private sector decisions sometimes lead to inefficient macroeconomic outcomes. As a result, market-based economies can suffer from a persistent lack of demand, consigning millions to unnecessary unemployment and misery.

¹⁰⁸ F. Hayek, *Law, Legislation and Liberty: The Mirage of Social Justice* (Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1976), Vol. 2, p. 115.

Thus, to some extent, Keynesian policy is a reversal of the prevalent orthodoxy of Neo-liberalism in last few decades, which held that efforts to use fiscal policy to manage the economy and mitigate downturns were doomed to failure. With the emphasis on the government's role in economy, Keynes argues for the mixed economy, in which government could play a positive role through the use of monetary and fiscal policy to control level of aggregate demand, which is the as the sum of consumption, investment and government spending, and hence the level of employment during the time of economic and final crisis. It is Keynes who points out that the government plays an important role in providing direct stimulus to the economies suffered from the collapse in private demand, in rescuing the private financial system from collapse as well as in designing a regulatory regime for the whole capitalistic system.¹⁰⁹

Despite his critique of neo-liberalism, Keynes remains a faithful advocate of free market system of capitalism: "There is no objection to be raised against the classical analysis of the manner in which private self-interest will determine what in particular is produced, in what proportions the factors of production will be combined to produce it, and how the value of the final product will be distributed between them." 110 Keynes believed that once full employment had been achieved by fiscal policy measures, the market mechanism could then operate freely. "Thus," continued Keynes, "apart from the necessity of central controls to bring about an adjustment between the propensity

¹⁰⁹ Many world leaders use Keynesian economics to justify government stimulus packages for their economies. The new Keynesian consensus was set out in the communique issued by the Group of 20 leading industrialized and emerging economies in November 2008, in which they vowed to "use fiscal measures to stimulate domestic demand to rapid effect" within a policy framework "conducive to fiscal sustainability." However, the move towards using fiscal policy as a means of boosting advanced economies still has limits and can only be a kind of temporary relief and unsustainable fiscal positions may destroy confidence.

¹¹⁰ John M. Keynes, *The General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money*, in *Collected Writings* (Reprinted in 1936), Vol. 7. pp. 378–397.

to consume and the inducement to invest, there is no more reason to socialize economic life than there was before."¹¹¹

While Neo-liberalism and Keynes think that economic crisis is related to business cycle and not to longterm factors and, therefore, is temporary and to be followed by a period of economic recovery and growth, Marx believes firmly that cyclical crises are characteristic of capitalism. One of the central concerns of Marx, in his study of the capitalist mode of production, was to identify and understand its inherent contradictions, the source of the historic crisis which would eventually create conditions for its overthrow and replacement by a more humane and rational system of production.

Capitalism is a regime in permanent crisis, because capitalism engages in a process of constant transformation of the labor process and revolution of the relations of production, driven by the irresolvable contradiction between capital and labor. Or, to put it another way, capitalism is unsustainable development by its very nature. The only concern of capitalists is the profit and the capitalist system could be characterized by E. M. Wood as 'the sacrifice of people and nature to profit'. Capital in its essence is self-expanding value, driven incessantly to ever larger levels of accumulation, more profit without any bound. As Marx writes: "Capital is the endless and limitless drive to go beyond its limiting barrier. Every boundary is and has to be a barrier for it. Else it would cease to be capital-money as self-reproductive. If capital ever perceived a certain boundary not as a barrier, but became comfortable within it as a boundary, it would have declined from exchange value to use value... Capital is the constant movement to create more of the same."112

For this reason, any effort to control capital without uprooting the basis of value production is ultimately self-defeating. So long as value and surplus value persist, capital will strive to self-expand; any external boundaries established for it, whether by state intervention or regulation, can and will eventually be overcome. Consequently, capitalism can be seen as the self-destructive system: the run for profit through the excessive exploitation of both the nature and workers

¹¹¹ *Ibid.*, p. 379.

¹¹² Karl Marx, Grundyism (London: Penguin, 1973), p. 334.

(laborers), the very resources and people it depends on for it profits, can bring about fatal outcomes.

Thus, we can see that Marx's and Keynes's approach and apply the concept of crisis in distinct and opposite ways. While Keynes attempts to stay strictly within the economic sphere and remove itself from the same once the order which it is its intent to preserve no longer requires it. Marx, on the other hand, sees economic crisis as part of the larger crisis of the social order he wish to supplant. The fundamental contradiction of capitalism, as Marx sees it, is the contradiction between ever-growing social character of the production process and the form of capitalistic private ownership. Without the elimination of the fetter of the private ownership of the means of production human society is unable to achieve further development.

Thus, both Marx and Keynes addressed certain aspects of the capitalistic market economy but both could not suggest some kind of comprehensive solution to overcome crises and guarantee the sustainable development for humanity. Moreover, in the context of today's globalization and scientific and technological revolution, many recently-raised issues of market economy have not yet been addressed in the above-mentioned theories.

The Economic Crisis and Some Lessons for Vietnam

The global economic crisis brings some serious impact in the economic development of Vietnam. Under the timely intervention of the government Vietnam was able to reduce the negative effects of the crisis and was able to recover its economy. Through dealing with the crisis, we try to find the best way to combine market economy with socialism to achieve a crisis-free and sustainable development.

While developing a socialist-oriented market economy we, the Vietnamese, are well aware of the great strengths of open, competitive markets, but we also try to avoid the extreme capitalism and unrestrained greed that have perverted so much of the global financial system in recent times. It is the aim of development of socialist-oriented market economy to create a kind of balance and harmony between the private and the public, profit and wages, the market and the state.

132

We realize fully that the economic theory of Marx is still theoretically and methodologically valuable. Marx's theory plays a fundamental and guiding role in economic thinking in the present context of globalization. What we must do is to rethink and develop further Marx's ideas as well as to acquire critically the quintessence of other traditions and schools of thoughts in order to work out a viable theory of development for Vietnam.

We understand that economic cycle is an inherent feature of market economy. Thus, the socialist-oriented market economy we are developing in Vietnam is also within the impact of that law. Therefore, in the context of globalization and expanding international integration, Vietnam should improve its reserve capacity, be ready to react effectively to all kinds of crisis-situations as well as minimize the negative impacts of economic cycles. All that could be done with the support of the whole political system, all our people. The experience of dealing with the crisis shows the importance of the upholding the advantages of the socialist regime: the leadership of the Communist Party manifested appropriate policy-guidelines, the role of the government in its consistent implementation of its policies, the role of state's economic sector in sustaining the stability of the whole economy as well as in economic recovery, the contribution and support the common people for the common cause of development of Vietnam.

The Policy on Agricultural Land and Its Impact on Agricultural Production and Peasant's Life in Vietnam Today

Introduction

Agricultural land is the most valuable natural resource, one of the most decisive resources for the life and development of the peasants in the context of socialist-oriented market economy in Vietnam today. Since the beginning of the Renovation, the State has issued policies to help the peasants to get access to land use rights. Those policies exerted positive impacts on agricultural land and agriculture in general in Vietnam. However, in order to make Vietnam agriculture develop stronger and more sustainable there arise many issues relating to the policy on land in Vietnam.

Policies on Agricultural Land in Vietnam Today

The current policies on agricultural land in Vietnam were the results of the Renovation Process initiated by the Politburo Decision No.10 issued in 1988 on the handle of self-mastership rights to peasant's households, the Decision of the Sixth Plenum of Sixth Central Committee of the Communist Party of Vietnam (November, 1988) on the handle of land to peasant's households. Those policies were concretized in Law on Land issued in 1993 (which has been continuously revised in following years, especially the 2003 and 2013 Law on Land), the Law on Land Use Transfer Tax (1999), the Law on Agricultural Land Use Tax (in 2000, replacing agricultural land Tax). The key contents of the policies on agricultural land of the State of Vietnam today are expressed in the tenure of agricultural land ownership, the State's guidelines on land price, the policy on concentration and accumulation of agricultural land, the policy on agricultural land tax and policy on compensation for agricultural land recovery.

Agricultural Land Ownership Tenure

The tenure of agricultural land ownership in Vietnam is expressed concentratedly in two rights: Ownership right and use right. The State, the subject of ownership right (land belongs to the entire people with the State as the representative owner), the masses, mainly peasants are subject of the land use right. That kind of ownership tenure is specific in comparison with many countries in the world.

As the owner and the organ of public management of land, the State has the right: To recover peasant's land use right, to decide conversion of agricultural land use purpose and transfer of agricultural land, the use of which has been conversed, to organizations and individuals who are not peasants and to determine prices of the recovery of agricultural land.

Peasants can use agricultural land for agricultural production purposes. Apart from their use right, peasants also have the right to transfer, inherit and mortgage their use right. According to the current laws the term for leasing agricultural land to peasants is 50 years for land using for planting perennial crops and 20 years for other lands.

The 2013 Land Law devotes the entire Chapter XI on the rights and obligations of land users. Under the law, land users have their right to transfer their land use rights and the duty to implement all rights and obligations written in the law. Their land use rights are protected by the law. Under the 2013 Land Law, land use rights also included the rights to transfer, exchange, lease, inherit and mortgage.

The Policy on Agricultural Land Price

The Government's Decree No 188/2004/NĐ-CP issued on 16-11-2004, determines land price in accordance with market prices and incomes generated by the land. The right to determine agricultural land price is authorized to authorities of province's level. The tenure for price regulation is more flexible and following closely with market price.¹¹³

¹¹³ According to the Government's Decree No. 188/2004/NĐ-CP issued on November 16, 2004, when the gap between state's and market prices is more

According to 2013 Land Law, the land price is based on the land use specified on the land use certificate, land tenure and to remain close to the market price or the income generated from the land. The land price table is changed every five years and is adjusted when there is a large change in the market.

While officially recognizing market prices on land and regulate State's prices to meet market price, the State recognizes indirectly the existence of land use prices and land use market. This is one of the bases for the State to determine the prices of land exchange between the State and the citizens.

Policies on Encouraging Land Accumulation and Collection

The handle of the land to peasant' households was initiated in the beginning of 1990s in accordance with an egalitarian mechanism on both the quantity and quality of land. As a result, agricultural land handed to peasants became too divided. To promote the farmers to conduct large scale agricultural production, the State has provided a policy to encourage farmers – "exchange farming fields," thereby, farmers can transfer or exchange land with one another to own larger and more collective agricultural fields.

Policies on Agricultural Land Withdrawal and Compensation

The 2003 Law on Land determines that the State has the right to recover agricultural land use rights, as well as housing land of farmers for objectives of public interest, or socio-economic development. While recovering peasants' agricultural land and housing land, the State must compensate peasants by way of allocation of new land for the same purpose as the type of land which was recovered or shall be paid compensation equal to the value of land use rights as at the time when the decision on recovery is made where no land is available for compensation.

than 30% for the period over 60 days, the Ministry of Finance should propose to the Government measures to change prices.

Since 1990s the State has recovered many agricultural lands in order to develop new industrial zones and urban squares. ¹¹⁴ In the new Land Law (2013) the State will only acquire land from individuals or organizations for national defense or security objectives and for the socio-economic developmental interests of the nation or people. Land acquisitions must be done in a manner of transparency and accountability and compensation be paid in accordance with the laws. A key purpose of having such tight regulations on land acquisition for socioeconomic projects (in the interest of the nation and the people) is to restrain abuses of power and corruption.

Policies on Agricultural Land Tax

While using the land, peasants must pay to the State the tax on: land lease, land use and other administrative fees. In general, the total of agricultural land tax is not big. From 2003 to 2010, the Government decided to exempt tax for agricultural land under the land limits for all peasants and completely exempt land use tax for poor peasant households and reduce 50% tax for using the land in excess of the land limits. The land tax is applicable only for using the land in excess of the land limits or auctioned land. All fees are small often paid for the certificate of land use right, mapping, land registration.

In general, policies on agricultural land tax have been streamlined remarkably, including tax exemption with transactions of farming land transfers with a view to encouraging land accumulation and collection by farmers, and exemption with land.

The Impact of Agricultural Land Policies to Vietnam's Agriculture in the Renovation Period

Vietnam is an agricultural country. Thanks to the new government's policy on agricultural land, Vietnam's agriculture has enjoyed positive changes in population and labor forces. In 1990 80% of the population of Vietnam (66 millions) lived in rural areas. In 2008 the

 $^{^{114}}$ For example, for the period from 2000 to 2005, the State has recovered about 366.000 hectares of agricultural land, an average of 73.000 hectares per year.

rural population only consisted of 72% of the whole population. Together with the increase of rural population from 58.9 million in 2000 to 62 million in 2008, there was a strong process of re-structure of labors in agricultural, forestry and aqua-cultural areas. The movement of labor forces from rural areas contributed to the enlargement of average land area per agricultural laborer from 0. 9 hectares in 2000 to more than 1.1 hectares in 2008.

The above-mentioned changes confirm the rightness of the economic renovations and the process of international integration of Vietnam in general and policies on agricultural land in particular. However, the most significant achievement of Vietnam agriculture during the last two decades is attached to foods. During 1970s and 1980s Vietnam often suffered from food shortage and hunger, in 1976 Vietnam had to import 148 thousand tons of rice and in 1986 that number was 483 thousand tons. After implementing the Renovation policy, the agricultural production has increased remarkably. The rice import was reduced to 55 tons in 1989 and there was no rice import in 1990. In 1995 the total food production reached 26 million tons (among which 25million tons of rice). In 2008 the total food production was 43 million tons (39 million tons of rice. The average food production per person increased from 363 kg per person in 1995 to 502 kg per person in 2008 and in 2012 the food production was about 43.4 million tons, more than one million in comparison with the production of 2011. 115

Since 1990 Vietnam had produced enough foods for the population, and exported at least more than 5 million tons of rice each year together with other agricultural products like coffee, pepper, nuts, seafood products in 2012 Vietnam exported 7.7 million tons of rice. In 2007 the total value of agricultural export consisted of 19% among 48.4 billion US Dollars of exports. At the same time, Vietnam also imported some foods, which consisted about 6% in total of 60.8 billion US Dollars of exports. The supply of foods has increased gradually and led to the improvement of the situation of key areas in social welfare and economy. The criteria reflecting that fact can be seen in the increase of life expectancy (effected by the rate of infant death) and

¹¹⁵ Danviet newspapers (March 14, 2013).

¹¹⁶ Youth newspaper (March 14, 2013).

rate of death of children less than 5-year-old (decided by nutrition and health care). The average life expectancy increased from 60 years in 1980 to 65 years in 1990, 69 in 2001, 70 years in 2004 and 74 years in 2007. The current average life expectancy of the Vietnamese is 75 years, which is more than 33 years in comparison with the rate of 1960, while the average increase of life expectancy in the world for that period is only 21 years.¹¹⁷

The rate of death of children less than 5 years old reduced from 70/1000 in 1980 to 56/1000 in 1995, 38/1000 in 2004 and 15/1000 in 2005. The rate of death of children less than five years old and one year old reduced from 35% and 45% in 2001 to 16% and 26% in 2005. The above-mentioned achievements are very significant and they are closely related to the positive changes of agricultural land fund in Vietnam.

The Impact of Agricultural Land Policies on Agricultural Land Fund in Vietnam Today

The land in Vietnam is officially divided into agricultural land, non-agricultural land and unused land. Agricultural land category, comprises the following types of land: Land for agricultural cultivation, forest land, land for aquaculture, land for salt production. Agricultural land is divided further into Land for planting perennial crops and land for planting annual crops, which is further divided into land for rice and short-term crops. Forest land is divided into protective forest land and specialized use forest land. The classification of the land serves the basis for land management and planning.

The total area of the land in Vietnam is 33.2 million hectares. Thanks to new policies on land issued in the Renovation period, the agricultural land has increased from 18.2 million in 1995 to 21.5 million in 2000 and 24.7 million by the end of 2006 (75% of the total area of the land of Vietnam), the increase was more than 3.2 million and most of them was forest land (2,9 millions). The total increase of Nonagricultural land was 328 thousand hectares, 347 thousand hectares for aquaculture land and 277 thousand hectares for perennial crops land.

¹¹⁷ Infornet (July 10, 2012).

Especially, for the period from 1995 to 2006, the largest change of land fund can be seen in the fact that unused land was reduced from 11.7 million in 1995 into 5.1 million in 2006 and the forest land increased from 10.8 million hectares in 1995 to 14.5 million hectares in 2006. Within the agriculture, land fund for rice reduced from 4.3 million in 1995 to 4.1 million in 2006, at the same time there was an increase of lands for other perennial and annual crops. The area of deforested hills in mountain regions had been reduced by about 580 thousand hectares thanks to the efforts of the central and local governments. The total reduction of rice cultivation area is about 337 thousand hectares due to two main reasons: First, partly because of urbanization and industrialization process; second, because rice cultivation brings low incomes and is less attractive than aquacultural cultivation or cultivation of other crops or animal husbandry.

The data collected in 2008 shows that there is little change in land use purposes. The total agricultural land increases up to 25 million hectares. Rich soil land and land for perennial crops remain stable. The forest land increases to 14.8 million hectares and the unused land is reduced to 4.5 million hectares. The non-agricultural land increases in 3.4 million hectares, in which housing land in urban areas significantly increases to 113 thousand hectares.

While evaluating the plan for land use for the period from 2001 to 2010, the Economic Committee of the National Ensemble confirmed that for that period the planning of land use played an important role in the enhancement of the efficiency and effect of State's management on land and contributed to bringing into full play land potentials to serve socio-economic objectives, create new jobs, increase incomes and improve people's life. Land use planning has zoned land fund for agricultural production, protected land fund for rice cultivation, ensured the goal of providing sufficient foods for the country, sufficient resources for strategic reservation and export. The work on protection and development of forests brings about positive changes preventing serious degeneration of forest areas. Land use planning also has met the demands for promotion of the cause of national industrialization, modernization and urban development; created important resources for national socio-economic development through the activities of auction, collecting fees in land handling, land lease, change of purposes of land use; the areas of unused land are gradually exploited and brought into use rationally to meet the demands for land use for socioeconomic development and ensure the ecological balance and environmental protection.

The practice shows that the quality of prediction of demands for land funds for development of branches and sectors, investment projects in order to include into land use plans in local authorities is still lacking of scientific calculation and is away from development strategies and demands. There have not yet been clearly defined response-bilities of every level in management, organization, planning and implementation of adopted plans for land use.

Although the land for wet-rice cultivation reached 103.55% (more than the planned target), during the last 10 years 270 thousand hectares had conversed into the land used for other purposes. The conversion of the land specialized in wet-rice cultivation into the land for industrial and urban development instead of using other lands (for that purpose) took place in many localities. The land for industrial zones and parks were met sufficiently (100%) but investment was still fragmented, some industrial zones were developed too slow.

Meeting the Demands for Infrastructure Development and Ensuring Food Security

With the land use plan extended into 2020 and the five-year land use plan (2011-2015), the Government proposes three key objectives: to meet the demand of infrastructure development (in areas of: transport, water-resources, culture, health care, sports, etc.); to promote industrial and urban development in order to carry out the national cause of industrialization and modernization to ensure national security and defense and social welfare; to ensure the national food security; to protect the environment and promote sustainable development to meet with climate change.

Accordingly, the Government proposes the concrete project of land use planning. By the year of 2020 the agricultural land will be 26.732 thousand hectares, which is more than 506 thousand hectares in comparison with that of 2010. By the year 2020 the non-agricultural land will be 4.880 thousand hectares, which is more than 1.175 thou-

sand hectares in comparison with that of 2010. The unused land at the 2010 was 3.164 thousand hectares and as the result of conversion into agricultural and non-agricultural purposes by the year of 2020 the unused land will only be 1.483 thousand hectares.

The Government also proposes to retain 3.81 million hectares for rice cultivation by 2020. But according to local proposals the area for rice cultivation will only be 3,6 million hectares. The Economic Committee of the National Ensemble agreed with the Government's proposal to retain 3.81 million hectares for rice cultivation in 2020. The Government's proposal should point out concrete measures to retain that area for rice cultivation, and at the same time, have special policies for rice cultivators and the localities that retain the area for rice cultivation.

Relating to Government's proposal that the area for industrial zone will be 200 thousand by 2020, after consideration the Economic Committee of the National Ensemble agreed with the Government's proposal but requires the Government should only recover lands in accordance with real demands and pay attention to local authorities and regions (middle land, mountain and coast-line regions), which can transform their economic structure.

Positive Impacts and Unexpected Impacts of Land Policies on the Peasant Life Today

Positive Impacts

Agricultural land policies in Vietnam have impacted positively on agricultural production and the life of peasants today in following ways:

- Facilitating peasants to be proactive in their labor, production and transactions in order to maximize the efficiency of agricultural production and income generation from land. Vietnamese peasants get three benefits from agricultural land policies: agricultural land is handled to them free of charge; have the right to organize and plan their cultivation and sell agricultural products in accordance with market principles in order to improve their life; have the right to

transfer land use right as a property. As a result, peasant's life is significantly improved.

- Land policies have also allowed farmers to shift their economic structure, and to enhance land use effectiveness. As peasant's households are regarded as autonomous economic unit, peasants are free to choose to engage in the appropriate agricultural production activities that could bring them benefits and good incomes. As a result, in Vietnam there exist variety of agricultural production, many households specialize in agricultural product goods, the number of households specializing in rice are reduced.
- Land policies also allow credit access for farmers. The issue of certificate on agricultural land use right for peasants helps them not only make the practice of land use right transaction safe, especially transactions relating to lease, production capital but also mortgage their land use right for credits and loans.
- Land policies have encouraged farmers to accumulate collective agricultural land for better agricultural cultivation and production. According to the Law on Land, peasants can exchange, transfer, lease their land in order to have large amount of agricultural land appropriate for mechanization and better agricultural cultivation as well as applying scientific methods for their cultivation. Those peasants, who are not able to engage in effective agricultural activities, can transfer their agricultural land use right to other peasants in order to have money to start non-agricultural industries.
- Land policies have activated agricultural land market in rural areas, resulting in more efficient farming land allocation, and emergence of new industries in rural areas. The market for agricultural land use right in rural areas has been established to facilitate transactions on land use right and reduce exchange fees. The fact that the transfer of agricultural land use right becomes easier creates favorable conditions for rational use of land in accordance with market regulations. As a result, this promotes the process of land re-allocation: between cultivation, aquacultivation and animal husbandry, and at the same time, contribute to restore and develop many traditional handicraft villages in rural areas in Vietnam.

Unexpected Impacts

In addition to positive effects, there are still several adverse impacts from farming land policies.

- Peasants enjoy limited benefits and profit from their land use rights. According to the Law on Land, peasants cannot freely change their land into other types of land, and due to the low benefit generation of agricultural land, the price of use right is much lower than that of other lands. The term for agricultural land use is too short and in addition, the compensation rate for agricultural land is too low if agricultural land is recovered by the State to use for other purposes. As a result, the peasants are not strongly attached to agriculture and the chance to getting rich from agriculture is difficult.
- The situation in which peasants do not have land for cultivation is increasing. The peasants have rights on land use. In difficult circumstances many families, who do not have enough capital or appropriate ways to cultivate and produce, have no other choice but to sell their agricultural land use right and then fall into poverty. The State does not have enough resources to help them to retain agricultural land as the means of their living. As a result, the gap between the rich and the poor generates within the class of peasants. Social evils and crimes have chances to penetrate into the life of Vietnam villages.
- Agricultural land policies fail to encourage farmers to protect cultivated land and to make longterm investment in land. The fact that term for land use right is too short cannot encourage peasants to make longterm investment in order to protect agricultural land. At the same time, in order to have better crops many peasants abuse chemical fertilizers and ignore investment on longterm improvement. As a result, agricultural land becomes degenerated and even polluted.
- Effects of the policies on supporting farmers to accumulate and to collect farming land remains unsatisfied. The egalitarian policy to handle land of 1990s had contributed to agricultural land to become fragmented. In addition, the conversion of use of large amount of agricultural land into other purposes has led to the continuous reduction of scope of agricultural land per person. There exist only few agricultural production units with the total amount of land of 3 to 5 hectares, the majority of households now possess less than one hectare.

- Policies on land withdrawal and compensation make peasants suffer from certain losses. If their land is recovered, peasants will suffer from certain losses because the State has not enough agricultural land fund to compensate peasants. The land reserved for compensation is often not good as the recovered land. As the result, the peasant's life may become more difficult. Peasants in some cases cannot negotiate about compensation. Policies on vocational training for peasants, whose lands have been recovered, as well as policies on encouraging individuals and organizations, who get land use right from recovered agricultural land of peasants, to share and help peasants, the policies on re-settlement often bring low effect.
- Policies fail to encourage farmers to practice modern agricultural production. As the land is too fragmented, almost all agricultural households use their family's labors to cultivate and do not intend to buy agricultural machines and modern devices. They do not intend to cooperate with one another in agricultural production activities, in exchange of means of production and selling agricultural products as well as in application of science and technology in their production. The effect and performance of agricultural production is still low.

Conclusion

The Cause of Comprehensive Renovation in Vietnam has brought about a new face for Vietnam's agriculture and rural life as well as facilitated a change of historical significance. As a country, which used to suffer from food shortage and imported food grains, Vietnam became one of the two largest rice exporters in the world. The outstanding achievement has been the result of renovated management policies: policies on the agricultural land. However, the process of continuous renovation has posed new issues and problems relating to policies on land in order to help Vietnam develop its modern and sustainable agriculture. A very important objective of 2013 Land Law is to strengthen the oversight role of the National Assembly, the People's Councils at different levels, the Viet Nam Fatherland Front, social organizations and people on the land management and land use schemes.

The Role of Human Resources in the Process of Industrialization and Modernization in Vietnam Today

Introduction

Analyzing the real situation of the country before and after the Domoi (Renovation) and understanding the trends of investment and development of many countries in the world, over the period from the Sixth Party Congress indicates that the Communist Party of Vietnam has implemented fully its focus on the role of human factor within the process of socio-economic development of the country. Man has always been regarded as the goal and driving force of socio-economic development. Man, as clearly stated in the Political Program for building nation during the transitional period to socialism (supplement, development in 2011), "is both the center of the strategy of development and the subject of development." 118 At the same time, in the socio-economic development strategy for the 2011-2020 period adopted in the 10th Party Congress, the Party affirmed that "The development and enhancement of the quality of human resources, primarily high-quality human resources, is a strategic breakthrough, a decisive factor promoting the development and implementation of science and technology, economic restructure, change of growth model as well as the most competitive advantage guaranteeing fast, effective and sustainable development." 119 Human resources are known as the most important and "most valuable resources holding a decisive role, especially in our country with its limited financial and material resources."120 Human resources are a decisive factor for the success of country's cause of industrialization and modernization.

¹¹⁸ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 11th National Party Congress*, p. 76.

¹¹⁹ *Ibid.*, p. 9.

¹²⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 130.

The question is how to understand the view that human resources are the most decisive factor for the success of the cause of industrialization and modernization?

Human Resources Are a Decisive Factor for the Success of Country's Cause of Industrialization and Modernization

In the history of economics, some pre-Marxian bourgeois economists, for example Adam Smith, regarded labor as the source of all material wealth. In his *Dialectics of Nature*, Engels affirmed that not labor alone but labor in its combination with nature, which provides materials for labor, is able to generate all material wealth. ¹²¹ Therefore, the claim that human resources hold a decisive role does not mean to separate or isolate human resources from natural and other resources. By contrast, human resources should be put in relation to other available resources. Accordingly, the role of human resources is manifested both as the subject and the object of socio-economic processes.

In their relation to natural and other resources, human resources play the role of the subject of exploitation and utilization. Natural resources and other resources themselves cannot participate socioeconomic processes, therefore, cannot become driving force of socioeconomic development. The role of the driving force of socioeconomic development always belongs to human beings. Human beings themselves with their power and intellect are factors affecting the efficiency of the exploitation and utilization of natural and other resources. At the same time, effective exploitation and utilization of those resources will promote and enhance the strength of human resources. This is a dialectics of the relationships among resources.

The practice shows that thanks to geographical advantages, and rich natural resources as well as right ways to exploit them, many countries in the region and around the world have become rich nations with high-growth rate of economy. On the other hand, we can see many cases in which human beings encounter unpredictable ecological disasters and natural catastrophes due to arbitrary and irresponsible exploitation of natural resources solely for economic purposes.

¹²¹ Marx and Engels, The Complete Works, Vol. 20, p. 644.

However, man not only decides the efficiency of the exploitation and utilization of presently-available natural and other resources but also contributes to creating new resources. The latter is related to the inheritance among different generations within the process of development of human societies. Each generation inherits the resources left by previous generations and at the same time, continues to generate new resources for future generations.

Today, while talking about negative effects of economic growth, many scholars mention a negative kind of growth: futureless growth. Since 1970s scholars from MIT and the Club of Rome have predicted on *limitations of growth* due to gradual exhaustion of natural resources. That prediction is not the whole idea of those who raised their voice to warn about futureless growth. Only in 1990s when the world economy reached a high level of development, human beings came to understand more deeply about the reverse impacts on culture caused by economic growth.

Due to the call of short-term interests or strategically short-term planning, some economies in the world intentionally or unintentionally ignore their future. In those economies, people exploit natural resources for maximal profit while putting aside all calculations on environmental consequences and ignoring legitimate interests of future generations. An overemphasis on short-term profits causes imbalanced development or bubble development.

Today most countries in the world are well aware of negative effects of that kind of growth and declare war against it. However, good intentions are not enough for preventing futureless growth. The complications of globalization, interferences and influences of rich countries, different kinds of shortage in slowly developing countries, prevalent corruption in some countries always cause serious threats for those economies intending to pursue sustainable development. Being well aware of those points, the Communist Party of Vietnam affirms "the building and development of the economy must have a cultural aim and orient towards a just and civilized society and man's comprehensive development. Culture is the result of economic development and, at the same time, a driving force of economic development. All components should be closely linked to the life and activity of the society in all spheres of politics, economy, laws, disciplines... in

order to become the most important inner resources of development." ¹²²

As a subject, man not only decides the efficiency of the exploitation and utilization of presently-available natural and other resources but also contributes importantly to sustainable development in the future. As an object, man becomes the object of exploitation, utilization, investment and development. While talking about the role of human resources as the object of exploitation and utilization, people often mention about the non-exhaustion of human resources. In recent decades scientists and policy-makers in all countries worldwide come to realize that natural resources, regardless of how rich they may be, will be exhausted under the exploitation of human beings and only human resources are unlimited and non-exhaustible.

While discussing about human resources, scholars often talk about their qualitative and quantitative aspects. The quantity of human resources is labor force and labor force availability for socioeconomic development. Indexes of the quantity of human resources of a nation are its population, population growth rate, average life expectancy, population structure: the proportion of working-age population and number of non-working population. The quantity of human resources plays an important role in socio-economic development. The non-correlation between the quantity of human resources and development will impact negatively on socio-economic development. Some countries, especially the developing ones, suffer from the excess of labor force and therefore in those countries employment becomes a pressing issue. Unemployment brings about many negative effects and becomes one of the causes of crimes in some societies. By contrast, in some countries with high growth rate of development, there is high demand for labor force, especially seasonal labor force, low-skilled labor force or labor force in those industries that national workers decline to take. Those countries have to import labor forces from other nations, especially from developing ones. The import of labor force helps the importing countries to deal with the demand for

¹²² The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 5th meeting of the 8th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Vietnam* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 1998), p.55.

labor force but on the other hand, it creates some changes in their social life.

However, the most important element in human resources is not quantity but quality of human resources. The latter is a decisive factor for socio-economic development as well as the cause of industrialization and modernization. Quality of human resources means the intellectual component of human resources or "laborers with high intelligence, high skills, good moral qualities, who have been educated and promoted by an advanced education linked closely to modern science and technology." The talking about unlimitedness and non-exhaustion of human resources means the mention about intellectual component of human resources. Alvin Toffer, an American futurist, claims that while all natural resources may be exploited to exhaustion, human intelligence will never be exhausted and "knowledge can be endlessly taken." 124

Because of the importance of intelligence and knowledge, most countries in the world today strive to enhance the intellectual content of their labour forces. Education and training play very important role in enhancing the knowledge component within labor forces. Historical experiences have shown that no country or nation in the world can become rich and have a high economic growth rate without universalizing general school education. Newly-industrialized countries like Singapore and South Korea, who reached a high economic growth rate in 1970s and 1980s, had universalized general school education before their economic take-off.

On the other hand, empirical researches in recent years have shown that capital investment plays only small role in economic growth. The quality of labor force plays a decisive role in the value of surplus products. Moreover, in the era of scientific and technological revolutions, information and knowledge become the core components of the whole modern system. Data collected in 1990 has shown that the percentage contributed by information and knowledge to GDP of

¹²³ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 2nd meeting of the 8th Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of Vietnam* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 1997), p.9.

¹²⁴ Alvin Toffler, *Powershift* (Hanoi: The Information and Theory Publishing House, 1992), p. 41 (in Vietnamese).

the USA, England and Germany is 47.4%, 45.8% and 40% consecutively. ¹²⁵ It is not accidental that Gary Baker, 1992 Nobel laureate in economics, claims that "there is no investment that could bring greater profit than investment on human resources, especially on education." ¹²⁶

Vietnam started its cause of industrialization later than developed countries. Lessons and experiences learnt from the countries in the region will be very useful for Vietnam if we could acquire and implement them creatively. Vietnam at the moment is classified into the group of developing countries. If we take the time when countries have started the period of industrialization as starting point for comparison, there is a fact that natural resources of developing countries are poorer than that of the developed countries. Vietnam is just within that common case. While being not really rich in natural resources and also affected heavily by wars as well as faults of the old mechanism, in order to carry out the cause of industrialization and modernization to transform the country into an industrialized nation, Vietnam has no other choice than to uphold and utilise properly the role of human resources. This is the very way to bring into full play the country's inner resources in order to accomplish successfully the national cause of industrialization and modernization.

Some Solutions to Exploit Human Resources within the Cause of Industrialization and Modernization in Vietnam.

First of all, we should affirm that, in order to carry out the cause of industrialization and modernization, Vietnam has no other choice than to exploit rationally and utilise effectively human resources. Doing so is not only in accordance with the general trend in the world but also appropriate for the country with rich human resources. Only in this way can Vietnam overcome the serious shortage of natural resources and capital.

¹²⁵ Tran Van Tung and Le Ai Lam, *The Development of Human Resources: International Experience and Our Practice* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 1996), p. 24 (in Vietnamese).

¹²⁶ 1992 Nobel Laureate in *Economist* (October 17, 1992).

Vietnam is a country with rich human resources. The recent population census shows that there are more than 40 million people of working age in Vietnam today. The structure of labour force is relatively young (above 60% of those aged 16-34). This is an important factor in terms of quantity in the structure of labour force. We can say that rich and relatively young human resources are a requisite condition for the cause of industrialization and modernization in Vietnam. However, here the problem is how to utilise effectively those human resources? It depends, first of all, on the economic structure and ability to mobilize labour force of an economy.

According to that population census, at the present Vietnam remains an agricultural nation with 70% of population living in rural areas and only 30% in cities. In such an agricultural country, employment becomes a pressing issue. The practice shows that when entering the course of industrialization, any country in the world has to deal with the problem of employment for its population. In order to utilise and exploit natural, human and other resources a country, first of all, has to attract and mobilize maximally labor force into the process of production activities. On the other hand, while other resources can be exhausted and may not be renewed, the more human resources are utilised, in some certain aspects, the more they are renewable and qualitatively enhanced. It means that when humans participate in the process of production, their knowledge, experience become accumulated and improved.

Without positive measures to exploit and utilise effectively human resources, human resources, especially the high-quality human resources, cannot bring into full play their role and even be wasted. Today in Vietnam the situation of unemployment, labour excess, ineffective utilization of labour force are among most pressing issues.

The problem is how to create more employment opportunities for labourers in the conditions in which the growth rate of our economy, despite its initial positive results, still remains slow. In our opinion, employment and socio-economic development are closely linked and dialectically interactive at both national and local levels. The level of socio-economic development determines the pace, scope and efficiency of the solutions to employment problems. By contrast, the fact that people have jobs means production capabilities are liberated and

productivity of the society is enhanced. However, a poorly developed economy lacks both pressing demands on labour force and ability to create employment opportunities. In that case, labour force is not an advantage but a burden due to great pressure caused by employment. Only a healthy developed economy, which develops towards diversity, can be able to create more and more employment opportunities. It means that socio-economic development is a fundamental solution to the problem of providing employment for the people and consequently contributes to the effective exploiting and utilizing of human resources for development purposes. The 11th Congress of the Communist Party of Vietnam affirms that it is necessary to "create an environment and conditions for labourers to have jobs and better incomes." 127

Apart from policies for socio-economic development to create more employment opportunities for laborers, in order to exploit and utilise effectively human resources it is necessary to use employment opportunities as management instruments and important driving force to uphold the proactiveness of laborers. We should affirm that employment, being put within a certain recruitment mechanism, can become an important driving force for promoting man's proactiveness. We can say that, capitalism has created a mechanism of employment utilization as an effective tool to manage workers and force them to be constantly proactive and to learn in order to improve their skills.

As we know, labour power becomes a commodity under capitalism. As a commodity labour power is under the impact of the law of competition. within the context of capitalistic production the relationship between supply and demand of labour power is always imbalanced and it is often that the supply exceeds the demand. Under capitalism there exists an army of "reserved" labourers, who are always ready to replace those workers who are currently working in factories and enterprises. In other words, once a worker cannot meet the employer's demand he will be sacked and replaced by other worker. This service policy forces workers to mobilize their most capability and talent to perform well their assigned work.

¹²⁷ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 11th National Party Congress*, p. 79.

However, in Vietnam due to some inappropriateness in recruitment mechanism and policy, employment opportunity has not yet become a strong driving force for encouraging labourers to work productively. Apart form the measures for creating employment opportunity it is necessary to have some measures for exploiting and promoting laborer's proactiveness. In recent years, many research themes and projects have focused on driving forces of social development, i.e. the very forces that could bring into full play man's proactiveness to create strong changes and progresses in the socio-economic life. Interest, need, democracy, science, socio-psychological environment, etc. are among the driving forces that researchers and scholars pay particular attention to.¹²⁸

Here we would like to discuss some points relating to the role of interest as an overall and most important driving force in the system of driving forces. If interest is understood as what that meets and satisfies man's needs, interest is a concept with a wide intension; it covers a wide range of elements stimulating man's proactiveness and activity. For example if democracy as a need of a man, or of human collective or of a whole society, the satisfaction of that need is the very interest of a concrete subject. Similarly, as stated above, we can regard employment as an important and necessary interest because it satisfies the need of having jobs and need of working of labourers. With such a kind of understanding interest is diverse in range. People can classify interests according to different methods and criteria.

However, in our opinion, as interest is what that satisfies needs, it would be reasonable to classify interests in accordance with the needs of human beings. In this way we can classify interests into: material and spiritual interests, individual, collective and social interests, short-term and longterm interests. Interest plays very important role in promoting and encouraging man to act. However, every kind of interest has its own driving force role. From the point of the theory of needs, we suppose that, in principle, it is difficult to say what kind of interest is more important. We can only affirm that some interests can become requisite and pressing depending on concrete historical

¹²⁸ Le Huu Tang (Editor), *On the Drving Forces of Socio-economic Development* (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 1997).

circumstances and concrete subjects. Pressing interests are those interests that answer pressing needs of a subject in a certain situation and circumstance.

The practice of the resistance wars against foreign aggressors in the past and the recent period of renovation has shown that not in all times, at all places and for all strata of population material interests play a decisive role and become more pressing than any other interests; and individual interests have not always played more important role than other interests. In many cases and for many peoples, spiritual interests could play a prominent role. Similarly, in certain times community interests and social interests could be given priority over individual interests. While impacting interests as most important driving force for exploiting and utilizing human resources we need to take into account concrete people, concrete historical conditions and circumstances. Only in that way could we work out appropriate policies and meet the needs and aspirations of every social stratum and consequently mobilize their proactiveness and creativity.

Conclusion

To sum up, human resources play a very important role in the process of industrilization and modernization in Vietnam. The 11th Congress of the Communist Party of Vietnam affirms that "the development and promotion of the quality of human resources, especially high-quality human resources, are among decisive factors for the fast and sustainable development of the country." ¹²⁹ Man is both the subject and object of the cause of industrialization and modernization in Vietnam. Its success or failure, fast or slow pace depend on the way to exploit human resources. Vietnam needs to take full advantage of its labour force by means of creating more employment on the basis of its socio-economic development. We need to impact appropriately and rationally interests of the labourers in order to exploit effectively human resources for the goal of socio-economic development.

¹²⁹ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 11th National Party Congress* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2011), p.41.

Corporate Social Responsibility in Vietnam: Some Pressing Theoretical and Practical Issues

Together with the national cause of comprehensive renovation, there have been many environmental and social issues posed for our country by the success of rapid promotion of economic growth. The very issues require economic actors, including corporations, to be responsible for finding solution to them, otherwise the economic growth will not be sustainable and we will have to pay high price for environmental and social problems.

It is not until now that the issue of corporate social responsibility has been raised. On the contrary, even during the subsidized economy people were talking about the social responsibility of state's enterprises towards workers and the community. However, in recent years the notion of corporate social responsibility has been expanded to include not only ethical but also legal aspects. The recent environmental harms caused by some enterprises are not only condemned morally but also are brought to justice. Therefore, it is not without reason that in recent years the term of corporate social responsibility has become more and more popular in the mass media and various public forums in Vietnam. At present the concept of corporate social responsibility still remains new and is understood differently in Vietnam. Here we would like to concentrate on the clarification of the content of the concept of corporate social responsibility, the role of the implementation of corporate social responsibility and some practical issues raised in Vietnam today.

Corporate Social Responsibility: Some Theoretical Issues

The term corporate social responsibility officially appeared about 50 years ago in H.R. Bowen book "Social Responsibilities of the Businessman." The term was used to propagate and appeal to business managers for not causing harm to the rights and interests of other

people as well as to appeal to charity of businesses to compensate the damages they caused to society. Since that time the term corporate social responsibility has been interpreted differently. Some define that "corporate social responsibility implies the appropriateness of business's behaviour towards the prevalent standards, values and expectations of the society" (Sethi Prakash, 1975: 58-64). Others understand that "corporate social responsibility includes economic, legal and ethical expectations of the society towards corporations at a certain time" (Archie. B Carroll, 1979), etc.

There exist presently two opposite concepts of corporate social responsibility. The supporters of the first concept think that a business has no responsibility towards the society apart from the responsibility towards its shareholders and workers; it is the state to bear social responsibility as the business fulfils its responsibility when it pays taxes to the state. The supporters of the second concept claim that, businesses, as the actors of the market economy, cause harm and damage to natural environment and society through their using social resources and exploiting natural resources. Therefore, apart from paying taxes they have to bear responsibility towards the environment, community and other stakeholders.

In Vietnam in recent years, the definition of corporate social responsibility by the World Bank's Group of private sector development is widely used, according to which "Corporate Social Responsibility is the commitment by business to contribute to sustainable economic development while improving the quality of life of the workforce and their families as well as of the local community and society at large." ¹³⁰

In other words, in order to develop sustainably a business must comply with the standards on: environmental protection, gender equality, work safety, labour rights, fair salary payment, training and development of staff and community development. Business's Corporate social responsibility manifests concretely in following aspects and elements: 1. environmental protection; 2. contribution to communities and the society; 3. fulfillment of the responsibility towards the

¹³⁰ Cited from M.A. Nguyen Thi Thu Trang, "Corporate Social Responsibility." http://www.Doanhnhan360.com/PortletBlank.aspx/44D19889631 64E.

providers; 4. Guarantees of customers' interests and safety; 5. Good relationships with the workers; 6. Guarantees of shareholders and labouers within the business. The first four elements express business' external responsibilities and the last two elements are the internal responsibilities of the business. The division of responsibility into external and internal is only relative and it is impossible to state clearly which responsibilities are more important. With those concrete contents the implementation of corporate social responsibility will contribute not only to the sustainable development of a business but also to the sustainable development of the whole society. In Vietnam, sustainable development has become a strategic goal, which was mapped out in eighties of the last century. The concept of corporate social responsibility has changed with times and has been enriched with more and more new contents.

Originally, the term of sustainable development came into existence in seventies of the last century and attracted the attention of international researchers working on the issues of environment and international development resulted in the work titled World Conservation Strategy (1980).¹³¹ Afterwards, the idea of sustainable development was addressed in the series of works including World Commission on Environment and Development. Our Common Future and Caring for the Earth: A Strategy for Sustainable Living. 132 While mentioning about sustainable development people often use two definitions articulated in the above-mentioned books. In the book Our Common Future, sustainable development is defined as development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. In the book Caring for the Earth sustainable development is understood as improving the quality of human life while living within the carrying capacity of supporting eco-systems. Generally speaking, both these definitions place sustainable development within the rational utility of natural resources and protection of the environment in a way that guarantee the development of today's generation without the impact to the future of following generations.

¹³¹ IUCN, World Conservation Strategy: Living Resource Conservation for Sustainable Development.

¹³² World Commission on Environment and Development: Our common future; IUCN/UNEP/WWF, Caring for the Earth: A Strategy for Sustainable Living.

Thus, etymologically speaking, sustainable development is the development that guarantees economic growth on the basis of rational utilization of natural resources and environment protection in order to meet the need of the present generation without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their need. The essence of sustainable development is to give solution to the relation between economic growth and protection of natural environment as well as to guarantee justice between generations in utilization of natural resources and environmental protection. The very notion of sustainable development implies harmony, the harmony between generations in utilization of natural resources and protection of the living environment.

In Vietnam, apart from above-mentioned contents, the concept of sustainable development has added many new contents. Vietnam intends to build a strategy of sustainable development suitable to its own concrete conditions. The main contents of the strategy include the following key points:

Firstly, fast development should be accompanied with sustainability both in microcosmic and macrocosmic levels, short-term and long-term levels.

Secondly, quantitative growth should go hand in hand with qualitative improvement, the effectiveness and competitiveness of the economy.

Thirdly, the development should be wide in scope and deep in content; knowledge-based economy should be developed.

Fourthly, economic growth should be accompanied with the development of culture, the comprehensive development of man, realization of democracy, social progress and justice, creation of employment opportunities, improvement of the quality of life, encouragement of legally getting rich with reduction of poverty.

Fifthly, attention should be paid to the protection and improvement of the living environment in every step of development.

Sixthly, economic growth should be in parallel to the guarantee of socio-political stability, which is the premise, condition for fast and sustainable development.¹³³

¹³³ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the 10th Party's Congress* (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2006), pp. 178-179.

It could be said that the above-mentioned points are the key contents in the strategy of sustainable development of Vietnam, which expresses clearly the combination between the traditional (classic) viewpoint and the new and distinctive viewpoint of the Communist Party of Vietnam. Within Vietnam's strategy of fast and sustainable development, we can see that:

First, socio-political stability is the premise, condition for fast and sustainable development.

Second, the strategy of fast and sustainable development focuses on the enhancement of the quality of development, the combination between economic growth and the comprehensive development of man, realization of democracy, social progress and justice, creation of employment opportunities, improvement of the quality of life, encouragement of legally getting rich with reduction of poverty, the attention to the protection and improvement of environment in every step of development.

Third, the strategy of sustainable development of Vietnam addresses pretty comprehensively different aspects of development, including the noticeably harmonious solutions to relationship between fast and sustainable development, quantitative growth and qualitative improvement, development in scope and development in content; the harmony between economic development and dealing with social issues, economic growth and environmental protection. Harmony is one of the important contents of the strategy of sustainable development.

Fourth, the central issue, the key goal of the strategy of sustainable development is the issue of people's livelihood, which is expressed in the strategy we just mentioned above. The strategy of fast and sustainable development pays attention on the quality of economic development, orients to the comprehensive development of man, the realization of democracy, social progress and social justice, the creation of employment opportunities, improvement of the quality of life, encouragement of legally getting rich with reduction of poverty, the attention to the protection and improvement of environment in every step of development. Clearly, that goal, after all, is to solve better and better the issue of people's livelihood, guarantee a comfortable and happy life for the whole population. In the practice of Vietnam, the

strategy of fast and sustainable development is the effective way to guarantee country's socialistic-oriented development aiming at the goal of "wealthy people, strong country, just, democratic and civilized society."

Within the context of those goals of sustainable development, the implementation of corporate social responsibility contributes importantly to the strategy of sustainable development of Vietnam. While approaching the concept of corporate social responsibility we should approach both from *ethical* and *legal perspectives*. We should not understand the concept only from an ethical dimension of the managers of the business, or its charity activities, but also from a legal point of view, i.e. the implementation of corporate social responsibility is legally compulsory for a business. The combination of the ethical and legal perspectives constitute an important basis for suggesting solutions to improve business's corporate social responsibility.

Corporate Social Responsibility and Some Practical Issues in Vietnam

For the developed market economies in the world, corporate social responsibility is not a new phenomenon. Businesses, that implement well the corporate social responsibility, will be awarded with an international certificate or a code of conduct. In the context of today's globalization, consumers, investors, policy makers and NGOs focus more and more on the impact of globalization on labour rights, environment and community goods. Those businesses, that do not implement well their corporate social responsibility, will not have opportunity to have access to the international market.

The practice has shown that a business, that fulfils well its corporate social responsibility, will increase its profits. The benefits that a business get from implementation of corporate social responsibility include the reduction of expenditure, increase of turnover, promotion of the value of the brand name, reduction of the rate of unemployment, increase of productivity and more access to new markets. We can illustrate some cases of getting benefits from the implementation of corporate social responsibility.

First, the implementation of social responsibility contributes to the reduction of expenditure and increase of productivity. A business could economize its production expenditure, thanks to the investment and installation of new equipments. For example, a Polish wrapping business has saved up to USD 12 Million within five months, thanks to the installation of new equipments, as a result, it reduced water usage up to 7%, waste water up to 70% and exhaust fumes 87%.¹³⁴

Production expenditure and productivity depend closely on the system of personnel management. An effective system of personnel management also helps the business reduce its expenditure and increase its productivity significantly. A reasonable system of salary and reward, a clean and safe working environment, opportunities for training and a system of medical care and education can contribute to the reduction of the rate of employee leaves and resignations and therefore, the reduction of expenditure on employee recruitment and training of new staff. All those factors contribute to the reduction of production expenditure and the increase of productivity.

Second, the implementation of corporate social responsibility contributes to the increase of turnover. Every business operates in a certain location. Its investment to support the development of the local economy could result in the creation of better labour force, cheaper and more reliable source of material supply and consequently the increase of turnover. For example, the Hindustan Lever, a Unilever's branch in India, was able to operate with 50% of its capacity in 1970s due to the shortage of the local supply of milk and therefore was seriously loss-making. In order to deal with that situation, the company established a comprehensive program to help peasants to increase the productivity of the local cow's milk. The program also included training for peasants in the skills of raising cows, improving infrastructures and establishing a committee governing the local suppliers of cow's milk. As a result, the number of milk supply villages increased from six to 400 and that helped the company to operate with its full capacity and then the company became one of the most profitable companies within the Unilever Corporation.¹³⁵

¹³⁴ http://www.kinhdoanh.com.vn/mtkd/So4/4-baiviet.htm.

¹³⁵ *Ibid*.

Third, the implementation of corporate social responsibility contributes to promoting the value of business's brand name and prestige. Corporate social responsibility could help a business increase the value of its brand name and prestige. In its turn the prestige helps the business increase its income and attract more investors and workers. Biggest corporations in the world spend a huge amount of money to become the ideal business model. For example Best Buy Corporation set up a program to modernize its products. A famous coffee company Starbucks has launched its community-related activities, French famous mineral company Evian has started to distribute its environmentally friendly bottles. Multi-national corporations like The Body Shop and IKEA are typical examples. Both corporations are famous not only because of the high quality and reasonable prices of their products but also because they are responsible towards the environment and society. 136

Fourth, the implementation of corporate social responsibility contributes to attracting high-skilled workers. High-skilled workers are decisive factor for the productivity and quality of products of a business. The practice of developed countries shows that high-skilled resources are not abundant. The problem for businesses is how to attract, keep and make them bring into full play their talents in all business's activities. In the context of market economy, those businesses, who pay fair and adequate salary, provide training opportunity for workers, offer medical insurance and create clear working environment, will be able to attract and keep high-skilled resources.

All the above-mentioned are the foundation to argue for the necessity of implementation of corporate social responsibility in general and at the same time, are useful experiences and valuable references for Vietnam enterprises.

In Vietnam, despite its being recently introduced, the issue of corporate social responsibility is drawing attention of some of the ministries and branches. Evidently, since 2005 Vietnam Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Ministry of Labour, Invalids and Social Affairs, Ministry of Commerce and Trade and the Vietnam Leather and Footwear Association have granted award of "corporate social responsibility towards sustainable development" in order to pay honour to

¹³⁶ http://www.kinhdoanh.com.vn/mtkd/So4/4-baiviet.htm.

businesses implementing well the corporate social responsibility in the context of international integration. Today many big businesses in Vietnam realize that corporate social responsibility becomes one of the indispensable requirements for them because without compliance with corporate social responsibility businesses cannot get access to the world market in the context of globalization and international integration. While implementing corporate social responsibility many businesses gain positive results in their business activities. The result of a recent survey conducted by Vietnam's Institute for Science of Labour on 24 enterprises of two industries of footwear and textile shows that thanks to their implementation of corporate social responsibility, those businesses achieved a 25% increase in turnover, the labour productivity was raised from 34.2 million VN Dongs per year to 35.8 million VN Dongs per year, the rate of product export was raised from 94% to 97%. Apart from economic efficiency, the businesses also managed to reinforce their reputation with customers, create customer's attachment and satisfaction with their products and services as well as attract more skilled workers. 137

Thanks to the realization of the importance and benefit of the implementation of corporate social responsibility in the context of globalization and international integration, some big businesses in Vietnam, apart from their duty to pay taxes to the government, have registered to implement corporate social responsibility in the form of commitment to protect the environment and commitment to the local communities and workers. We admit that, in recent years many businesses have not fulfilled properly their social responsibility. Irresponsibility could be seen in frauds in business, financial reports, the lack of labour safety, the production and trade of low quality products, intended harms to the environment. Typical example are the *dumping* untreated wastewater into rivers by Miwon company, Haiduong leather tanning company, Viettri paper processing company, Hyundai Vinashin company that cause serious pollution to rivers and communities living along them, the production of foods containing healthdamaging ingredients: soya-sauce with 3-MCPD, rice-noodle containing phormon, powder milk containing melamine. There also are many

¹³⁷ http://www.kinhdoanh.com.vn/mtkd/So4/4-baiviet.htm.

cases in which businesses violate the legal regulations on salary, insurance system, labour safety for workers. All those incidents cause frustrations for the society. There is an urgent need to discover the causes of those phenomena as well as necessary measures to overcome them.

There exist different views on the reasons why businesses do not implement their social responsibility. Some people suggest that corporate social responsibility has not been legalized in all businesses in Vietnam. Only big export market enterprises have to implement corporate social responsibility under customer requirements. Due to their financial difficulty and the lack of legal bond many medium and small businesses interpret social responsibility as "contributions to charity." Other people think that medium and small enterprises do not want to implement corporate social responsibility because the implementation of corporate social responsibility will result in the increase of expenditure and reduce business's initial competitiveness without gaining immediate benefits. In short, the implementation of corporate social responsibility in Vietnam is still relatively difficult. The reasons are: first and foremost, the incomprehensive understanding of corporate social responsibility by businesses, in many cases corporate social responsibility is interpreted as contributions to charity; second, the implementation of corporate social responsibility also causes some difficulties for businesses, which experience the shortage of capital and technology in their implementation of the criteria of social responsibility. This is true especially in the cases of medium and small enterprises. In fact, most of enterprises in Vietnam are medium and small.

Generally, according to the research conducted in Vietnam by the World Bank in 2002, biggest challenges and obstacles for implementation of corporate social responsibility in Vietnam are:

- 1. There exist relatively big differences in understanding social responsibility within and among enterprises in Vietnam.
- 2. Productivity is impacted by the compliance with many Codes of conduct.
- 3. There is a lack of financial and technical resources to implement the criteria of corporate social responsibility (especially in cases of medium and small enterprises).

- 4. The difference between the Labour law and customer's code of conduct causes confusions for businesses, for example the issue of overtime work or trade union activities.
- 5. The lack of transparency in implementing corporate social responsibility in practice is obstructing the benefits brought about to businesses by potential markets.
- 6. The contradictions among state's regulations make the implementation of the code of conduct bring about unintended results, for example, salary levels, welfares and recruitment conditions.¹³⁸

The above-listed causes can be grouped into three main causes: cognitive cause, economic cause and legal cause. Therefore, in order to promote business's responsibility, it is necessary to focus on those causes to find out appropriate measures. What should be done are:

First, to propagate and educate all businesses, first of all, their managers, on corporate social responsibility, to make them understand that corporate social responsibility is not limited within charity work. Together with propagation, education is very important because all human behaviours are regulated by their consciousness. Therefore, the problem is how to make implementation of corporate social responsibility become the inner motivation of the heads and managers of businesses. The implementation of corporate social responsibility first of all is to be considered as a moral behaviour and is regulated by moral motivation. This is an inner ethical measure.

Second, it is necessary to build up a legal framework compelling enterprises to fulfill seriously and adequately corporate social responsibility. That measure relates to state's responsibility in creating an environment and legal framework for businesses to operate. The legal framework is the most effective measure for the implementation of responsibility; at the same time, it is a supporting measure for ethical measure that makes moral motivations reinforced and become more effective in practice. The difficulty that Vietnam and developing countries in general encounter is the fact that in the context of attracting more foreign investment businesses will find it difficult to attract foreign investors if more weight is put on environmental and social

¹³⁸ www.doanhnhan360.com/PortletBlank.aspx/44D1988963164E.

goals. Without emphasizing on corporate social responsibility, environmental and social consequences will not be compensated by the outcomes of economic growth. The goal of sustainable development, therefore, will not be achieved.

Conclusion

The issue of corporate social responsibility is relatively new in Vietnam. In recent years, in the face of environmental disasters and negative social outcomes caused by businesses, the issue of corporate social responsibility is urgently raised. In Vietnam, the implementation of corporate social responsibility is completely in accordance with the goal of the strategy of sustainable development. In order to implement corporate social responsibility in Vietnam, it is necessary to promote the propagation and education on social responsibility as well as the improvement of the legal framework for its implementation.

Part IV Development in Vietnam: Some Socio-Cultural Issues

Business Ethics: Some Theoretical and Practical Issues in Vietnam

Introduction

In an old Vietnamese viewpoint, businessmen are considered negatively as those who work deceitfully, illegally and immorally. Since the renovation till now, with the policy of building and developing socialist, oriented market economy, the reception of entrepreneurs and enterprises has changed, transferred from deceitful businessmen to the people contributing positively to socio-economic development and are the genius in society. Officially since 2006 the Vietnamese Government has chosen the 13th of October as Vietnam's entrepreneurs' day to honour the best entrepreneurs whose contribution is remarkable for the country's socio-economic development.

It is obviously acknowledged that the primary and main purpose of entrepreneurs and firms is *profit*, which is significantly important force that promotes newly good invention and creation in business to get real sufficiency not only for firms but also for society. Besides positive sides, profit can result in negative effects. To make profit, many businessmen set the law at defiance that is the universal problem of all market economy. Business ethics of businessmen and firms is always urgently pressing issue, especially when the Vietnamese market economy is still young, the system of laws are incomplete and inadequate. Business ethics is a kind of social ethics in the round of professional ethics like ethics of doctors, teachers or police officers, etc. however, the scale and impact of business ethics is large and penetrates almost all spheres of the social life.

Conceptions of Business Ethics

Ethics is derived from Greek word *ethiko* and *ethos* that means customs and habits. As a scientific concept, business ethics has just existed since an early half of seventies in the last century. The first

person giving this notion is Norman Bowie, the famous researcher on business ethics.¹³⁹

Until now, researchers have introduced definitions on business ethics. According to Phillip V. Lewis, Abilene Christian University, America, from about 1961 to 1985, there were 185 definitions on business ethics in source books and reviews. After generalizing the similarity in 185 ones, he considers business ethics as regulations, standards, features to assess behaviour of business subjects. He writes: "Business ethics is all ethical principles, standards or laws to direct an organization's behaviour and fidelity in some specific cases." ¹⁴⁰ Ferrels and John Fraedrich focus on behaviour adjustment aspect of business ethics to business subjects: "Business ethics includes fundamental principles and standards adjusting behaviour in business world. However, evaluating specifically right or wrong behaviour fitting with ethics or not is decided by investors, staff, customers, interest – related groups, legal system as well as community." ¹⁴¹

At present, in Vietnam, business ethics has still been quite a new issue, has not been written much in research works and textbooks. Apart from some American books translated into Vietnamese, 142 recently, there have been quite lot of articles on business ethics published in some websites such as enterprises forum, Labour, Saigon Times, the Saigon times. Yet, these papers only focus on describing phenomena violating business ethics of firms, theoretical issues have not been mentioned in them.

In the simplest and most general form, it can be seen that business ethics is the principles accepted by society to sort out wrong or right, moral or immoral behaviours of enterprise owners for correcting them. If business ethics is thought that it belongs to a form of the social

¹³⁹ A.M. Marcoux, "The Concept of Business in Business Ethics," *Journal of Private Enterprise* (April 1, 2006).

¹⁴⁰ Phillip V. Lewis, "Defining Business Ethics: Like Nailing Jello to a Wall," *Journal of Business Ethics* 4 (1985), 377-383.

¹⁴¹ O.C. Ferrels and John Fraedrich, *Business Ethics: Ethical Decision Making and Cases* (Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin Company, 2005).

¹⁴² Some books written by American authors have been translated into Vietnamese, for example, Verne E. Henderson, *What's Ethical in Business?* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1992).

consciousness, a collection of principles to readjust and value man's behaviour in his interaction with the society, nature in the past or present and future carried out by individual belief, tradition and power of public opinion, it is not only legal compliance but also moral responsibility implementation of firms.

According to the definition, business ethics shares a great deal of similarities with law compliance, corporate social responsibility (CSR). It means that business ethics includes the denotation of law abiding and the concern about right protection for related subjects to enterprises' activities and public benefits. Moreover, it is expected by some people to unify business ethics with CSR, others think the connotation of business ethics is broader than CSR's; others suggest business ethics and CSR are two sides of business philosophy and are separated from each other. Those issues mentioned above are essential for further discussion and research. In reality, the concepts of "business ethics" and "corporate social responsibility" are often used to replace each other in various circumstances, no explicit clarification remains. On theory, both concepts reflect different spheres of business activities of business subjects.

Since then, it is considered that CSR is the obligation that an enterprise or individual needs to conduct to maximize positive effects and minimize negative ones in the society, meanwhile business ethics is the regulations, principles and standards guiding behaviour of business subjects in business activities. In the most common sense, it is found that CSR is the commitment of enterprises to society while business ethics is the specific regulations on moral dignity orienting the process of decision-making of business organizations.

It is affirmed that business ethics concerns about the oriented principles and regulations of business subjects' and agencies' activities, at the same time, CSR implies the consequences to the society of those activities. Business ethics shows motivation, desire, expectation depriving from internal factors of business subjects, the desire of CSR implementation origins from external factors. The definition above has been significantly general to identify whether an enterprise or its owner is moral and its action is ethical. The adjustment can be possible if we can use legal documents although in some specific cases, it is extremely tough.

In order to embody the principles, several organizations have established code of conduct or the global compact, for instance, code of conduct has existed since the early 1990s of the 19th century. The first code was built in 1991 by Levi Straus. Until now, there have been more than 1000 codes of conduct created by multinational corporations around the world, including SA800 by Social Accountability International-SAI.

The contents of the first code of conduct were distinguished, but nowadays most codes mostly focus on the principles of ILO. Almost all of them contain 10 terms representing the principles of basic convention of ILO, for instance, SA8000 consists of CSR regulation, such as: 1/ child u, 2/ forced labor, 3/ labour safety and sanitation, 4/ freedom of association and right to collective bargaining accord, 5/ discrimination, 6/ labour discipline, 7/ working hours, 8/ wage, 9/ management system.¹⁴³

In international scale, in July 2000, the United Nations officially announced the Global Compact to enterprises society. The target of the Global Compact is to support the commitment of enterprises to sustainable development and fair economy. The members of the Compact must claim the agreement of the Compact terms. Now, there are 8000 members in which 5300 firms (both public and private enterprises) participate in the Compact all over the world.

The Global compact makes up 10 genenal terms which can be devided into 4 articles:

1. Art. on human rights

Term 1: Enterprise must support and respect human rights announced by the United Nations;

Term 2: Enterprise must commit anti-complicity with human rights abuse.

2. Art. On Labour

Term 3: Enterprise must assist freedom of association and acknowledge collection bargaining accord;

Term 4: Enterprise must abandon all forms of forced or abiding labour;

¹⁴³ Economy and forecast, No 3, Feb. 2009.

Term 5: Enterprise must truly reject child labour;

Term 6: Enterprise must cleanup discrimination in labour recruitment and job.

3. Art. On environment

Term 7: Enterprise must substantiate curing options towards environmental challenges;

Term 8: Enterprise must implement inventions to improve environmental responsibility;

Term 9: Enterprise needs to encourage and popularize the development of friendly – environment technology.

4. Art. On corruption prevention

Term 10: Enterprise must prevent all forms of corruption including bribery.

The Global Compact is not a code of conduct, actually it is considered as a voluntary agreement which is based on it, enterprises can establish their own code of conduct.

The issue that has been raised is, should we have a general code of conduct for all nations or should each nation build its own code by itself? At national level, should the construction of code of conduct for enterprises be necessary?

Problems of Business Ethics in Vietnamese Enterprises

In State-owned Enterprises

The urgent problem of business ethics in Vietnamese state-owned enterprises today is corruption. According to the report on corruption conducted by the Central Committee for Corruption Prevention in the late 2005, 56.5% of interviewed governmental staff said their direct senior had corrupted at different levels. If governmental seniors get corrupted, their corruption prevention appeals are not effective.

Based on the evaluation of Transparency International, Vietnam is in the list of seriously – corrupted countries. In 2011, in spite of specific improvement, Vietnam's index still got the low point and hit the

bottom of the rank. TI also suggested, in Asian countries, corruption in Vietnam was even more severe than other Asian countries as Singapore, Japan, Korea, Brunei, Malaysia, China, Thailand, Indonesia, but was still less critical than Mongolia, the Philippines, Laos, Cambodia, Myanmar. 144 In 2012, Vietnam, Laos and China lost their positions in the rank by TI. North Korea still remained the gravest corrupt nation in the world. Vietnam's position was 123rd among 176 nations and territories in comparison with the former 112th position. The rank of TI in 2011 had 180 nations and territories. In second chart on perceived level of corruption in public sector, Vietnam got 31 marks. In 2011, Vietnam catched 2.9 points in the 0-10 table.

According to TI's assessment, Vietnamese economy dealt with unstable issues in the context of a series of corruption scandals in corporates and inefficient management of state – owned enterprises that preoccupy investors society. Vietnamese government recently promoted corruption prevention, arrested banking and state – owned enterprise managers.¹⁴⁵

In Foreign Directed Investment Enterprises (FDI Enterprises)

Until 2007, there were 4509 FDI enterprises operating in Vietnam. Most of them implemented relatively well business ethics and corporate social responsibility. Their efficient operation produced high – quality products and contributed remarkably to government budget, fostered economic growth. Unilever was considered as one of the most successful FDI enterprises in its business and public support activities. From 1995 to 2005, Unilever Vietnam contributed to national fund up to 2.400 billions VND. In April 2000, Unilever Vietnam was awarded by the Prime Minister of Vietnam for its achievements to its business and social contribution through projects supporting social health care and education. The company were also rewarded *The Third-class Labor Merit* (2002) and *The Second-class Labour Merit* (2005) due to its contribution to the development of Vietnam.

Aside from most highly – prestige FDI enterprises and corporates always looking up to business ethics and social responsibility in their

¹⁴⁴ www.vnexpress.net dated 19th November, 2012.

¹⁴⁵ www.vnexpress.net dated 6th December, 2012.

operation in Vietnam, several foreign firms still severely violate these issues. For instance, Vedan, a Taiwan company discharging unprocessed water into Thi Vai river causes environmental pollution and influences people's health. Even, a few foreign enterprises in Vietnam are smuggling and tax dodging including Kanaan, Coca Cola, etc.

In Private Enterprises

Apart from a few enterprises operating with its prestige, integrating into international market, performing its awareness and responsibility to community such as Mai Linh Taxi Group, Trung Nguyen coffee Group, Thai Tuan textile and Garment Group, etc., business ethics and social responsibility in Vietnam's private enterprises is the pressing problem. Most of them have not yet supplied high-quality products for consumer, exposed the demand of keeping trust/prestige in their business (with customers, partners and society). They have not also percepted intensively environment protection, treatment to labour, gender equality that are in terms of corporate social responsibility. The instance of unrespecting prestige has been a popular phenomenon. However, in concord with policies and regulations enacted by the Government, those phenomena have been under the control gradually.

It is realized that in comparison with early years of renovation, private enterprises in Vietnam have been robust. The outlook reflects regularization of remaining firms and formation of new ones. The variety of firm sector is accounted as one of the major characters, even the strong point of transfer process in Vietnam's economy. Yet, most Vietnamese enterprises have not attached special importance to business culture, hence, business environment in Vietnam still has lots of inadequate things. In short, it can be affirmed that the most critical challenge of business ethics in Vietnam is the lack of trust:

Vietnamese society is a low trust society. It is hard it to find trust or prestige in Vietnamese society. To believe in each other, family factors or blood relations are likely expected. It is a big challenge in creating an image of favourable business environment in Vietnam. The capacity of trust establishment and consanguinity in business has been recognized as the weakness of Vietnamese enterprises currently.

Violating regulation on food hygiene and safety is an alarming problem in Vietnamese society. In order to get more profits, many companies and individual households use toxic chemicals in food process that impacts badly on community health. For example, they use toxic chemicals such as MDP3 in soy soup production, Formaldehyde in noodle production, Rhodamine B to make pumpkin seeds colourful or industrial colorants for chili powder production, etc.

Food poisoning as the result of lacking of business ethics and social responsibility by businessmen has been a very common phenomenon in Vietnam. In relationship with foreign partners, a few Vietnamese enterprises have not kept their partners' trust. Many batch of goods have been returned by foreign partners since quality in the second times of export was different from the first one. The problem of losing trust of Vietnamese enterprises when signing contracts with foreign partners also leads to negative influences on the prestige.

Some Solutions for Business Ethics Implementation in Vietnam

There are three main reasons for weakness in business ethics and corporate social responsibility including perceptive reason, economic one and legal one. Therefore, in order to enhance business ethics and social responsibility, it is necessary to give solutions based on the reasons. The details can be:

Firstly, it is necessary to establish a legal and mandatory framework to require enterprises to follow business ethics seriously and comprehensively. The solution mentioned is related to the government's responsibility in creating environment and legal phase for enterprises activities. The legal framework which is the most effective method for business ethics implementation, at the same time, the most efficient support solution for moral issues makes moral motive be strengthened and fixed in practice. The challenges for Vietnam and developing countries in general is that in the context of attracting foreign investment, giving priority to social and environmental targets, it is very hard for Vietnamese enterprises to receive foreign investment whereas looking down on business ethics, environmental and social consequences cannot be compensated by economic growth achievements. It cannot reach the goal of sustainable development.

Secondly, it is necessary to propagate and educate business ethics for all enterprises, enterprises owners included. It is essential for them to understand that business ethics not only affects the society generally but also gets long term benefits in the aspect of brand advertisement for enterprises. Training is extremely significant since all human behaviours are through human awareness and oriented by awareness. The issue is how business ethics implementation can be internal motivation of enterprise owners. Implementing business ethics should be a moral action and controlled by morality. It is a moral solution.

Thirdly, it is necessary to construct moral principles in the form of code of conduct or the global compact done by international organizations. In reality, Vietnam has its own code of conduct and the global compact. The Global Conduct Network Vietnam (GCNV) was born in 2007. It has been "a prominent national center of corporate social responsibility." It supports its members in setting up, expanding the enterprises' connection with community, environment, the government so as to gain the aim of sustainable enterprises, prosperous society. GCNV consists of 75 organizations inside and outside of Vietnam which are firms, NGOs, academies, agencies of the United Nations and other governmental agencies in Vietnam. Most members of GCNV are small and medium enterprises.

The code of conduct has not yet readjusted effectively the behaviours of enterprise owners. Accordingly, it is important to continuously establish a code of conduct matching with Vietnamese conditions and to make it practically to correct business subjects' and enterprises' behaviour.

Conclusion

Business ethics is a relatively new problem in Vietnam, however, in recent years, dealing with negatively social consequences caused by enterprises, business ethics has been sparked urgently. In Vietnam, business ethics implementation is totally suitable to the target of sustainable development strategy. It can be concluded that, the perfection of legal framework, the training, propagation and establishment of code of conduct on business ethics is the most relevant solutions in order to gradually improve business ethics in Vietnam today.

Social Solidarity as the Foundation for Realization of Democracy in Vietnam

As a precious tradition of the Vietnamese, social solidarity has been tempered through the thousand-year history of building and safeguarding the country and challenged by the struggles against natural calamities as well as foreign invaders. Thanks to the tradition, in the face of any foreign aggression all the Vietnamese have risen up, united as one man with the firm determination that all the Vietnamese "would rather sacrifice all than lose the country and become enslaved." Although solidarity has become a Vietnamese value, it does not mean that solidarity has become a tradition only exclusively in Vietnam. On the contrary, solidarity can be a fine tradition in many other nations or in majority of the nations worldwide simply because it is difficult for any nation to exist and flourish without the spirit of national solidarity and especially, in the present context, solidarity has become an indispensable factor for maintaining sustainable development and social harmonization.

However, the solidarity tradition of the Vietnamese is not the same as that of other nations and in order to articulate clearly the distinctive features of Vietnam more specialized research on its traditional values, on its people and the country is needed. Generally speaking, the Vietnamese tradition of solidarity has been established within the specific living conditions of the Vietnamese, who have been constantly engaging in the struggle against natural calamities as well as foreign invaders. *The very arduous conditions* made the Vietnamese to become consolidated and relied on each other to endure and prosper.

The practice of the struggles of the Vietnamese against foreign aggressors has affirmed that thanks to the national great solidarity the nation has gained independence, national unification. Special attention has always been paid to the issue of solidarity and national great solidarity in Vietnam.

The View of Ho Chi Minh and the Communist Party of Vietnam on Social Solidarity

Some basic points in the view of Ho Chi Minh and the Communist Party of Vietnam on the issue of national solidarity should be stated briefly. While inheriting our traditional thought on national great solidarity as well as relying on lessons drawn from his own experience of seeking the way to national liberation, Ho Chi Minh pointed out many important thoughts on solidarity and national great solidarity.

Ho Chi Minh had realized the important role the solidarity had played during the arduous years of the resistance war as well at the beginning period of the national construction. He wrote, "During the resistance war we encountered many difficulties and hardships, enemy significantly outnumbered us but we eventually won the war thanks to solidarity. Thus in the present period of peaceful reconstruction we will certainly be successful if we know how to promote solidarity." Ho Chi Minh generalized his thought on solidarity in a famous slogan, which serves as an acting precept for the nation of Vietnam:

"Solidarity, solidarity, great solidarity Success, success, great success"¹⁴⁷

As Ho Chi Minh perceived "solidarity is a national policy but not a political intrigue. We must be united to fight for national unification and independence; we also should stand united to construct our country. We reconcile with people who have talent, virtue, strength and willingness to serve the country and people." He also stressed that "Solidarity should be widespread, firm as well as constantly reinforced at the same time: a house will be solid if the foundation is firm, a plan will flourish if the root is well-grounded. We should avoid two erroneous tendencies in the policy on solidarity: narrow isolation

¹⁴⁶ Ho Chi Minh, The Complete Works, Vol. 8. p. 392.

¹⁴⁷ Ibid., Vol. 10, p. 607.

¹⁴⁸ Ibid., Vol. 7, p.438

and unprincipled solidarity."¹⁴⁹ Ho Chi Minh claimed that the most important and immutable principle in realizing of great solidarity is the principle of protecting national supreme interests and basic interests of the people of Vietnam.

In his view on solidarity, people solidarity plays a crucial role. While keeping the thought that without the support from the people even simple things cannot be done while more complicated and difficult things can be overcome successfully with the support from the people in mind, Ho Chi Minh pointed out clearly that the greatest strength lay in the people and this strength will enormously increase when the people stay united. He wrote, "there is nothing more precious than people under heaven. There is nothing greater than the strength of united people." ¹⁵⁰

It should be noted that Ho Chi Minh's view on solidarity has served as the foundation for gathering people from all social strata, different parties and religions, even people who used to be misguided but eventually became repentant of their mistake. Thus, he wrote "we should unite closely people from various strata, different parties, organizations, personalities, friendly ethnic groups, non-believers as well as religious followers." ¹⁵¹

Ho Chi Minh paid particular attention to the solidarity between non-believers and believers, between lowlanders and highlanders. For example, in regard to the solidarity between non-believers and believers he wrote "all people, regardless of their faith, should stand closely united... in order to safeguard our homeland and, at the same time, the right of religious freedom," we should unite closely non-believers and believers together to build a harmonious, prosperous life and construct the Homeland. Respectful policies and guidelines towards religious freedom of all religions must be implemented and obeyed properly." He also emphasized that the saying of "following the Party while being alive, following God after death" generalizes rightly the attitude (mood) of religious followers with the sense of

¹⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, Vol. 7 p. 438

¹⁵⁰ Ibid., Vol. 8 p. 276

¹⁵¹ Ho Chi Minh, *The Complete Works*, Vol. 10, pp. 605-606.

¹⁵² Ibid., Vol. 4, p. 490.

¹⁵³ Ibid., Vol. 10, p. 606.

patriotism: they follow the Party while keeping their own religious faith and belief in God. We must convert that saying into a motto to educate and mobilize religious compatriots to engage actively into production activities and battle field"¹⁵⁴ and "the yearning of religious followers is to achieve bodily and spiritually welfare. To that aim people should strive for developing production and increasing income. Simultaneously, religious freedom should be protected providing that religious activities do not hinder people's production activities or go against Government's laws and policies."¹⁵⁵

Similarly, Ho Chi Minh also paid due attention to the solidarity among different nationalities and ethnic groups living in Vietnam. He had always advised that the Party and the Government should take care about the solidarity of all nationalities without any discrimination; all nationalities should stand closely united as siblings together to build the common Homeland, to make every nationality prosper and flourishing. All highlanders should stand closely united, ethnic minorities should unite with ethnic majorities, the more advanced and developed nationalities must foster the less developed ones so that all nationalities could flourish together and stand united like siblings from the same family"156 and affirmed that "The Viet or the Yao, the Muong or Rhade, the Rajlai or Sedang or Bahna... and other ethnic minorities are all the descendants of the Vietnamese, all are brothers and sisters. We should be wholeheartedly faithful to each other in every situation."157 Especially he stressed that "for those people who are misguided, we should convert them with compassion and generosity. In doing so a great solidarity will be established and once the latter is established our future will surely be glorious." ¹⁵⁸ There are, in Ho Chi Minh thought many other important arguments on solidarity and national great solidarity, which are still imbued deeply with humanistic significance. Until his passing away, Ho Chi Minh was concerned about solidarity, first of all the unity within the Party, which should be preserved as the apple of the eye. In his Testament, which

¹⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, Vol. 11, p. 575.

¹⁵⁵ *Ibid.*, Vol. 11, p. 575.

¹⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, Vol. 10, pp. 282, 418, 460-461

¹⁵⁷ Ho Chi Minh, The Complete Works, Vol. 4 p. 217.

¹⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, Vol. 4, pp. 246-247.

he left for all the Party and the people, he wrote "Unity is an extremely precious tradition of our Party and people. All comrades, from the Central Committee down to the cell, must preserve the unity and oneness of mind in the Party like the apple of their eye."

While inheriting Ho Chi Minh's thoughts on solidarity and national great solidarity, since its Fourth National Congress the Communist Party of Vietnam has been paying more and more attention to the development of the national great solidarity. Since its Fourth National Congress the Party has initiated the cause of country's comprehensive renovation. The Party realized that there exist many pressing issues relating to legitimate interests of the people. In order to find solutions to these issues the Party must work out appropriate policies and guidelines for different social strata including the working class, peasants, intellectuals, the young, women, people from ethnic minorities, religious followers as well of the Vietnamese residing and working abroad.

Party's thoughts on national great solidarity have been constantly supplemented and improved during the Sixth, Seventh, Eight, Ninth and Tenth National Congresses of the Communist Party of Vietnam. While inheriting Ho Chi Minh's thoughts on solidarity and national great solidarity the Tenth National Congress the Communist Party of Vietnam affirmed that solidarity and national great solidarity is "the strategic policy and the main driving force for constructing and safeguarding the Homeland." This strategic guideline aims at "realizing the unity among all nationalities, religions, classes, social strata, genders, ages, regions, Party's and non-Party's members, working people and pensioners, all members belonging to the great family of Vietnamese nationalities regardless of their place of residency in Vietnam or abroad."159 The Party points out clearly the principle to build the national great solidarity, which consists of "promoting the strength of the whole national community, patriotic tradition, self-reliance will and national pride; making the goals of firm maintenance of national independence, unification as well as wealthy people, strong country, civilized, just and democratic society the common point; respecting

¹⁵⁹ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the Party's Tenth National Congress*(Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2001), p. 123

the diversity of views and opinions, which do not go against national common interests; eradicating preconceptions and discriminations based on class and background differences; building the spirit of openness, mutual trust and a future-oriented attitude."¹⁶⁰

The idea of national great solidarity has been clearly articulated and concisely stated in section 10 of the Report of the Tenth Party Central Committee under the title "to bring into full play the strength of national great solidarity, renovate the mode of action of the Vietnamese National Fatherland Front and other people associations." Fundamental thoughts on the national great solidarity, which have been presented in the documents of the Tenth Party Congress, can be stated briefly as follows:

First, the national great solidarity, which is based on the alliance between the working class, peasant class and intellectuals under the leadership of the Party, is the strategic policy of the cause of revolution in Vietnam.

Second, the national great solidarity is the source of the strength, the driving force and the decisive factor guaranteeing the sustainable victory of the cause of constructing and safeguarding the Homeland.

Third, the goal of national independence and unification is to serve as the common point to adhere and unite compatriots from all nationalities, religions, social strata, all people living within Vietnam as well as residing abroad.

Fourth, all preconceptions, prejudgments, discriminations based on class and background differences are to be eliminated. Different views, given that they do not go against national interests, should be treated with respect. The tradition of benevolence and righteousness as well as the spirit of openness, mutual trust and a future-oriented attitude should be promoted in order to achieve political stability and social consensus.¹⁶¹

In its documents the Party also affirms that the national great solidarity is the national cause, therefore, regarding every class, social strata and community, the Party, the Government and people's associations and organizations should work out concrete measures to

¹⁶⁰ The Communist Party of Vietnam (2001). *The Documents of the Party's Tenth National Congress*, p. 124.

¹⁶¹ *Ibid.*, p. 116

build the national solidarity block. For example, regarding the solidarity with religious followers, the Party affirms that "Religious people are an important part of the national great solidarity block. We should realize consistently the policy of respecting and guaranteeing religious freedom, people's right to pursue or not pursue faith as well as right to conduct legitimate religious activities. We should unite people from different religious backgrounds, religious followers with nonfollowers and promote fine ethical and cultural values of different religions." ¹⁶²

Aas stated above, the Party's view is an inheritance and development of Ho Chi Minh's view on solidarity and national great solidarity. Based on the practice of the resistance wars against colonialism and imperialism, specially the practice of renovation years, the Communist Party of Vietnam has come to some important conclusions: the national great solidarity is the source of the strength, the main driving force and the decisive factor guaranteeing the sustainable victory of the cause of constructing and safeguarding the Homeland

Social Solidarity and Social Consensus

Social solidarity is the unity, reconciliation and cooperation among social strata and classes in society. To affirm that social solidarity is the main driving force for the cause of constructing and safeguarding the Homeland means that unity and consensus, rather than contradiction, are the driving force. The scope of the category of social solidarity is narrower than that of unity. While the latter, which is understood as unity in diversity, can be used to characterize both natural and social phenomena, the former, which is understood as social unity, is applicable limitedly within the range of social phenomena. Unity implies solidarity. Social solidarity is social unity, or social consensus, or social unity in diversity.

In order to interpret solidarity as the driving force for social development, Vietnam ought to resolve a more generalized problem: the

¹⁶² The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the Party's Tenth National Congress*, p. 122.

problem of contradiction or the unity of opposites playing the role of the driving force of motion and development.

The problem of contradiction or resolution to contradiction as the driving force of development has been posed long time ago among the Vietnamese scholars engaging in teaching and researching Marxist philosophy in Vietnam. There are different views on this problem. Some suggest that contradiction is an objective and self-resolving process, therefore, it is the source and at the same time the driving force of development. On the contrary, others think that contradiction is the source of development and only solution to contradiction is the driving force for development. It is more plausible to support the view that contradiction is the source originating motion and development and only *solution to contradiction* is the driving force of development.

According to Hegel's and Marx's views, contradiction is a process starting from opposites (struggling against each other) – solution to contradiction – unity. Also according to Marx, contradictoriness is objective and universal, which exists in every thing and phenomenon, both in nature, society and human thought.

While in nature contradictions are solved by themselves independently from subjective will of human beings, in society contradictions are solved though conscious activities of human beings. Man's cognition activities play significant role in the process of resolving contradictions. In other words, once contradictions occur in society there will be need to solve them and sooner or later they must be resolved. Here the man's activities play important role resolving that 'sooner or later'. Besides, man's cognition and activity also have revert effects on the process of formation and development of the very contradictions.

If one views that the solution to contradiction is the very driving force of development, early identification and resolving of contradicttion play crucial role in creating social solidarity and consensus. In order to establish social consensus, social solidarity or social unity, one should identify contradictions in time and solve them. Timely solution to contradictions is the foundation for social consensus and solidarity. Therefore, social consensus and social solidarity are the outcomes of the resolving of social contradictions.

Social Solidarity and the Realization of Democracy in Vietnam Today

Social Solidarity and the Issues of Harmonization of Diverse Interests

Essentially, the source of social contradictions is the contradiction among interests. Interest is the direct driving force promoting man to act in order to satisfy his own needs and demands. In every man as well in society there exist various kinds of interests. The variety of interests is determined by the diversity of demands. In society interests may be identical but usually they are different and even contradictive. Therefore, people with different interests pursue different activities. As a result, the development of the history, as Ph. Engels rightly affirmed, is something that belongs to the will of individuals, something *objective*. The development tendency of the history is expressed through a diagonal of the parallelogram of forces. The diagonal will be extended longer when man's activities are directed only to one direction, and on the contrary, it will become shorter if man's activities are directed to many different directions.

The question is how to converge man's will and activity of human beings to a unitary direction or, in other words, how to unite man's will and activity. If interest is the driving force promoting man to act, the key point to converge man's activity to a unitary direction can be found in the (proper) handling of the relationship among (different) interests. It is known that there exist various interests. According to different criteria, interests can be classified differently. For example, based on the subjects of interests, interests can be divided into: individual, collective and social, class and national. Even individual interests can also be further divided into: economic, political, cultural.

It is difficult to state that interest is more important than others among these interests. One can only affirm that depending on a concrete historical period this or that interest becomes more pressing or important. For example, during the struggle for national independence, national interests rather than individual or class interests are more pressing and serve as the main driving force to promote people to act. Many have sacrificed not only their individual interests but even their lives for national existence. In such a time individual and

class interests have united with national interests because without the latter even individuals, let alone their interests or class interests, could have been eliminated. In that context national and individual have become identical and served as the foundation for reinforcing social solidarity.

However, in normal conditions, the existence of differences among interests is understandable because every individual pursues his own interests, communities and societies pursue other interests. The very diversity of interests brings about different tendencies to social development. Individual interests and social or community interests may be the same as they also may be different and even contradictive to each other. In planning a policy for social development, we must give priority to social interests than the interests of communities and eventually the promotion of individual interests is to be considered. For social or community interests themselves are common interests answering the demands and needs of the whole society or community. Individual interests of working masses are very diverse and it is difficult to know to whose interests priority should be given.

Individual interests of working masses are strongest driving force for encouraging and stimulating humans to act because the satisfaction of individual interests directly answers the vital needs of individuals. A policy or guideline on social development, which is based on social interests and then community interests, will be successfully realized when social and community interests are similar or simulative to individual interests.

The problem is how to ensue a certain planned social development simultaneously with promoting the proactivity and enthusiasm of certain individuals and communities. Starting from the view regarding social contradictions, which are essentially contradictions among interests, and their resolving as the driving force for social development, a harmonious combination of interests is the very foundation to encourage (promote) rationally individual interests towards guaranteeing social development. When individual interests are harmoniously combined with community and social interests, the former are still able to become driving forces for human activities, which will bring positive results and benefits for the realization of community and social interests. Social interests should become the common

ground for community interests, which, in turn, should become the common denominator for individual interests. Thus, the principle of harmonious combination of various kinds of interest becomes the principle of mutual benefit, which relies on the unity of interests to create common concern. The harmonization of interests implies the respect and tolerance for various interests. This is very important in the context of Vietnam, in which 54 different nationalities and ethnic groups with different cultural traditions and religious beliefs have been living harmoniously together during our history. Social solidarity means respect and tolerance to differences and the awareness of common care the building of common identity.

Social Solidarity, Democracy and Sustainable Development

The Cause of renovation in Vietnam since 1986 has brought about historical significance and great achievements in various spheres including economic, political, social, cultural etc. One of the important achievements is the establishment of social consensus, establishment and reinforcement of the national great solidarity block. The national great solidarity has really become the main driving force for country's development. The harmonious combination of various interests serves as the foundation for social consensus and social solidarity.

Even within the sphere of foreign relations, the Party and the Government have pursued consistently the policy to befriend all nations in the world community on the basis of mutual respect for national sovereignty and mutual benefit. As a result, Vietnam has become a reliable counterpart for many countries around the world and its national status in the international arena has been steadily enhanced.

Within the field of domestic policies, the principle of harmonious combination of various interests has become the foundation for the national strategy for sustainable development. The leaders of Vietnam intend to combine short-term with longterm interests, individual, collective with social interests, economic with political interests, social with cultural interests as well as the interests among various regions in our country, interests of different classes and social strata....All the policies and guidelines of Vietnam are to aim at realizing the policy to combine harmoniously all interests to create social consensus and

social solidarity. Only relying on social consensus and social solidarity can Vietnamese people bring their country towards a modern and sustainable development.

It should be remembered that at the present stage of social development in Vietnam, together with the promotion of the national cause of industialization and modernization, fast and sustainable development is a thorough view in the socio-economic development strategy of Vietnam at the present. The Party's 11th Congress, which was held in January 2011, stated clearly the point of view on national development for a new period, in which the Party affirmed that fast development in combination with sustainable development is the content of primary importance "sustainable development is the foundation for fast development, fast development is to create resources necessary for sustainable development. Fast development and sustainable development should be closely attached in planning and policies of socio-economic development. Attention should be particularly paid to socio-political stability, national defense and security, steadfast protection of national independence, sovereignty, national unity and territorial integrity in order to secure the fast and sustainable development of the country."163

Vietnam's strategy expresses clearly the combination of the traditional and classic view with the new and specific view of Vietnam on development. Within the fast and sustainable development strategy of Vietnam can be seen the following points:

First, the elements of socio-political stability, steadfast safeguard of national independence and territorial integrity, guarantee of political security, social order and safety, active and proactive international integration, the creation of peaceful and favourable conditions for the national development are most prerequisite condition for the fast and sustainable development. The political changes in some countries in the world today show that we cannot talk about development, not to mention sustainable development, without socio-political stability, steadfast safeguard of national independence and maintenance of territorial integrity...

¹⁶³ The Communist Party of Vietnam, *The Documents of the Party's Tenth National Congress*, p. 99.

Second, the strategy of fast and sustainable development focuses on the enhancement of the quality of development, the combination between economic growth and the comprehensive development of man, realization of democracy, social progress and justice, creation of employment opportunities, improvement of the quality of life, encouragement of legally getting rich with reduction of poverty, the attention to the protection and improvement of environment in every step of development. In other words, the strategy of fast and sustainable development is oriented simultaneously to three aims of economic development, social development and protection of natural resources and the environment.

Third, the strategy of sustainable development of Vietnam addresses pretty comprehensively different aspects of development, including the noticeably harmonious solutions to relationship between fast and sustainable development, quantitative growth and qualitative improvement, development in scope and development in content; the harmony between economic development and dealing with social issues, economic growth and environmental protection...Harmony is, therefore, one of the important contents of the strategy of sustainable development.

Fourth, the central issue, the key goal of the strategy of sustainable development is the issue of people's livelihood, which is expressed in the strategy we just mentioned above. The strategy of fast and sustainable development pays attention on the quality of economic development, orients to the comprehensive development of man, the realization of democracy, social progress and social justice, the creation of employment opportunities, improvement of the quality of life, encouragement of legally getting rich with reduction of poverty, the attention to the protection and improvement of environment in every step of development. Clearly, that goal, after all, is to solve better and better the issue of people's livelihood, guarantee a comfortable and happy life for the whole population. In the practice of Vietnam, the strategy of fast and sustainable development is the effective way to guarantee country's socialistic-oriented development aiming at the goal of "wealthy people, strong country, just, democratic and civilized society."

Thus, in order to implement effectively the strategy of fast and sustainable development, we need to continue to create strong and sustainable changes in awareness, renovate strongly development thinking, grasp thoroughly all policies, plans, projects and action programs. It is necessary to implement in wide scope and at every level with the participation of all branches and levels, the consensus participation of the whole political system, communities of economic actors and all citizens. Here we can see the close relation between realization of democracy and sustainable development. Because realizing and practicing democracy is a constituent of sustainable development. Practicing democracy is to multiply the contents of sustainable development. It is stemming from a very important stance which considers human as both aim and subject of the development. Human resources are a longterm competitive advantage and decisive factor to the development of a nation. Widely practicing democracy will promote the creativity of individuals which contributes to the rapid and sustainable development of our country. The higher democracy the deeper social consensus is and the great national unity is further fortified.

To bring democracy into full play and make it become resources for development, two conditions should be satisfied: first, creating equal opportunity for everybody to learn and build a learned society in order to raise people's knowledge; second, practicing mastership of the people through institutional settings is necessary for ensuring democracy in all facets of social life and expanding direct democracy. Democracy is closely linked with discipline and laws.

Thus, the standpoint on sustainable development with concrete contents has been perceived and reflected very early by the Party and the Government of Vietnam. Sustainable development has become a consistent policy in the leadership and governance of the process of national development in recent decades. Both within international and national level, the Vietnam Government has strongly committed to implement sustainable development as well as to link sustainable development with all-round development of man and consider human development as both the aim and driving force of the socioeconomic development.¹⁶⁴

¹⁶⁴ Goverment's Decision number 153 (2004) on The Orientation of the Strategy of Sustainable Development in Vietnam, The Establishiment of the

Conclusion

Solidarity is a precious tradition of the Vietnamese, thanks to which the Vietnamese nation has overcome many historical challenges to survive and flourish. Today, solidarity becomes the main driving force for the national development in the context of globalization and international integration. Solidarity becomes the driving force because it creates the joint aspirations and forces of different social strata and communities of the Vietnamese. In the multi-cultural and multi religious context of Vietnam social solidarity is the very foundation for the sustainable development in Vietnam.

The dialectic relation between social solidarity, social consensus and realization and practice of democracy can be seen in the fact that democracy in the society is continuously expanded, the society becomes more open and consensus; the defense and security are stably maintained; our political and social life remain stable. There have been more positive changes in the face of the country; the position and status of Vietnam in the international arena are improved and heightened; many positive premises for fast and sustainable development have been created for improving the quality of the people.

National Coucil for Sustainable Development, The Project on Implementation of the 21 Agenda, The Goals of Minennium and other offical documents.

Promotion of Traditional Cultural Values in the Context of Globalization

National Spirit and Cultural Values

In every cultural tradition its national spirit is its national consciousness, which has been established and crystallized during the whole existence and development of a nation. It is the foundation for national will and character manifesting in the values of national cultural tradition. National spirit plays an important role in the orientation of the existence and development of a nation. It is its faith and aspired aim. The national spirit of the Vietnamese is their national consciousness, which has been created during their whole historical process and expressed in the values of their cultural tradition. It is the very spirit that has created the will and strength for the Vietnamese to sustain and develop their country during their thousands-year history. In other words, national spirit is a crystallization and sublimetion of the traditional values of a nation.

In recent years, many scholars have focused on and elucidated the traditional values of the Vietnamese in their seminars and published works. Such traditional values as patriotism, fondness for independence and freedom, diligence, striving will, fondness for learning, moderateness, the sense of deference to the elders, the high sense of community, etc., are often considered typical Vietnamese traditional values. ¹⁶⁵ Other values, such as frugality, commitment to family, awareness of extreme individualism, etc., are also mentioned. ¹⁶⁶

The problem is whether the above values are typically Vietnamese or they are common values existing in all traditional cultures of all

¹⁶⁵ Tran Dai Vinh, "Some Thoughts on the Employing Traditional Values, Striving for New Values as Driving Forces for the Development in Present Vietnam"; Vu Khieu, "Vietnam in Front of the Problems of Asian and European Values," in *Asian Values and Vietnamese Development*, (Hμ Néi, 2000), pp. 24, 208-210.

¹⁶⁶ Le Huu Tang, Research on Asian Values: Problems and Issues, op. cit., p. 10.

or some of the Asian nations. In our opinion, it is difficult to point out clearly typical Vietnamese values from the values of other traditional cultures. In reality, some of those values belong not only to the Vietnamese but also to other Asian nations. Yet even some values are the common property of humankind as well. Therefore, it is important to demonstrate convincingly the specific manifestations of values in the Vietnamese culture. In other words, traditional values of a nation are the unity between the universal (belonging to humankind) and the particular (belonging to specific nation or group of nations).

For example, one should indicate concretely in researching of patriotism what makes the patriotism of the Vietnamese different from that of the Koreans, the Thai or the Japanese, etc.; what is the distinction of the sense of community of the Vietnamese in comparison with other nations. A comparative research in the same traditional values existing in various national cultures is necessary to find out specific features of the Vietnamese traditional values. It is a complicated work requiring contribution of many generations of scholars and researchers. However, in this paper we would like to emphasize following two points:

First, the above-mentioned have values that have been created and tempered throughout thousands years of the history of establishing and safeguarding our country. During that whole time the Vietnamese have encountered various problems: we had to struggle with very severe natural conditions as well as to fight against foreign invaders at the same time. It means that our traditional values have been formed in the specifically natural, economic, social, political and cultural conditions of Vietnam.

Second, during their existence and development the Vietnamese have struggled against many different foreign aggressors, whose economic and military potentials have been many times stronger than our. Traditional values of the Vietnamese, during the very process of fighting against foreign invasions, have been ceaselessly fortified and tempered to give the Vietnamese a specific identity distinct from other nations.

Traditional values created in those conditions have formed and reinforced the national consciousness and spirit of our nation manifesting in our patriotism, the fondness for national independence, solidarity, the sense of community, etc. Now the question is, among the traditional values of our nation, what is a kernel of national spirit, a quintessence that determines the existence and development of the nation?

Some authors (for example, Professor Tran Van Giau, Professor Phan Huy Le, etc.) suggest that patriotism is the basic value to form the essence of our national spirit. They argue that patriotism is an elevated and sacred value, as an origin of a series of other cultural values. It is a natural human feeling with age-old existence. Despite its immutable nature, patriotism has manifested variously in different historical periods. Other authors, like Professor Vu Khieu, claim that the sense of independence and freedom is the highest and most stable value. It is a value for what our nation has constantly struggled for. It is a long-standing aspiration of the whole nation, a prerequisite in the human right of preservation of life, a source of strength and pride of Vietnam.¹⁶⁷

In our opinion, national spirit is a crystallization of a series of traditional values, among which patriotism and the sense of national independence are the two key values. Those two values have a very strong attachment to each other to create the essence of national spirit. Patriotism is a foundation to build the sense of national independence, which, in its turn, fortifies patriotism. Owing to patriotism and the sense of national independence, our nation has been able to fight successfully against all foreign invaders to safeguard and develop our country throughout the whole history from the establishment of the nation until the present.

President Ho Chi Minh used to declare that "our people possess a profound patriotism. It is a highly valuable tradition of our nation. Since the early time whenever our Fatherland has been invaded this spirit has risen to make a very powerful wave gliding through all dangers and difficulties to plunge all traitors and invaders." ¹⁶⁸ He also claimed that "nothing is more valuable than independence and freedom," "(we) would rather sacrifice all than lose (our) country, be in slavery." Ho Chi Minh devoted his entire revolutionary cause to only

¹⁶⁷ Vu Khieu, op. cit., p. 24

¹⁶⁸ Ho Chi Minh, The Complete Works, Vol. 6, p.171.

one aspiration of how to make our country entirely independent, our compatriots provided with food and clothes and everyone get access to education. This is not only the aspiration of the President himself but also the long-standing ambition and dream of our nation.

It should also be emphasized that independence, according to Ho Chi Minh thoughts, is closely attached to people's freedom and happiness. Independence serves as a premise and necessary condition to bring about freedom and happiness to people. He stressed strongly that independence is meaningless if it fails to bring about freedom and happiness to the people. Ho Chi Minh's above ideas reflect generally our fundamental national values contributing to create national spirit of our Vietnamese nation. He had inferred those ideas not only from our cultural tradition and the practice of the cause of national liberation but also from comparisons with other cultures in his 36 years of itinerant practice to find out the way to save our country.

The national spirit has been brought into full play during our struggles for independence and national liberation. That is why our nation has never yielded to any invader. Every time when our country has been invaded, national spirit has wound up to make a wave to plunge all invaders. It has been verified throughout all our struggles against foreign aggressors. At present, national spirit still plays a vital role in the cause of renovation and modernization in every country. The practice of the cause of renovation and modernization in some countries has shown that owing to the promotion of national spirit, they have achieved wonderful results. On the contrary, the cause of renovation has ended in fatal failure in some countries due to the refusal of traditional standards in order to make a hasty acceptance the values of the West.

Here are some examples to demonstrate this point:

First, in recent years, scholars have claimed that the miraculous success of "Asian Tigers" countries is the result of the promotion of national spirit relying on Asian values. Looking for the reason of Japanese success, for example, some scholars suggest that owing to the combination of Japanese spirit + Western technology, Japan has become an economic power despite the fact that Japan has been severely devastated after the World War Two. A combination "indigenous spirit + Western technology" has been drawn from the successful ex-

perience of Japan as a general formula for development. Here we might not be in agreement with the view regarding spirit and technology as two complete opposite sides, therefore, should be detached completely from each other. After all, any technology always contains crystallized spiritual values. Kawada has stated correctly that "it is a mistake to assume that technology and spirit are two completely separate sides... technology is the understanding of values manifesting in a concrete form relating to man's knowledge on nature and human beings."¹⁶⁹ It should be emphasized here that national spirit is an indispensable component in the Japanese miraculous success.

Second, some authors, in their analysis of the failure of Russian reform in the 90s of the 20th Century, suggest that the Russian socioeconomic crisis was not purely economic and political but also cultural, as a spiritual destruction. According to Russian scholar, I.A. Sasilenco, the reason of the crisis was the intention to comprehensive westernization, the denegation of national culture and traditional standards. Therefore, the only way to help Russia to get rid of the crisis is to find out new measures to regenerate its national spirit and determine the homogeneity of Russian civilization. ¹⁷⁰ At the same time, the recent recovery of Russia has been interpreted as the result of Putin's afford to raise the national spirit of the Russian and his firm commitment to nationalism to find out appropriate solutions to develop the country.

Third, the rapid and steady development of Vietnam in the last three decades has contributed to affirm further the positions of our nation in Asia and the world. The success of the development can be explained by the political stability, the dynamism and openness of foreign policy, the comparatively low cost of labour forces, etc. But in our opinion, one of the main reasons of the success of Vietnam is the promotion of national spirit to create a collective strength in the cause of comprehensive renovation of our country.

¹⁶⁹ Nguyen Van Phuc, "Cultural Projections in Front of the Challenges of Globalization," in *Traditional Values and Challenges of Globalization*, eds. by Nguyen Trong Chuan and Nguyen Van Huyen (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2002), p. 254.

¹⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 253

Now the problem is how a national spirit can be promoted in the present context of globalization?

Cultural Traditions in the Context of Globalization

As we all know, globalization is not a new phenomenon. Some new features of its manifestation occur in the present time. Due to the strong control of capitalistic nations, particular powerful capitalistic nations over the present globalization, some scholars characterize it as capitalistic. The present globalization impacts strongly on almost all nations, social life of the whole human community as well as the life of every person. People and nations worldwide react differently to the ongoing globalization. While hundreds of thousand of people in developed countries protest against globalization and the impoverishment caused by globalization, people in developing countries welcome it in the hope that globalization may help their nation to renovate technology and modernize their society.

Recently, many scholars focus on analysis of the content and nature of the ongoing globalization. Some scholars claim that globalization is an inevitable process and all nations worldwide, like it or not, will be involved in it. At the same time, globalization is capable to create opportunities for developing countries to integrate into the world economy and consequently, speed up their economic growth and technological renovation. It should be noted that the chances, that globalization can bring to various nations, are not always the same. Generally speaking, the countries with more economic development will get more opportunities than poor countries. Besides, globalization also brings about big challenges including economic, political and especially cultural challenges in all sectors of social life in poor and developing countries.¹⁷¹

In the present international context, almost all underdeveloped and developing countries do their best to take advance of economic globalization to carry out a kind of abridged development. These nations, on the one hand, focus on international integration, bilateral

¹⁷¹ Philosophical Challenges and Opportunities of Globalization, eds. by Oliva Blanchette, Tomonobu Imamich and George F. McLean (Washington D.C.: The Council for Reseach in Value and Philosophy, 2001), 2 volumes.

and multilateral development in all fields and various forms and on the other hand, actively fight against Western (both economic and political) interference and imposition. The problem of national independence and sovereignty are critically raised in underdeveloped and developing countries during the course of their economic integration with the world. They are encountering opportunities to develop, reinforce their national strength, gain appropriate place within the system of international labor assignment, become gradually economically independent and fortify political independence, and at the same time, big difficulties and challenges and even a threat of being "recolonized" in term of technology, capital and other things.¹⁷²

From cultural point of view, globalization gives rise to big cultural challenges to developing countries, especially Asian. In reality, almost all Asian nations have experienced the rules of western colonialism. Colonialism has not only exploited natural resources of colonized countries but also broken off all the links between the indigenous and their cultural, intellectual and spiritual heritage, in other words, all the components of their national identity. Therefore, after gaining of political independence, almost all Asian countries, despite suffering from material poverty, have actively mapped out their plan for economic development in the name of the ideology of "modernization," which is indeed a "westernization" and "capitalization."

Facing no counterpoises after the collapse of socialistic countries in USSR and Eastern Europe, capitalistic superpowers widen quickly their globalization strategy. Many Asian countries have been attracted to the process of globalization, in which the advantage of western culture has impacted strongly on traditional cultures of Asia, one of the cradles of the culture of humankind. Therefore, the concern about losing national cultural identity is not unfounded. Asian countries, especially the developing nations, face the problem of how to integrate successfully with the world while preserving their own national cultural identity. It is also a big question Vietnam is encountering in its present process of economic integration.

¹⁷² National Scientific Theme No.08.04, *Introductory Report of the Seminar "Political Face of the World in the First Two Decades of the 21th Century"* (Ha Noi, 3-4/04/2004), pp. 13-14.

How can the Vietnamese promote their national spirit in the context of the ongoing globalization?

First, the promotion of national spirit manifests primarily in the preservation and promotion of fine cultural values creating cultural identity of the nation. Like other developing nations worldwide, Vietnam has intended to take the advance of the opportunities of international integration to modernize gradually its technology and production. However, the western way of thinking and lifestyle will be inevitably introduced to Vietnam during the process of acquiring the scientific technical and technological achievements of the West. In the context of the present globalization, sooner or later there will be unavoidably a clash between the values of western culture and cultural traditions of the Vietnamese.

However, we should realize that cultural tradition itself is not something immutable; on the contrary, it has constantly changed and developed. Even fundamental national traditional values are to be transformed to meet the demands of new historical conditions. Preservation and promotion of national cultural identity do not mean to refuse and deny completely other foreign cultural values, including western. Vietnamese culture can only develop steadily through the acquirement with the achievements of the culture of humankind. The acquirement of other cultures should be selective: from other cultures we only accept the values, which can be beneficial to the development of our nation, and refuse all the values, which can harmfully influence our culture. After being selective the acquired foreign values should be transformed in order to become integrated into the national culture. For example, in our present cause of renovation, we need to encourage people's creativity, self-assertion. It is important to orient individual spirit of freedom and creativity to serve community's interest and at the same time, not to allow the negative sides of individualism to ruin fundamental traditional values of our nation. National spirit itself is a filter helping our nation select positive values (to our culture) and reject all harmful values.

Vietnam is a country with a long-standing cultural tradition, which has existed alongside with its national history throughout the thousands year of historical process. During the whole process the culture of Vietnam has not only preserved its identity but also

acquired and enriched itself with other foreign cultures from China, France, Russia and even America.

The combination of national cultural tradition with the cultural values of humankind is clearly expressed in the thoughts of Ho Chi Minh, who has been recognized by UNESCO as a hero of national liberation, great cultural thinker. Owing to his practice of itinerant life all over continents to find out the way to save our country, Ho Chi Minh understood very well the values of the West as well as other cultures. He wrote, "The strong point in the teaching of Confucius is the self-improvement of individual ethics. The strong point in the teaching of Christ is its lofty altruism. The strong point of Marxism is its dialectical method. The strong point of Ton Dat Tien's teaching is that its policy is appropriate to our conditions. I strive to be a moderate pupil of those (thinkers)." Reflecting on Vietnamese culture and the way to build it up, Ho Chi Minh claimed that "Vietnamese culture is a result of a mutual influence between Eastern and Western cultures... we learn the best from the East as well as the West to develop our own Vietnamese culture."173

While inheriting and developing the above Ho Chi Minh's ideas, Vietnam has intended and indeed, is carrying out the building of an advanced culture with a profound national identity on the basis of promoting national cultural tradition and acquiring the quintessence of the cultures worldwide. We can conclude from the development experiences of many countries and the practice of Vietnam that the idea to build an advance culture imbued with national identity has proved to be a sound policy to promote national spirit in the context of the present globalization.

Active integration is a good way to preserve and promote national cultural identity. National independence does not mean to close all the doors to grip all one's own heritage, on the contrary, it means to strengthen dialogue and widen cooperation with other nations worldwide in order to acquire their quintessence for the sake of one's own national development. However, a nation can be successful in

¹⁷³ Ho Chi Minh, *On the Cultural and Artistic Activities* (Hanoi: The Truth Publishing House, 1977), p. 89.

doing so if it is capable to safeguard steadily its own national independence.

Second, promotion of national spirit is reflected in the way we find an appropriate model for social development in Vietnam. The selection of an appropriate model for national development requires a sense of independence and creativity. The practice of Vietnamese national history has shown that, thanks to the sense of independence and creativity, the Vietnamese have won all the wars against invaders. The historic victory of Dien Bien Phu's battle would have not been done if we had not possessed the spirit of independence and creativity of our commander-in-chief, top-ranking General Vo Nguyen Giap, and had not promoted our national spirit. The failure caused by the mechanic application of a foreign experience in the pre-renovation period in Vietnam is still a very significant lesson for the cause of country's development in present Vietnam.

It is heartening that in recent years of our renovation process, we have been able to map out appropriate policy-lines and measures to develop our country, and especially we have defined clearly the aim to make "our people wealthy, society equitable, democratic and civilized." As the result, the national spirit of the Vietnamese has been promoted to build our country more and more beautiful and prosperous. The problem of how to find out appropriate methods and adequate steps to take full advance of opportunities and overcome challenges in the context of the ongoing globalization is of great significance in order to build our country to be well-matched with all nations worldwide.

The ways to develop Vietnam will be mapped out on the specific economic, political, social and cultural conditions of Vietnam as well as the consultation of the experiences of other countries in our region and worldwide. It requires a great deal of creativity. The promotion of national spirit in the present context is to serve that aim.

Conclusion

We can draw following conclusions from the above-stated points: national spirit is a crystallization and sublimation of the traditional cultural values of a nation, the most essential part of its cultural tradition and plays an important role in the orientation of the existence and development of a nation. The national spirit of the Vietnamese has been created from the values of our national cultural tradition, among which the two most important are patriotism and the spirit of national independence. National spirit plays a vital role for the existence and development of a nation. Owing to the promotion of national spirit, the causes of national liberation and renovation in Vietnam as well as the process of modernization in some countries have achieved great achievements.

In the context of the present globalization, a steady preservation and promotion of national spirit and cultural tradition manifest in: *first*, the preservation and promotion of traditional values creating national cultural identity; *second*, the selection of a model appropriate to Vietnamese conditions in order to achieve the aim of building the socialist Vietnam into a strong nation with wealthy people, democratic, just and civilized society.

The active integration into the world and intensive engagement in dialogue with other nations worldwide in order to acquire their quintessence to enrich our own national cultural identity is an effective way to achieve that noble aim.

About the Author

Pham Van Duc received his Doctorate in Philosophy from the Vietnam Institute of Philosophy in 1994. In 1997, the Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences (VASS) awarded Pham Van Duc the distinction of outstanding scholar. In the same year he received a scholarship from the Korean Foundation which marked the starting point of his international career. In 2002 Pham Van Duc was designated Associate Professor and after being awarded this scholarly distinction Pham Van Duc participated the 2012 RVP annual international seminar in Washington D.C. In 2005 Pham Van Duc was appointed as the Acting Director of the Institute of Philosophy of the Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences (VASS). In 2006 Pham Van Duc participated and became one of the founding members of the World Association for Political Economy (WAPE), an international academic organization founded by Marxian economists and related groups around the world. In 2007 he was appointed Director of the Institute of Philosophy of the Vietnam Academy of Sciences (VASS). At the 22nd World Congress of Philosophy held in 2008 in Seoul, South Korea, Pham Van Duc was selected the 2008-2013 Steering Committee of the International Federation of Philosophical Societies (FISP). He was also granted the Distinguished Achievement Award of World Political Economy of the 21st Century at the Eighth WAPE Forum in Brazil in 2013. In 2014 at the WAPE Forum Pham Van Duc was selected as Vice-President. In August 2013 at the 23rd World Congress of Philosophy held in Athens, Greece, he was again selected the Steering Committee of FISP for the period of 2013-2018. In 2016 the Vietnam's State Council promoted him to the rank of full professor. He is now Vice-President of Vietnam Academy of Social Sciences (VASS) and President of Graduate Academy of Social Sciences, VASS.

Pham Van Duc is also an active member of the intercultural philosophy network founded by Raúl Fornet-Betancourt. Over decades Pham Van Duc has also served as the RVP regional coordinator of Asia.

Pham Van Duc has published widely. He is co-authored of the following books: On the Development of Today's Vietnamese Society, co-

author (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 1991) (in Vietnamese); The Category of Law in the History of Western Philosophy (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 1997) (in Vietnamese); On the Driving Force of Socio-economic Development (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 1997) (in Vietnamese); Philosophy, Culture and Education: Asian Societies in Transition, edited with Philip Cam, Insuk Cha, Mark Tamthai and Ramon Reyes (Seoul, Korea: ORUEM Publishing House, 1997) (in English); Social Progress: Some Pressing Theoretical Issues (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2000) (in Vietnamese); Man-Nature Relationship and Social Development (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2000) (in Vietnamese); A Half Century of Researching and Teaching Philosophy in Vietnam (Hanoi: Institute of Philosophy's Publishing House, 2001) (in Vietnamese); Research on Human: Object and Main Trends (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2001), Anual publication No. 1 (in Vietnamese); Global Problems in the Two First Decades of the 21th Century (Hanoi: National Political Publishing House, 2006) (in Vietnamese); State's Management on Natural Resources and Environment towards Sustainable Development: From a Perspective of Human Sciences (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2006) (in Vietnamese); Philosophy Worldwide: Current Situation. Materials for the International Cooperation and Philosophical Encounters. Second Edition (2007); and Historical Fate of Socialism (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2009) (in Vietnamese).

Pham Van Duc edited the following books: Globalization in Asia-Pacific Context: Some Philosophical Reflections (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2007) (in English); Social Responsibility of Confusim in History of Vietnam and Korea. (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2015); Some Issues on Social Philosophy in Vietnam Today. (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2016) (in English); and Democracy in the Context of One-Party System and Internation Integration of Vietnam (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2017).

He also co-edited the following books: On Understanding of Traditional Culture in the Process of Industrialization and Modernization (Hanoi: The National Political Publishing House, 2001) (in Vietnamese); Philosophical Perspectives on Globalization (The Korean National Commission for UNESCO and APPEND, 2006) (in English); Globalization

and Identity (Washington, DC: The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy, 2006) (in English); Philosophy in the Global Age (The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2007) (in English); Philosophical Perspectives on Globalization (The Korean National Commission for UNESCO and APPEND, 2006) (in English); Globalization and Identity (Washington, DC: The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy, 2006) (in English); Philosophy in the Global Age (The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2007) (in English); Philosophical Perspectives on Globalization (The Korean National Commission for UNESCO and APPEND, 2006) (in English); Globalization and Identity (Washington, DC: The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy, 2006) (in English); Philosophy in the Global Age (The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2007) (in English); Tenth Vietnam Communist Party Congress Documents: Theoretical and Practical Issues (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2008) (in Vietnamese); Social Justice, Social Responsibility and Social Solidarity (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2008) (in English); Rethinking the Role of Philosophy in the Global Age, edited with William Sweet (Washington, DC: Council for Research in Values & Philosophy, 2009), Series IIID, Vol. 7 (in English); Karl Marx's Philosophy and the Era (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, Hanoi 2009) (in Vietnamese); The Issues of People's Livelihood and Harmonious Society (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2010) (in Vietnamese); Social Responsibility in the Context of the Market Economy (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2012) (in English); The Documents of the 11th Congress of the Communist Party of Vietnam: Some Theoretical and Practical Issues (Hanoi: The Social Sciences Publishing House, 2013) (in Vietnamese); Vietnam Philosophical Thought: Issues of the Past and Modern Age (University of Education Publising House, 2017) (in English)

Pham Van Duc has published more than 100 papers in different scien-tific journals and reviews.

Index

 \mathbf{A}

corruption, 96, 117, 120, 136, 147,

	corresponding (12.7)
agricultural, 56, 133-144, 151	173, 174
	cultivation, 44, 50, 51, 54, 58, 139,
В	140-143
benevolence, 44, 45, 49, 52, 184	
Bjaznova, 10	D
bourgeoisies, 38	democracy, 4, 27, 68-70, 82, 116,
Bowen, 155	118, 124, 153, 158, 159, 191-193
Bowie, 170	Deng Xiao Ping, 84
Buddhism, 16, 20, 47, 51, 52	dialectical materialism, 31-34
business ethics, 169-177	dogmatism, 24, 42, 54, 57, 75
	Duong Phu Hiep, 24, 25
C	
Caodaism, 51	E
capitalism, 37-40, 56, 85, 87, 89-92,	economic development, 4, 9, 27,
99, 127-131, 152	31, 33, 35, 67-71, 81, 82, 84, 92,
capitalist, 7-12, 31, 36-38, 40, 82,	93, 98, 99, 103-108, 110, 111,
89-91, 96, 127-131, 152, 200, 201	115, 116, 119-121, 124, 131, 135,
cardinal virtues, 45, 52	139, 145-149, 151, 152, 154, 156,
Christianity, 51, 52	159, 169, 190-192, 200, 201
civil society, 100	eco-systems, 63, 157
civilizations, 10, 41	education, 19, 22, 47, 52, 54, 59,
communism, 38, 39, 56-59, 89	60, 99, 117, 121-123, 149, 161,
Communist Party of China, 78,	165, 166, 174, 198
85, 97	effectiveness, 67, 96-99, 111, 112,
Communist Party of Vietnam, 60,	119, 142, 158
67, 68, 72, 77-79, 86, 87, 92, 93,	egalitarian, 135, 143
100, 103, 111, 113-116, 120, 124,	employment, 60, 70, 97, 121, 128,
133, 145, 147-149, 152, 154, 158,	129, 148, 151-154, 159, 191
159, 180, 183-185, 190, 209	Engels, 15, 16, 29, 31, 33, 36-40, 64,
Confucianism, 16, 20, 43-47, 49-	84, 86, 119, 146, 187
52, 61	environmental protection, 64, 70,
Confucius, 44, 45, 50-52, 203	71, 115, 116, 156, 158, 159, 191
consciousness, 32-34, 41, 85, 165,	existentialism, 16
171, 195, 196	exploitation, 37, 87, 98, 119, 120,
consumption, 71, 129	130, 146-148
corporations, 8, 107, 155, 156, 162	

F Ferrels, 170	K Keynes, 127-131
fidelity, 44, 45, 52, 170 food shortage, 137, 144	L
Fraedrich, 170	labor force, 71, 117, 120, 122, 148,
freedom, 46-49, 59-61, 112, 127,	149, 151
128, 172, 181, 185, 195-198, 202	land ownership, 56, 133, 134
, , , , ,	Laos, 78, 174
G	Le Ai Lam, 150
globalization, 3, 7-12, 14, 16, 29,	Le Dang Doanh, 97
40, 85, 100, 107, 111, 120, 131,	Le Huu Tang, 36, 39, 153, 195
132, 147, 160, 163, 193, 200-205	Lenin, 15, 33, 39, 41, 42, 53, 54, 57, 75, 83, 91
Н	Leninism, 6, 14, 36, 52-58, 75, 104
harmony, 45, 56, 64, 70, 131, 158, 159, 191	Lewis, 170
Hayek, 127, 128	M
Henderson, 170	management, 6, 20, 34, 46, 86, 93,
high-skilled workers, 162	100, 104-107, 112, 123, 134, 138-
historical materialism, 31-41	140, 144, 152, 161, 172, 174
Ho Chi Minh, 5, 6, 19, 21, 25, 27,	Mao Tse Tung, 84
43, 50-61, 103, 104, 180- 183,	Marcoux, 170
185, 197, 198, 203	market economy, 4, 27, 82-84, 88-
human resources, 4, 120-122, 145,	96, 98-101, 104, 113, 127, 128,
146, 148-152, 154	131-133, 156, 162, 169
humane, 45, 47, 52, 130	Marx, 15, 16, 26, 29, 31-35, 37-42,
humanity, 31, 49-53, 56, 61, 87, 89-	50, 51, 53-57, 64, 84, 86, 89-93,
91, 131	119, 127, 130-132, 146, 186, 209
I	Marxism, 6, 14, 20, 26, 31, 36, 40, 41, 50-58, 61, 65, 75, 77, 104, 203
independence, 9, 10, 20, 34, 35,	Marxist philosophy, 3, 5, 15, 21-
46-49, 59-61, 68, 69, 78, 179-184,	28, 40, 186
190, 196-198, 201-205	material wealth, 34, 97, 146
industrialization, 71, 103-108, 111,	Mencius, 50
112, 122, 139, 140, 145, 150-154	modernization, 10, 16, 53, 68, 71,
industrialized countries, 121, 149	100-108, 112, 121, 139, 140, 145,
, ,	146, 149-151, 154, 190, 198, 205
J	
justice, 4, 9, 49, 64, 66-70, 85, 88,	N
94, 98-100, 116, 117, 155, 158,	national spirit, 195-200, 202-205
159, 191	Neo-liberalism, 127-130

Ngo Sy Lien, 50	responsibility, 45, 47, 66, 123, 155,
Nguyen Dinh Hoa, 103	156, 160-166, 171-177
Nguyen Hao Hai, 5, 21	revolution, 14, 32, 36, 54, 57-59,
Nguyen Tai Dong, 43	84, 107, 108, 111, 130, 131, 184
Nguyen The Nghia, 24	righteousness, 44-45, 49-52, 184
Nguyen Trai, 47, 49	
Nguyen Trong Chuan, 5, 19, 21,	S
25, 27, 199	security, 67-69, 71, 105, 117, 123,
Nguyen Van Phuc, 199	136, 190, 193
Nguyen Van Trung, 24	Sinicization, 77
	Smith, 119, 146
O	social progress, 4, 55, 61, 67-70,
ownership, 4, 27, 34, 56, 84, 90,	88, 94, 99, 100, 116, 117, 158,
94-98, 131, 134	159, 191
	socialism, 10, 36-41, 53-60, 75-81,
P	83-95, 97, 103, 104, 113, 131,
patriotism, 22, 50, 51, 61, 182, 195-	145, 208
197, 205	socialist model, 76, 77, 79, 81-88
pollution, 8, 163, 175	socialist regime, 78, 132
population, 8, 20, 22, 33, 70, 71,	socio-economic formations, 35,
83, 120, 136, 148, 151, 154, 159,	36, 41, 89, 90
191	solidarity, 61, 179-186, 188-190,
poverty, 60, 68, 70, 108, 117, 143,	193
158, 159, 191, 201	sovereignty, 9, 47, 68, 78, 189, 190,
pragmatism, 16	201
private business, 82, 127	Soviet Union, 10, 40, 41, 55, 58, 75,
production relations, 4, 27, 34-38,	81, 83, 84, 86
41, 77, 86, 87, 93	Straus, 172
productive forces, 4, 7, 32-38, 41,	Sun Yat-sen, 50-52, 55-58, 61
82, 84, 87, 90, 93, 97, 98, 110,	superstructure, 32, 35-37, 41, 90
111	sustainable development, 61, 63-
productivity, 99, 104, 109, 111,	70, 72, 97, 103, 110, 115-118,
152, 160-163	120, 122-124, 127, 131, 145, 147,
proletarian class, 38	148, 154, 157-162, 166, 172, 176,
propagation, 19, 24, 27, 29, 165,	189-193
166, 177	
proprieties, 44, 45, 52	T
public ownership, 94, 95, 98	Taoism, 16, 20, 47
	Toffler, 121, 149
R	Tran Dai Vinh, 195
reformation, 75-77, 84	Tran Tuan Phong, 127
	_

214 Index

Tran Van Tung, 150 truthfulness, 40, 41, 44

U unemployment, 151, 160 urban development, 139, 140

V Von Mises, 128 Vu Khieu, 195, 197 Vu Van Gau, 25

W wage policy, 117 Westernization, 10 wisdom, 13, 44, 45, 48, 49, 52 World Bank, 109, 156, 164

The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy

Purpose

Today there is urgent need to attend to the nature and dignity of the person, to the quality of human life, to the purpose and goal of the physical transformation of our environment, and to the relation of all this to the development of social and political life. This, in turn, requires philosophic clarification of the base upon which freedom is exercised, that is, of the values which provide stability and guidance to one's decisions.

Such studies must be able to reach deeply into one's culture and that of other parts of the world as mutually reinforcing and enriching in order to uncover the roots of the dignity of persons and of their societies. They must be able to identify the conceptual forms in terms of which modern industrial and technological developments are structured and how these impact upon human self-understanding. Above all, they must be able to bring these elements together in the creative understanding essential for setting our goals and determining our modes of interaction. In the present complex global circumstances this is a condition for growing together with trust and justice, honest dedication and mutual concern.

The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy (RVP) unites scholars who share these concerns and are interested in the application thereto of existing capabilities in the field of philosophy and other disciplines. Its work is to identify areas in which study is needed, the intellectual resources which can be brought to bear thereupon, and the means for publication and interchange of the work from the various regions of the world. In bringing these together its goal is scientific discovery and publication which contributes to the present promotion of humankind.

In sum, our times present both the need and the opportunity for deeper and ever more progressive understanding of the person and of the foundations of social life. The development of such understanding is the goal of the RVP.

Projects

A set of related research efforts is currently in process:

1. Cultural Heritage and Contemporary Change: Philosophical Foundations for Social Life. Focused, mutually coordinated research teams in university centers prepare volumes as part of an integrated philosophic search for self-understanding differentiated by culture and civilization. These evolve more adequate understandings of the person in society and look to the cultural heritage of each for the resources to respond to the challenges of its own specific contemporary transformation.

- 2. Seminars on Culture and Contemporary Issues. This series of 10 week cross-cultural and interdisciplinary seminars is coordinated by the RVP in Washington.
- 3. Joint-Colloquia with Institutes of Philosophy of the National Academies of Science, university philosophy departments, and societies. Underway since 1976 in Eastern Europe and, since 1987, in China, these concern the person in contemporary society.
- 4. Foundations of Moral Education and Character Development. A study in values and education which unites philosophers, psychologists, social scientists and scholars in education in the elaboration of ways of enriching the moral content of education and character development. This work has been underway since 1980.

The personnel for these projects consists of established scholars willing to contribute their time and research as part of their professional commitment to life in contemporary society. For resources to implement this work the Council, as 501 C3 a non-profit organization incorporated in the District of Columbia, looks to various private foundations, public programs and enterprises.

Publications on Cultural Heritage and Contemporary Change

Series I. Culture and Values

Series II. African Philosophical Studies

Series IIA. Islamic Philosophical Studies

Series III. Asian Philosophical Studies

Series IV. Western European Philosophical Studies

Series IVA. Central and Eastern European Philosophical Studies

Series V. Latin American Philosophical Studies

Series VI. Foundations of Moral Education

Series VII. Seminars: Culture and Values

Series VIII. Christian Philosophical Studies

Cultural Heritage and Contemporary Change

Series I. Culture and Values

- I.1 Research on Culture and Values: Intersection of Universities, Churches and Nations. George F. McLean, ed. ISBN 0819173533 (paper).
- I.2 The Knowledge of Values: A Methodological Introduction to the Study of Values. A. Lopez Quintas, ed. ISBN 081917419x (paper).
- I.3 Reading Philosophy for the XXIst Century. George F. McLean, ed. ISBN 0819174157 (paper).

- I.4 Relations between Cultures. John A. Kromkowski, ed. ISBN 1565180089 (paper).
- I.5 *Urbanization and Values*. John A. Kromkowski, ed. ISBN 1565180100 (paper).
- I.6 *The Place of the Person in Social Life*. Paul Peachey and John A. Kromkowski, eds. ISBN 1565180127 (paper).
- I.7 *Abrahamic Faiths, Ethnicity and Ethnic Conflicts.* Paul Peachey, George F. McLean and John A. Kromkowski, eds. ISBN 1565181042 (paper).
- I.8 *Ancient Western Philosophy: The Hellenic Emergence*. George F. McLean and Patrick J. Aspell, eds. ISBN 156518100X (paper).
- I.9 *Medieval Western Philosophy: The European Emergence*. Patrick J. Aspell, ed. ISBN 1565180941 (paper).
- I.10 *The Ethical Implications of Unity and the Divine in Nicholas of Cusa*. David L. De Leonardis. ISBN 1565181123 (paper).
- I.11 Ethics at the Crossroads: 1. Normative Ethics and Objective Reason. George F. McLean, ed. ISBN 1565180224 (paper).
- I.12 Ethics at the Crossroads: 2. Personalist Ethics and Human Subjectivity. George F. McLean, ed. ISBN 1565180240 (paper).
- I.13 *The Emancipative Theory of Jürgen Habermas and Metaphysics*. Robert Badillo. ISBN 1565180429 (paper).
- I.14 The Deficient Cause of Moral Evil According to Thomas Aquinas. Edward Cook. ISBN 1565180704 (paper).
- I.15 Human Love: Its Meaning and Scope, a Phenomenology of Gift and Encounter. Alfonso Lopez Quintas. ISBN 1565180747 (paper).
- I.16 *Civil Society and Social Reconstruction*. George F. McLean, ed. ISBN 1565180860 (paper).
- I.17 Ways to God, Personal and Social at the Turn of Millennia: The Iqbal Lecture, Lahore. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181239 (paper).
- I.18 *The Role of the Sublime in Kant's Moral Metaphysics*. John R. Goodreau. ISBN 1565181247 (paper).
- I.19 *Philosophical Challenges and Opportunities of Globalization*. Oliva Blanchette, Tomonobu Imamichi and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565181298 (paper).
- I.20 Faith, Reason and Philosophy: Lectures at The al-Azhar, Qom, Tehran, Lahore and Beijing; Appendix: The Encyclical Letter: Fides et Ratio. George F. McLean. ISBN 156518130 (paper).
- I.21 Religion and the Relation between Civilizations: Lectures on Cooperation between Islamic and Christian Cultures in a Global Horizon. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181522 (paper).
- I.22 Freedom, Cultural Traditions and Progress: Philosophy in Civil Society and Nation Building, Tashkent Lectures, 1999. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181514 (paper).
- I.23 Ecology of Knowledge. Jerzy A. Wojciechowski. ISBN 1565181581 (paper).

- I.24 God and the Challenge of Evil: A Critical Examination of Some Serious Objections to the Good and Omnipotent God. John L. Yardan. ISBN 1565181603 (paper).
- I.25 Reason, Rationality and Reasonableness, Vietnamese Philosophical Studies, I. Tran Van Doan. ISBN 1565181662 (paper).
- I.26 *The Culture of Citizenship: Inventing Postmodern Civic Culture*. Thomas Bridges. ISBN 1565181689 (paper).
- I.27 The Historicity of Understanding and the Problem of Relativism in Gadamer's Philosophical Hermeneutics. Osman Bilen. ISBN 1565181670 (paper).
- I.28 Speaking of God. Carlo Huber. ISBN 1565181697 (paper).
- I.29 Persons, Peoples and Cultures in a Global Age: Metaphysical Bases for Peace between Civilizations. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181875 (paper).
- I.30 Hermeneutics, Tradition and Contemporary Change: Lectures in Chennai/Madras, India. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181883 (paper).
- I.31 *Husserl and Stein*. Richard Feist and William Sweet, eds. ISBN 1565181948 (paper).
- I.32 Paul Hanly Furfey's Quest for a Good Society. Bronislaw Misztal, Francesco Villa, and Eric Sean Williams, eds. ISBN 1565182278 (paper).
- I.33 *Three Theories of Society*. Paul Hanly Furfey. ISBN 9781565182288 (paper).
- I.34 Building Peace in Civil Society: An Autobiographical Report from a Believers' Church. Paul Peachey. ISBN 9781565182325 (paper).
- I.35 *Karol Wojtyla's Philosophical Legacy*. Agnes B. Curry, Nancy Mardas and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 9781565182479 (paper).
- I.36 *Kantian Imperatives and Phenomenology's Original Forces*. Randolph C. Wheeler. ISBN 9781565182547 (paper).
- I.37 Beyond Modernity: The Recovery of Person and Community in Global Times: Lectures in China and Vietnam. George F. McLean. ISBN 9781 565182578 (paper)
- I.38 Religion and Culture. George F. McLean. ISBN 9781565182561 (paper).
- I.39 *The Dialogue of Cultural Traditions: Global Perspective.* William Sweet, George F. McLean, Tomonobu Imamichi, Safak Ural, O. Faruk Akyol, eds. ISBN 9781565182585 (paper).
- I.40 *Unity and Harmony, Love and Compassion in Global Times*. George F. McLean. ISBN 9781565182592 (paper).
- I.41 *Intercultural Dialogue and Human Rights*. Luigi Bonanate, Roberto Papini and William Sweet, eds. ISBN 9781565182714 (paper).
- I.42 *Philosophy Emerging from Culture*. William Sweet, George F. McLean, Oliva Blanchette, Wonbin Park, eds. ISBN 9781565182851 (paper).
- I.43 Whence Intelligibility? Louis Perron, ed. ISBN 9781565182905 (paper).

- I.44 What Is Intercultural Philosophy? William Sweet, ed. ISBN 9781 565182912 (paper).
- I.45 Romero's Legacy 2: Faith in the City: Poverty, Politics, and Peacebuilding. Foreword by Robert T. McDermott. Pilar Hogan Closkey, Kevin Moran and John P. Hogan, eds. ISBN 9781565182981 (paper).
- I.46 *Cultural Clash and Religion*. William Sweet, ed. ISBN 9781565183100 (paper).

Series II. African Philosophical Studies

- II.1 Person and Community: Ghanaian Philosophical Studies: I. Kwasi Wiredu and Kwame Gyekye, eds. ISBN 1565180046 (paper).
- II.2 *The Foundations of Social Life: Ugandan Philosophical Studies: I.* A.T. Dalfovo, ed. ISBN 1565180062 (paper).
- II.3 *Identity and Change in Nigeria: Nigerian Philosophical Studies, I.* Theophilus Okere, ed. ISBN 1565180682 (paper).
- II.4 Social Reconstruction in Africa: Ugandan Philosophical Studies, II. E. Wamala, A.R. Byaruhanga, A.T. Dalfovo, J.K. Kigongo, S.A. Mwanahewa and G. Tusabe, eds. ISBN 1565181182 (paper).
- II.5 Ghana: Changing Values/Changing Technologies: Ghanaian Philosophical Studies, II. Helen Lauer, ed. ISBN 1565181441 (paper).
- II.6 Sameness and Difference: Problems and Potentials in South African Civil Society: South African Philosophical Studies, I. James R. Cochrane and Bastienne Klein, eds. ISBN 1565181557 (paper).
- II.7 Protest and Engagement: Philosophy after Apartheid at an Historically Black South African University: South African Philosophical Studies, II. Patrick Giddy, ed. ISBN 1565181638 (paper).
- II.8 Ethics, Human Rights and Development in Africa: Ugandan Philosophical Studies, III. A.T. Dalfovo, J.K. Kigongo, J. Kisekka, G. Tusabe, E. Wamala, R. Munyonyo, A.B. Rukooko, A.B.T. Byaruhangaakiiki, and M. Mawa, eds. ISBN 1565181727 (paper).
- II.9 Beyond Cultures: Perceiving a Common Humanity: Ghanaian Philosophical Studies, III. Kwame Gyekye. ISBN 156518193X (paper).
- II.10 Social and Religious Concerns of East Africa: A Wajibu Anthology: Kenyan Philosophical Studies, I. Gerald J. Wanjohi and G. Wakuraya Wanjohi, eds. ISBN 1565182219 (paper).
- II.11 The Idea of an African University: The Nigerian Experience: Nigerian Philosophical Studies, II. Joseph Kenny, ed. ISBN 9781565182301 (paper).
- II.12 *The Struggles after the Struggle: Zimbabwean Philosophical Studies, I.* David Kaulemu, ed. ISBN 9781565182318 (paper).
- II.13 Indigenous and Modern Environmental Ethics: A Study of the Indigenous Oromo Environmental Ethic and Modern Issues of Environment and

- Development: Ethiopian Philosophical Studies, I. Workineh Kelbessa. ISBN 9781565182530 (paper).
- II.14 African Philosophy and the Future of Africa: South African Philosophical Studies, III. Gerard Walmsley, ed. ISMB 9781565182707 (paper).
- II.15 Philosophy in Ethiopia: African Philosophy Today, I: Ethiopian Philosophical Studies, II. Bekele Gutema and Charles C. Verharen, eds. ISBN 9781565182790 (paper).
- II.16 *The Idea of a Nigerian University: A Revisit: Nigerian Philosophical Studies, III.* Olatunji Oyeshile and Joseph Kenny, eds. ISBN 978156518 2776 (paper).
- II.17 Philosophy in African Traditions and Cultures: Zimbabwe Philosophical Studies, II. Fainos Mangena, Tarisayi Andrea Chimuka, Francis Mabiri, eds. ISBN 9781565182998 (paper).
- II.18 Universalism, Relativism, and Intercultural Philosophy: Nigerian Philosophical Studies IV. Joseph C. Achike Agbakoba and Anthony C. Ajah, eds. ISBN 9781565183162 (paper).
- II.19 *An African Path to a Global Future*. Rianna Oelofsen and Kola Abimbola, eds. ISBN 9781565183230 (paper).
- II.20 Odera Oruka in the Twenty-first Century: Kenyan Philosophical Studies, II. Reginald M.J. Oduor, Oriare Nyarwath and Francis E.A. Owakah, eds. ISBN 9781565183247 (paper).
- II.21 Perspectives in Social Contract Theory. Edwin E. Etieyibo, ed. ISBN 9781565183315 (paper).
- II.22 Philosophy, Race and Multiculturalism in Southern Africa: Zimbabwean Philosophical Studies, III. Fainos Mangena & John Douglas McClymont, eds. ISBN 9781565183360 (paper).

Series IIA. Islamic Philosophical Studies

- IIA.1 *Islam and the Political Order*. Muhammad Saïd al-Ashmawy. ISBN 156518047X (paper).
- IIA.2 Al-Ghazali Deliverance from Error and Mystical Union with the Almighty: Al-munqidh Min al-Dadāl. Critical Arabic edition and English translation by Muhammad Abulaylah and Nurshif Abdul-Rahim Rifat; Introduction and notes by George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181530 (Arabic-English edition, paper), ISBN 1565180828 (Arabic edition, paper), ISBN 156518081X (English edition, paper).
- IIA.3 Philosophy in Pakistan. Naeem Ahmad, ed. ISBN 1565181085 (paper).IIA.4 The Authenticity of the Text in Hermeneutics. Seyed Musa Dibadj.ISBN 1565181174 (paper).
- IIA.5 Interpretation and the Problem of the Intention of the Author: H.-G. Gadamer vs E.D. Hirsch. Burhanettin Tatar. ISBN 156518121 (paper).

- IIA.6 Ways to God, Personal and Social at the Turn of Millennia: The Iqbal Lectures, Lahore. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181239 (paper).
- IIA.7 Faith, Reason and Philosophy: Lectures at Al-Azhar University, Qom, Tehran, Lahore and Beijing; Appendix: The Encyclical Letter: Fides et Ratio. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181301 (paper).
- IIA.8 Islamic and Christian Cultures: Conflict or Dialogue: Bulgarian Philosophical Studies, III. Plament Makariev, ed. ISBN 156518162X (paper).
- IIA.9 Values of Islamic Culture and the Experience of History, Russian Philosophical Studies, I. Nur Kirabaev, Yuriy Pochta, eds. ISBN 1565181336 (paper).
- IIA.10 *Christian-Islamic Preambles of Faith*. Joseph Kenny. ISBN 156518 1387 (paper).
- IIA.11 The Historicity of Understanding and the Problem of Relativism in Gadamer's Philosophical Hermeneutics. Osman Bilen. ISBN 156518 1670 (paper).
- IIA.12 Religion and the Relation between Civilizations: Lectures on Cooperation between Islamic and Christian Cultures in a Global Horizon. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181522 (paper).
- IIA.13 Modern Western Christian Theological Understandings of Muslims since the Second Vatican Council. Mahmut Aydin. ISBN 1565181719 (paper).
- IIA.14 Philosophy of the Muslim World; Authors and Principal Themes. Joseph Kenny. ISBN 1565181794 (paper).
- IIA.15 *Islam and Its Quest for Peace: Jihad, Justice and Education.* Mustafa Köylü. ISBN 1565181808 (paper).
- IIA.16 Islamic Thought on the Existence of God: Contributions and Contrasts with Contemporary Western Philosophy of Religion. Cafer S. Yaran. ISBN 1565181921 (paper).
- IIA.17 Hermeneutics, Faith, and Relations between Cultures: Lectures in Qom, Iran. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181913 (paper).
- IIA.18 Change and Essence: Dialectical Relations between Change and Continuity in the Turkish Intellectual Tradition. Sinasi Gunduz and Cafer S. Yaran, eds. ISBN 1565182227 (paper).
- IIA.19 *Understanding Other Religions: Al-Biruni and Gadamer's "Fusion of Horizons."* Kemal Ataman. ISBN 9781565182523 (paper).

Series III. Asian Philosophical Studies

- III.1 *Man and Nature: Chinese Philosophical Studies, I.* Tang Yijie and Li Zhen, eds. ISBN 0819174130 (paper).
- III.2 Chinese Foundations for Moral Education and Character Development: Chinese Philosophical Studies, II. Tran van Doan, ed. ISBN 1565180321 (paper).

- III.3 Confucianism, Buddhism, Taoism, Christianity and Chinese Culture: Chinese Philosophical Studies, III. 2nd edition. Tang Yijie. ISBN 9781 565183193 (paper).
- III.4 Morality, Metaphysics and Chinese Culture: Metaphysics, Culture and Morality, I. Vincent Shen and Tran van Doan, eds. ISBN 1565180275 (paper).
- III.5 *Tradition, Harmony and Transcendence*. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565180313 (paper).
- III.6 Psychology, Phenomenology and Chinese Philosophy: Chinese Philosophical Studies, VI. Vincent Shen, Richard Knowles and Tran Van Doan, eds. ISBN 1565180453 (paper).
- III.7 Values in Philippine Culture and Education: Philippine Philosophical Studies, I. Manuel B. Dy, Jr., ed. ISBN 1565180412 (paper).
- III.7A *The Human Person and Society: Chinese Philosophical Studies, VIIA*. Zhu Dasheng, Jin Xiping and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565180887.
- III.8 *The Filipino Mind: Philippine Philosophical Studies II*. Leonardo N. Mercado. ISBN 156518064X (paper).
- III.9 *Philosophy of Science and Education: Chinese Philosophical Studies IX.* Vincent Shen and Tran Van Doan, eds. ISBN 1565180763 (paper).
- III.10 Chinese Cultural Traditions and Modernization: Chinese Philosophical Studies, X. Wang Miaoyang, Yu Xuanmeng and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565180682 (paper).
- III.11 The Humanization of Technology and Chinese Culture: Chinese Philosophical Studies XI. Tomonobu Imamichi, Wang Miaoyang and Liu Fangtong, eds. ISBN 1565181166 (paper).
- III.12 Beyond Modernization: Chinese Roots of Global Awareness: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XII. Wang Miaoyang, Yu Xuanmeng and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565180909 (paper).
- III.13 Philosophy and Modernization in China: Chinese Philosophical Studies XIII. Liu Fangtong, Huang Songjie and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565180666 (paper).
- III.14 Economic Ethics and Chinese Culture: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XIV. Yu Xuanmeng, Lu Xiaohe, Liu Fangtong, Zhang Rulun and Georges Enderle, eds. ISBN 1565180925 (paper).
- III.15 *Civil Society in a Chinese Context: Chinese Philosophical Studies XV.* Wang Miaoyang, Yu Xuanmeng and Manuel B. Dy, eds. ISBN 156518 0844 (paper).
- III.16 The Bases of Values in a Time of Change: Chinese and Western: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XVI. Kirti Bunchua, Liu Fangtong, Yu Xuanmeng, Yu Wujin, eds. ISBN 156518114X (paper).
- III.17 Dialogue between Christian Philosophy and Chinese Culture: Philosophical Perspectives for the Third Millennium: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XVII. Paschal Ting, Marian Kao and Bernard Li, eds. ISBN 1565181735 (paper).

- III.18 *The Poverty of Ideological Education: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XVIII.* Tran Van Doan. ISBN 1565181646 (paper).
- III.19 God and the Discovery of Man: Classical and Contemporary Approaches: Lectures in Wuhan, China. George F. McLean. ISBN 156518 1891 (paper).
- III.20 Cultural Impact on International Relations: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XX. Yu Xintian, ed. ISBN 156518176X (paper).
- III.21 Cultural Factors in International Relations: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXI. Yu Xintian, ed. ISBN 1565182049 (paper).
- III.22 Wisdom in China and the West: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXII. Vincent Shen and Willard Oxtoby. ISBN 1565182057 (paper)
- III.23 China's Contemporary Philosophical Journey: Western Philosophy and Marxism: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXIII. Liu Fangtong. ISBN 1565182065 (paper).
- III.24 Shanghai: Its Urbanization and Culture: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXIV. Yu Xuanmeng and He Xirong, eds. ISBN 1565182073 (paper).
- III.25 Dialogue of Philosophies, Religions and Civilizations in the Era of Globalization: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXV. Zhao Dunhua, ed. ISBN 9781565182431 (paper).
- III.26 Rethinking Marx: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXVI. Zou Shipeng and Yang Xuegong, eds. ISBN 9781565182448 (paper).
- III.27 Confucian Ethics in Retrospect and Prospect: Chinese Philosophical Studies XXVII. Vincent Shen and Kwong-loi Shun, eds. ISBN 978156518 2455 (paper).
- III.28 Cultural Tradition and Social Progress, Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXVIII. He Xirong, Yu Xuanmeng, Yu Xintian, Yu Wujing, Yang Junyi, eds. ISBN 9781565182660 (paper).
- III.29 Spiritual Foundations and Chinese Culture: A Philosophical Approach: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXIX. Anthony J. Carroll and Katia Lenehan, eds. ISBN 9781565182974 (paper).
- III.30 Diversity in Unity: Harmony in a Global Age: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXX. He Xirong and Yu Xuanmeng, eds. ISBN 978156518 3070 (paper).
- III.31 Chinese Spirituality and Christian Communities: A Kenotic Perspective: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXXI. Vincent Shen, ed. ISBN 978156518 3070 (paper).
- III.32 Care of Self and Meaning of Life: Asian and Christian Reflections: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXXII. William Sweet and Cristal Huang, ed. ISBN 9781565183131 (paper).
- III.33 Philosophy and the Life-World: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXX III. He Xirong, Peter Jonkers and Shi Yongzhe, eds. ISBN 978156518 3216. (paper).

- III.34 Reconstruction of Values and Morality in Global Times: Chinese Philosophical Studies, XXXIV. Liu Yong and Zhang Zhixiang, eds. ISBN 9781565183278. (paper).
- III.35 Traditional Values and Virtues in Contemporary Social Life: Chinese Philosophical Studies XXXV. Gong Qun, ed. ISBN 978156518. (paper).
- IIIB.1 Authentic Human Destiny: The Paths of Shankara and Heidegger: Indian Philosophical Studies, I. Vensus A. George. ISBN 1565181190 (paper).
- IIIB.2 The Experience of Being as Goal of Human Existence: The Heideggerian Approach: Indian Philosophical Studies, II. Vensus A. George. ISBN 156518145X (paper).
- IIIB.3 Religious Dialogue as Hermeneutics: Bede Griffiths's Advaitic Approach: Indian Philosophical Studies, III. Kuruvilla Pandikattu. ISBN 1565181395 (paper).
- IIIB.4 Self-Realization [Brahmaanubhava]: The Advaitic Perspective of Shankara: Indian Philosophical Studies, IV. Vensus A. George. ISBN 1565181549 (paper).
- IIIB.5 Gandhi: The Meaning of Mahatma for the Millennium: Indian Philosophical Studies, V. Kuruvilla Pandikattu, ed. ISBN 1565181565 (paper).
- IIIB.6 Civil Society in Indian Cultures: Indian Philosophical Studies, VI. Asha Mukherjee, Sabujkali Sen (Mitra) and K. Bagchi, eds. ISBN 1565181573 (paper).
- IIIB.7 Hermeneutics, Tradition and Contemporary Change: Lectures in Chennai/Madras, India. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181883 (paper).
- IIIB.8 Plenitude and Participation: The Life of God in Man: Lectures in Chennai/Madras, India. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181999 (paper).
- IIIB.9 Sufism and Bhakti, a Comparative Study: Indian Philosophical Studies, VII. Md. Sirajul Islam. ISBN 1565181980 (paper).
- IIIB.10 Reasons for Hope: Its Nature, Role and Future: Indian Philosophical Studies, VIII. Kuruvilla Pandikattu, ed. ISBN 156518 2162 (paper).
- IIIB.11 *Lifeworlds and Ethics: Studies in Several Keys: Indian Philosophical Studies, IX.* Margaret Chatterjee. ISBN 9781565182332 (paper).
- IIIB.12 Paths to the Divine: Ancient and Indian: Indian Philosophical Studies, X. Vensus A. George. ISBN 9781565182486 (paper).
- IIIB.13 Faith and Reason Today: Fides et Ratio in a Post-Modern Era: Indian Philosophical Studies, XIII. Varghese Manimala, ed. IBSN 9781 565182554 (paper).
- IIIB.14 *Identity, Creativity and Modernization: Perspectives on Indian Cultural Tradition: Indian Philosophical Studies, XIV.* Sebastian Velassery and Vensus A. George, eds. ISBN 9781565182783 (paper).
- IIIB.15 Elusive Transcendence: An Exploration of the Human Condition Based on Paul Ricoeur: Indian Philosophical Studies, XV. Kuruvilla Pandikattu. ISBN 9781565182950 (paper).

- IIIB.16 Being Human in Multicultural Traditions: Indian Philosophical Studies, XVI. K. Remi Rajani and Vensus A. George, eds. ISBN 978156518 3285 (paper).
- IIIC.1 Spiritual Values and Social Progress: Uzbekistan Philosophical Studies, I. Said Shermukhamedov and Victoriya Levinskaya, eds. ISBN 1565181433 (paper).
- IIIC.2 Kazakhstan: Cultural Inheritance and Social Transformation: Kazakh Philosophical Studies, I. Abdumalik Nysanbayev. ISBN 1565182022 (paper).
- IIIC.3 Social Memory and Contemporaneity: Kyrgyz Philosophical Studies, I. Gulnara A. Bakieva. ISBN 9781565182349 (paper).
- IIID.1 Reason, Rationality and Reasonableness: Vietnamese Philosophical Studies, I. Tran Van Doan. ISBN 1565181662 (paper).
- IIID.2 Hermeneutics for a Global Age: Lectures in Shanghai and Hanoi. George F. McLean. ISBN 1565181905 (paper).
- IIID.3 Cultural Traditions and Contemporary Challenges in Southeast Asia. Warayuth Sriwarakuel, Manuel B. Dy, J. Haryatmoko, Nguyen Trong Chuan, and Chhay Yiheang, eds. ISBN 1565182138 (paper).
- IIID.4 Filipino Cultural Traits: Claro R. Ceniza Lectures. Rolando M. Gripaldo, ed. ISBN 1565182251 (paper).
- IIID.5 *The History of Buddhism in Vietnam*. Chief editor: Nguyen Tai Thu; Authors: Dinh Minh Chi, Ly Kim Hoa, Ha thuc Minh, Ha Van Tan, Nguyen Tai Thu. ISBN 1565180984 (paper).
- IIID.6 Relations between Religions and Cultures in Southeast Asia. Gadis Arivia and Donny Gahral Adian, eds. ISBN 9781565182509 (paper).
- IIID.7 *Rethinking the Role of Philosophy in the Global Age*. William Sweet and Pham Van Duc, eds. ISBN 9781565182646 (paper).
- IIID.8 *Practical Issues and Social Philosophy in Vietnam Today*. Pham Van Duc. ISBN 9781565183346 (paper).

Series IV. Western European Philosophical Studies

- IV.1 Italy in Transition: The Long Road from the First to the Second Republic: The Edmund D. Pellegrino Lectures. Paolo Janni, ed. ISBN 156518 1204 (paper).
- IV.2 Italy and the European Monetary Union: The Edmund D. Pellegrino Lectures. Paolo Janni, ed. ISBN 156518128X (paper).
- IV.3 Italy at the Millennium: Economy, Politics, Literature and Journalism: The Edmund D. Pellegrino Lectures. Paolo Janni, ed. ISBN 1565181581 (paper).
- IV.4 Speaking of God. Carlo Huber. ISBN 1565181697 (paper).
- IV.5 *The Essence of Italian Culture and the Challenge of a Global Age*. Paulo Janni and George F. McLean, eds. ISBB 1565181778 (paper).

- IV.6 Italic Identity in Pluralistic Contexts: Toward the Development of Intercultural Competencies. Piero Bassetti and Paolo Janni, eds. ISBN 156518 1441 (paper).
- IV.7 Phenomenon of Affectivity: Phenomenological-Anthropological Perspectives. Ghislaine Florival. ISBN 9781565182899 (paper).
- IV.8 *Towards a Kenotic Vision of Authority in the Catholic Church*. Anthony J. Carroll, Marthe Kerkwijk, Michael Kirwan, James Sweeney, eds. ISNB 9781565182936 (paper).
- IV.9 A Catholic Minority Church in a World of Seekers. Staf Hellemans and Peter Jonkers, eds. ISBN 9781565183018 (paper).
- IV.10 French Catholics and Their Church: Pluralism and Deregulation. Nicolas de Bremond d'Ars and Yann Raison du Cleuziou, eds. ISBN 9781565183087 (paper).
- IV.11 Philosophy and Crisis: Responding to Challenges to Ways of Life in the Contemporary World (2 Volumes). Golfo Maggini, Vasiliki P. Solomou-Papanikolaou, Helen Karabatzaki and Konstantinos D. Koskeridis, eds. ISBN 9781565183292 (paper).
- IV.12 Re-Learning to be Human in Global Times: Challenges and Opportunities from the Perspectives of Contemporary Philosophy and Religion. Brigitte Buchhammer, ed. ISBN 9781565183339 (paper).

Series IVA. Central and Eastern European Philosophical Studies

- IVA.1 *The Philosophy of Person: Solidarity and Cultural Creativity: Polish Philosophical Studies, I.* A. Tischner, J.M. Zycinski, eds. ISBN 156518 0496 (paper).
- IVA.2 Private and Public Social Inventions in Modern Societies: Polish Philosophical Studies, II. L. Dyczewski, P. Peachey, J.A. Kromkowski, eds. ISBN. 1565180518 (paper).
- IVA.3 Traditions and Present Problems of Czech Political Culture: Czechoslovak Philosophical Studies, I. M. Bednár and M. Vejraka, eds. ISBN 1565180577 (paper).
- IVA.4 *Czech Philosophy in the XXth Century: Czech Philosophical Studies, II.* Lubomír Nový and Jirí Gabriel, eds. ISBN 1565180291 (paper).
- IVA.5 Language, Values and the Slovak Nation: Slovak Philosophical Studies, I. Tibor Pichler and Jana Gašparíková, eds. ISBN 1565180372 (paper).
- IVA.6 Morality and Public Life in a Time of Change: Bulgarian Philosophical Studies, I. V. Prodanov and A. Davidov, eds. ISBN 1565180550 (paper).
- IVA.7 *Knowledge and Morality: Georgian Philosophical Studies, I.* N.V. Chavchavadze, G. Nodia and P. Peachey, eds. ISBN 1565180534 (paper).

- IVA.8 Personal Freedom and National Resurgence: Lithuanian Philosophical Studies, I. Bronius Kuzmickas and Aleksandr Dobrynin, eds. ISBN 1565180399 (paper).
- IVA.9 National, Cultural and Ethnic Identities: Harmony beyond Conflict: Czech Philosophical Studies, III. Jaroslav Hroch, David Hollan, George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565181131 (paper).
- IVA.10 Models of Identities in Postcommunist Societies: Yugoslav Philosophical Studies, I. Zagorka Golubovic and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565181211 (paper).
- IVA.11 *Interests and Values: The Spirit of Venture in a Time of Change: Slovak Philosophical Studies, II.* Tibor Pichler and Jana Gasparikova, eds. ISBN 1565181255 (paper).
- IVA.12 Creating Democratic Societies: Values and Norms: Bulgarian Philosophical Studies, II. Plamen Makariev, Andrew M. Blasko and Asen Davidov, eds. ISBN 156518131X (paper).
- IVA.13 Values of Islamic Culture and the Experience of History: Russian Philosophical Studies, I. Nur Kirabaev and Yuriy Pochta, eds. ISBN 1565181336 (paper).
- IVA.14 Values and Education in Romania Today: Romanian Philosophical Studies, I. Marin Calin and Magdalena Dumitrana, eds. ISBN 156518 1344 (paper).
- IVA.15 Between Words and Reality, Studies on the Politics of Recognition and the Changes of Regime in Contemporary Romania: Romanian Philosophical Studies, II. Victor Neumann. ISBN 1565181611 (paper).
- IVA.16 *Culture and Freedom: Romanian Philosophical Studies, III.* Marin Aiftinca, ed. ISBN 1565181360 (paper).
- IVA.17 Lithuanian Philosophy: Persons and Ideas: Lithuanian Philosophical Studies, II. Jurate Baranova, ed. ISBN 1565181379 (paper).
- IVA.18 *Human Dignity: Values and Justice: Czech Philosophical Studies, IV.* Miloslav Bednar, ed. ISBN 1565181409 (paper).
- IVA.19 Values in the Polish Cultural Tradition: Polish Philosophical Studies, III. Leon Dyczewski, ed. ISBN 1565181425 (paper).
- IVA.20 Liberalization and Transformation of Morality in Post-communist Countries: Polish Philosophical Studies, IV. Tadeusz Buksinski. ISBN 1565181786 (paper).
- IVA.21 Islamic and Christian Cultures: Conflict or Dialogue: Bulgarian Philosophical Studies, III. Plament Makariev, ed. ISBN 156518162X (paper).
- IVA.22 Moral, Legal and Political Values in Romanian Culture: Romanian Philosophical Studies, IV. Mihaela Czobor-Lupp and J. Stefan Lupp, eds. ISBN 1565181700 (paper).
- IVA.23 Social Philosophy: Paradigm of Contemporary Thinking: Lithuanian Philosophical Studies, III. Jurate Morkuniene. ISBN 1565182030 (paper).

- IVA.24 Romania: Cultural Identity and Education for Civil Society: Romanian Philosophical Studies, V. Magdalena Dumitrana, ed. ISBN 156518 209X (paper).
- IVA.25 Polish Axiology: the 20th Century and Beyond: Polish Philosophical Studies, V. Stanislaw Jedynak, ed. ISBN 1565181417 (paper).
- IVA.26 Contemporary Philosophical Discourse in Lithuania: Lithuanian Philosophical Studies, IV. Jurate Baranova, ed. ISBN 1565182154 (paper).
- IVA.27 Eastern Europe and the Challenges of Globalization: Polish Philosophical Studies, VI. Tadeusz Buksinski and Dariusz Dobrzanski, eds. ISBN 1565182189 (paper).
- IVA.28 Church, State, and Society in Eastern Europe: Hungarian Philosophical Studies, I. Miklós Tomka. ISBN 156518226X (paper).
- IVA.29 Politics, Ethics, and the Challenges to Democracy in 'New Independent States': Georgian Philosophical Studies, II. Tinatin Bochorishvili, William Sweet and Daniel Ahern, eds. ISBN 9781565182240 (paper).
- IVA.30 Comparative Ethics in a Global Age: Russian Philosophical Studies II. Marietta T. Stepanyants, ed. ISBN 9781565182356 (paper).
- IVA.31 *Lithuanian Identity and Values: Lithuanian Philosophical Studies, V.* Aida Savicka, ed. ISBN 9781565182367 (paper).
- IVA.32 The Challenge of Our Hope: Christian Faith in Dialogue: Polish Philosophical Studies, VII. Waclaw Hryniewicz. ISBN 9781565182370 (paper).
- IVA.33 Diversity and Dialogue: Culture and Values in the Age of Globalization. Andrew Blasko and Plamen Makariev, eds. ISBN 9781565182387 (paper).
- IVA.34 Civil Society, Pluralism and Universalism: Polish Philosophical Studies, VIII. Eugeniusz Gorski. ISBN 9781565182417 (paper).
- IVA.35 Romanian Philosophical Culture, Globalization, and Education: Romanian Philosophical Studies VI. Stefan Popenici and Alin Tat, eds. ISBN 9781565182424 (paper).
- IVA.36 Political Transformation and Changing Identities in Central and Eastern Europe: Lithuanian Philosophical Studies, VI. Andrew Blasko and Diana Janušauskienė, eds. ISBN 9781565182462 (paper).
- IVA.37 Truth and Morality: The Role of Truth in Public Life: Romanian Philosophical Studies, VII. Wilhelm Dancă, ed. ISBN 9781565182493 (paper).
- IVA.38 Globalization and Culture: Outlines of Contemporary Social Cognition: Lithuanian Philosophical Studies, VII. Jurate Morkuniene, ed. ISBN 9781565182516 (paper).
- IVA.39 Knowledge and Belief in the Dialogue of Cultures, Russian Philosophical Studies, III. Marietta Stepanyants, ed. ISBN 9781565182622 (paper).

- IVA.40 God and Post-Modern Thought: Philosophical Issues in the Contemporary Critique of Modernity, Polish Philosophical Studies, IX. Józef Życiński. ISBN 9781565182677 (paper).
- IVA.41 *Dialogue among Civilizations, Russian Philosophical Studies, IV.* Nur Kirabaev and Yuriy Pochta, eds. ISBN 9781565182653 (paper).
- IVA.42 The Idea of Solidarity: Philosophical and Social Contexts, Polish Philosophical Studies, X. Dariusz Dobrzanski, ed. ISBN 9781565182961 (paper).
- IVA.43 God's Spirit in the World: Ecumenical and Cultural Essays, Polish Philosophical Studies, XI. Waclaw Hryniewicz. ISBN 9781565182738 (paper).
- IVA.44 Philosophical Theology and the Christian Tradition: Russian and Western Perspectives, Russian Philosophical Studies, V. David Bradshaw, ed. ISBN 9781565182752 (paper).
- IVA.45 Ethics and the Challenge of Secularism: Russian Philosophical Studies, VI. David Bradshaw, ed. ISBN 9781565182806 (paper).
- IVA.46 Philosophy and Spirituality across Cultures and Civilizations: Russian Philosophical Studies, VII. Nur Kirabaev, Yuriy Pochta and Ruzana Pskhu, eds. ISBN 9781565182820 (paper).
- IVA.47 Values of the Human Person: Contemporary Challenges: Romanian Philosophical Studies, VIII. Mihaela Pop, ed. ISBN 9781565182844 (paper).
- IVA.48 Faith and Secularization: A Romanian Narrative: Romanian Philosophical Studies, IX. Wilhelm Dancă, ed. ISBN 9781565182929 (paper).
- IVA.49 The Spirit: The Cry of the World: Polish Philosophical Studies, XII. Waclaw Hryniewicz. ISBN 9781565182943 (paper).
- IVA.50 Philosophy and Science in Cultures: East and West: Russian Philosophical Studies, VIII. Marietta T. Stepanyants, ed. ISBN 9781565182967 (paper).
- IVA.51 A Czech Perspective on Faith in a Secular Age: Czech Philosophical Studies V. Tomáš Halík and Pavel Hošek, eds. ISBN 9781565183001 (paper).
- IVA.52 Dilemmas of the Catholic Church in Poland: Polish Philosophical Studies, XIII. Tadeusz Buksinski, ed. ISBN 9781565183025 (paper).
- IVA.53 Secularization and Development of Religion in Modern Society: Polish Philosophical Studies, XIV. Leon Dyczewski, ed. ISBN 978156518 3032 (paper).
- IVA.54 Seekers or Dwellers: The Social Character of Religion in Hungary: Hungarian Philosophical Studies, II. Zsuzsanna Bögre, ed. ISBN 9781 565183063 (paper).
- IVA.55 Eurasian Frontier: Interrelation of Eurasian Cultures in a Global Age: Russian Philosophical Studies, IX. Irina Boldonova and Vensus A. George, eds. ISBN 9781565183186 (paper).

- IVA.56 Religion, the Sacred and Hospitality: Romanian Philosophical Studies, X. Wilhelm Dancă, ed. ISBN 9781565183254 (paper).
- IVA.57 *Identity and Globalization: Ethical Implications: Lithuanian Philosophical Studies, VIII.* Dalia Stanciene, Irena Darginaviciene and Susan Robbins, eds. ISBN 9781565183261 (paper).

Series V. Latin American Philosophical Studies

- V.1 *The Social Context and Values: Perspectives of the Americas*. O. Pegoraro, ed. ISBN 081917355X (paper).
- V.2 *Culture, Human Rights and Peace in Central America*. Raul Molina and Timothy Ready, eds. ISBN 0819173576 (paper).
- V.3 Aymara Christianity: Inculturation or Culturization? Luis Jolicoeur. ISBN 1565181042 (paper).
- V.4 Love as the Foundation of Moral Education and Character Development. Luis Ugalde, Nicolas Barros and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 156518 0801 (paper).
- V.5 Human Rights, Solidarity and Subsidiarity: Essays towards a Social Ontology. Carlos E.A. Maldonado. ISBN 1565181107 (paper).
- V.6 A New World: A Perspective from Ibero America. H. Daniel Dei, ed. ISBN 9781565182639 (paper).

Series VI. Foundations of Moral Education

- VI.1 Philosophical Foundations for Moral Education and Character Development: Act and Agent. George F. McLean and F. Ellrod, eds. ISBN 1565180011 (paper).
- VI.2 Psychological Foundations for Moral Education and Character Development: An Integrated Theory of Moral Development. Richard Knowles, ed. ISBN 156518002X (paper).
- VI.3 Character Development in Schools and Beyond. Kevin Ryan and Thomas Lickona, eds. ISBN 1565180593 (paper).
- VI.4 *The Social Context and Values: Perspectives of the Americas*. O. Pegoraro, ed. ISBN 081917355X (paper).
- VI.5 Chinese Foundations for Moral Education and Character Development. Tran van Doan, ed. ISBN 1565180321 (paper).
- VI.6 Love as the Foundation of Moral Education and Character Development. Luis Ugalde, Nicolas Barros and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565180801 (paper).

Series VII. Seminars on Culture and Values

VII.1 *The Social Context and Values: Perspectives of the Americas*. O. Pegoraro, ed. ISBN 081917355X (paper).

- VII.2 *Culture, Human Rights and Peace in Central America*. Raul Molina and Timothy Ready, eds. ISBN 0819173576 (paper).
- VII.3 Relations between Cultures. John A. Kromkowski, ed. ISBN 156518 0089 (paper).
- VII.4 Moral Imagination and Character Development: The Imagination (Volume I). George F. McLean and John A. Kromkowski, eds. ISBN 1565181743 (paper).
- VII.5 Moral Imagination and Character Development: Moral Imagination in Personal Formation and Character Development (Volume II). George F. McLean and Richard Knowles, eds. ISBN 1565181816 (paper).
- VII.6 Moral Imagination and Character Development: Imagination in Religion and Social Life (Volume III). George F. McLean and John K. White, eds. ISBN 1565181824 (paper).
- VII.7 *Hermeneutics and Inculturation*. George F. McLean, Antonio Gallo and Robert Magliola, eds. ISBN 1565181840 (paper).
- VII.8 *Culture, Evangelization, and Dialogue*. Antonio Gallo and Robert Magliola, eds. ISBN 1565181832 (paper).
- VII.9 *The Place of the Person in Social Life*. Paul Peachey and John A. Kromkowski, eds. ISBN 1565180127 (paper); 1565180135 (cloth).
- VII.10 *Urbanization and Values*. John A. Kromkowski, ed. ISBN 156518 0100 (paper); 1565180119 (cloth).
- VII.11 *Freedom and Choice in a Democracy*, Volume I: Meanings of Freedom. Robert Magliola and John Farrelly, eds. ISBN 1565181867 (paper).
- VII.12 Freedom and Choice in a Democracy, Volume II: The Difficult Passage to Freedom. Robert Magliola and Richard Khuri, eds. ISBN 156518 1859 (paper).
- VII.13 *Cultural Identity, Pluralism and Globalization* (2 volumes). John P. Hogan, ed. ISBN 1565182170 (paper).
- VII.14 *Democracy: In the Throes of Liberalism and Totalitarianism.* George F. McLean, Robert Magliola and William Fox, eds. ISBN 1565181956 (paper).
- VII.15 Democracy and Values in Global Times: With Nigeria as a Case Study. George F. McLean, Robert Magliola and Joseph Abah, eds. ISBN 1565181956 (paper).
- VII.16 *Civil Society and Social Reconstruction*. George F. McLean, ed. ISBN 1565180860 (paper).
- VII.17 *Civil Society: Who Belongs?* William A. Barbieri, Robert Magliola and Rosemary Winslow, eds. ISBN 1565181972 (paper).
- VII.18 *The Humanization of Social Life: Theory and Challenges*. Christopher Wheatley, Robert P. Badillo, Rose B. Calabretta and Robert Magliola, eds. ISBN 1565182006 (paper).
- VII.19 *The Humanization of Social Life: Cultural Resources and Historical Responses*. Ronald S. Calinger, Robert P. Badillo, Rose B. Calabretta, Robert Magliola, eds. ISBN 1565182006 (paper).

- VII.20 Religion, Morality and Communication between Peoples: Religion in *Public Life*, Volume I. George F. McLean, John A. Kromkowski and Robert Magliola, eds. ISBN 1565182103 (paper).
- VII.21 Religion and Political Structures from Fundamentalism to Public Service: Religion in Public Life, Volume II. John T. Ford, Robert A. Destro and Charles R. Dechert, eds. ISBN 1565182111 (paper).
- VII.22 *Civil Society as Democratic Practice*. Antonio F. Perez, Semou Pathé Gueye, Yang Fenggang, eds. ISBN 1565182146 (paper).
- VII.23 Ecumenism and Nostra Aetate in the 21st Century. George F. McLean and John P. Hogan, eds. ISBN 1565182197 (paper).
- VII.24 Multiple Paths to God: Nostra Aetate: 40 Years Later. John P. Hogan and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565182200 (paper).
- VII.25 *Globalization and Identity*. Andrew Blasko, Taras Dobko, Pham Van Duc and George Pattery, eds. ISBN 1565182200 (paper).
- VII.26 Communication across Cultures: The Hermeneutics of Cultures and Religions in a Global Age. Chibueze C. Udeani, Veerachart Nimanong, Zou Shipeng and Mustafa Malik, eds. ISBN: 9781565182400 (paper).
- VII.27 Symbols, Cultures and Identities in a Time of Global Interaction. Paata Chkheidze, Hoang Thi Tho and Yaroslav Pasko, eds. ISBN 978156518 2608 (paper).
- VII.28 Restorying the 'Polis': Civil Society as Narrative Reconstruction. Yuriy Pochta, Gan Chunsong and David Kaulemu, eds. ISNB 978156518 3124 (paper).
- VII.29 History and Cultural Identity: Retrieving the Past, Shaping the Future. John P. Hogan, ed. ISBN 9781565182684 (paper).
- VII.30 *Human Nature: Stable and/or Changing?* John P. Hogan, ed. ISBN 9781565182431 (paper).
- VII.31 Reasoning in Faith: Cultural Foundations for Civil Society and Globalization. Octave Kamwiziku Wozol, Sebastian Velassery and Jurate Baranova, eds. ISBN 9781565182868 (paper).
- VII.32 Building Community in a Mobile/Global Age: Migration and Hospitality. John P. Hogan, Vensus A. George and Corazon T. Toralba, eds. ISBN 9781565182875 (paper).
- VII.33 The Role of Religions in the Public-Sphere: The Post-Secular Model of Jürgen Habermas and Beyond. Plamen Makariev and Vensus A. George, eds. ISBN 9781565183049 (paper).
- VII.34 *Diversity and Unity*. George F. McLean, Godé Iwele and Angelli F. Tugado, eds. ISBN 9781565183117 (paper).
- VII.35 The Secular and the Sacred: Complementary and/or Conflictual? John P. Hogan and Sayed Hassan Hussaini (Akhlaq), eds. ISBN 9781 565183209 (paper).
- VII.36 *Justice and Responsibility: Cultural and Philosophical Foundations*. João J. Vila-Chã, and John P. Hogan, eds. ISBN 9781565183308 (paper).

Series VIII. Christian Philosophical Studies

- VIII.1 Church and People: Disjunctions in a Secular Age, Christian Philosophical Studies, I. Charles Taylor, José Casanova and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 9781565182745 (paper).
- VIII.2 God's Spirit in the World: Ecumenical and Cultural Essays, Christian Philosophical Studies, II. Waclaw Hryniewicz. ISBN 9781565182738 (paper).
- VIII.3 Philosophical Theology and the Christian Tradition: Russian and Western Perspectives, Christian Philosophical Studies, III. David Bradshaw, ed. ISBN 9781565182752 (paper).
- VIII.4 Ethics and the Challenge of Secularism: Christian Philosophical Studies, IV. David Bradshaw, ed. ISBN 9781565182806 (paper).
- VIII.5 Freedom for Faith: Theological Hermeneutics of Discovery based on George F. McLean's Philosophy of Culture: Christian Philosophical Studies, V. John M. Staak. ISBN 9781565182837 (paper).
- VIII.6 Humanity on the Threshold: Religious Perspective on Transhumanism: Christian Philosophical Studies, VI. John C. Haughey and Ilia Delio, eds. ISBN 9781565182882 (paper).
- VIII.7 Faith and Secularization: A Romanian Narrative: Christian Philosophical Studies, VII. Wilhelm Dancă, ed. ISBN 9781565182929 (paper).
- VIII.8 Towards a Kenotic Vision of Authority in the Catholic Church: Christian Philosophical Studies, VIII. Anthony J. Carroll, Marthe Kerkwijk, Michael Kirwan and James Sweeney, eds. ISBN 9781565182936 (paper).
- VIII.9 The Spirit: The Cry of the World: Christian Philosophical Studies, IX. Waclaw Hryniewicz. ISBN 9781565182943 (paper).
- VIII.10 A Czech Perspective on Faith in a Secular Age: Christian Philosophical Studies, X. Tomáš Halík and Pavel Hošek, eds. ISBN 9781565183001 (paper).
- VIII.11 A Catholic Minority Church in a World of Seekers: Christian Philosophical Studies, XI. Staf Hellemans and Peter Jonkers, eds. ISBN 9781 565183018 (paper).
- VIII.12 Dilemmas of the Catholic Church in Poland: Christian Philosophical Studies, XII. Tadeusz Buksinski, ed. ISBN 9781565183025 (paper).
- VIII.13 Secularization and Development of Religion in Modern Society: Christian Philosophical Studies, XIII. Leon Dyczewski, ed. ISBN 9781 565183032 (paper).
- VIII.14 Plural Spiritualities: North American Experience: Christian Philosopical Studies, XIV. Robert J. Schreiter, ed. ISBN 9781565183056 (paper).
- VIII.15 Seekers or Dwellers: The Social Character of Religion in Hungary: Christian Philosophical Studies, XV. Zsuzsanna Bögre, ed. ISBN 9781 565183063 (paper).

- VIII.16 French Catholics and Their Church: Pluralism and Deregulation: Christian Philosophical Studies, XVI. Nicolas de Bremond d'Ars and Yann Raison du Cleuziou, eds. ISBN 9781565183087 (paper).
- VIII.17 Chinese Spirituality and Christian Communities: A Kenotic Perspective: Christian Philosophical Studies, XVII. Vincent Shen, ed. ISBN 9781 565183070 (paper).
- VIII.18 Care of Self and Meaning of Life: Asian and Christian Reflections: Christian Philosophical Studies, XVIII. William Sweet and Cristal Huang, ed. ISBN 9781565183131 (paper).
- VIII.19 Religion and Culture in the Process of Global Change: Portuguese Perspectives: Christian Philosophical Studies, XIX. José Tolentino Mendonça, Alfredo Teixeira and Alexandre Palma, eds. ISBN 978156518 3148 (paper).
- VIII.20 Seekers and Dwellers: Plurality and Wholeness in a Time of Secularity: Christian Philosophical Studies, XX. Philip J. Rossi, ed. ISBN 9781 565183155, (paper).
- VIII.21 Renewing the Church in a Secular Age: Holistic Dialogue and Kenotic Vision: Christian Philosophical Studies, XXI. Charles Taylor, José Casanova, George F. McLean and João J. Vila-Chã, eds. ISBN 9781 565183179 (paper).
- VIII.22 Narrating Secularisms: Being Between Identities in a Secularized World: Christian Philosophical Studies, XXII. William Desmond and Dennis Vanden Auweele, eds. ISBN 9781565183223 (paper).
- VIII.23 Envisioning Futures for the Catholic Church: Christian Philosophical Studies, XXIII. Staf Hellemans and Peter Jonkers, eds. ISBN 9781 565183353 (paper).

The International Society for Metaphysics

- ISM.1 *Person and Nature*. George F. McLean and Hugo Meynell, eds. ISBN 0819170267 (paper); 0819170259 (cloth).
- ISM.2 *Person and Society*. George F. McLean and Hugo Meynell, eds. ISBN 0819169250 (paper); 0819169242 (cloth).
- ISM.3 *Person and God*. George F. McLean and Hugo Meynell, eds. ISBN 0819169382 (paper); 0819169374 (cloth).
- ISM.4 *The Nature of Metaphysical Knowledge*. George F. McLean and Hugo Meynell, eds. ISBN 0819169277 (paper); 0819169269 (cloth).
- ISM.5 *Philosophical Challenges and Opportunities of Globalization*. Oliva Blanchette, Tomonobu Imamichi and George F. McLean, eds. ISBN 1565181298 (paper).
- ISM.6 *The Dialogue of Cultural Traditions: Global Perspective*. William Sweet, George F. McLean, Tomonobu Imamichi, Safak Ural, O. Faruk Akyol, eds. ISBN 9781565182585 (paper).

ISM.7 *Philosophy Emerging from Culture*. William Sweet, George F. McLean, Oliva Blanchette, Wonbin Park, eds. ISBN 9781565182851 (paper).

The series is published by: The Council for Research in Values and Philosophy, Gibbons Hall B20, 620 Michigan Avenue, NE, Washington, D.C. 20064; Telephone: 202/319-6089; Email: cua-rvp@cua.edu; website: www.crvp.org. All titles are available in paper except as noted.

The series is distributed by: The Council for Research on Values and Philosophy – OST, 285 Oblate Drive, San Antonio, T.X., 78216; Telephone: (210)341-1366 x205; Email: mmartin@ost.edu.